
Channing Park  
Community Development District 

Board of Supervisors’ 
Regular Meeting 
January 15, 2026 

District Office: 
2700 S. Falkenburg Road, Suite 2745 

Riverview, Florida 33578 
813.533.2950 

www.channingparkcdd.org 



CHANNING PARK 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AGENDA 

Channing Park Recreation Center located at 
17358 Chelsea Downs Circle Lithia, FL 33547 

Board of Supervisors 

District Manager 

District Attorney 
District Engineer 

Michael Basso 
Steven Kelly 

Gary Randolph Sr. 
Brent Scoggins 
Matt Beckley

Sam Stevens

Lauren Gentry 
Victor Barbosa 

Chairman 
Vice Chairman 

Asst. Secretary 
Asst. Secretary 
Asst. Secretary 

Rizzetta & Company, Inc. 

Kilinski /Van Wyk 
Atwell, LLC 

All cellular phones must be placed on mute while in the meeting room. 

The Audience Comment portion of the agenda is where individuals may make 
comments on matters that concern the District. Individuals are limited to a total of three 
(3) minutes to make comments during this time.

Pursuant to provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring 
special accommodations to participate in this meeting/hearing/workshop is asked to 
advise the District Office at least forty-eight (48) hours before the meeting / hearing / 
workshop by contacting the District Manager at (813)533-2950. If you are hearing or 
speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service by dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800- 
955-8771 (TTY) 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), who can aid you in contacting the District
Office.

A person who decides to appeal any decision made at the meeting/hearing/workshop 
with respect to any matter considered at the meeting/hearing/workshop is advised that 
person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need 
to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made including the testimony and 
evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 



CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
DISTRICT OFFICE • 2700 S. FALKENBURG RD, STE 2745. • RIVERVIEW, FL 33578 

www.channingparkcdd.org 

Board of Supervisors  January 9, 2026 
Channing Park Community 
Development District  

REVISED AGENDA 

The Audit Committee Meeting will convene on Thursday, January 15, 2026, at 
4:15 p.m. followed by the regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Channing 
Park Community Development District at 4:30 p.m. at the Channing Park Recreation 
Center Located at 17358 Chelsea Downs Circle, Lithia, FL 33547. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 
1. CALL TO ORDER
2. BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

A.      Selection of Audit Proposal ..................................................... Tab 1 
3. ADJOURNMENT

REGULAR MEETING 
1. CALL TO ORDER
2. AUDIENCE COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS
3. BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

A. Consideration of the Minutes of the
Board of Supervisors’ Meeting held on August 21,2025 ......... Tab 2 

B. Consideration of Operations & Maintenance
Expenditures for August , September,
October and November 2025 ................................................   Tab 3 

4. STAFF REPORTS
A.   District Counsel ....................................................................... Tab 4 
B. District Engineer
C. District Manager

i.  Consideration of Quarterly Website Report ......................... Tab 5 
5. BUSINESS ITEMS

A. Consideration of District Management Contract Addendum .... Tab 6 
B. Consideration of Resolution 2026-01; Setting Public

Hearing on Amended Rules of Procedure ............................... Tab 7 
C. Consideration of Resolution 2026-02; Redesignating an

Assistant Secretary ................................................................. Tab 8 
6. SUPERVISOR REQUESTS
7. ADJOURNMENT

We look forward to seeing you at the meeting.  In the meantime, if you have any 
questions, please do not hesitate to call us at (813) 533-2950. 

 Sincerely, 
Sam Stevens 

Sam Stevens 

District Manager



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tab 1 



Channing Park Community Development District
Audit Proposal Review Committee Evaluation Spread Sheet

Audit Companies 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Grand 

Total

Ability of 

Personnel

(20 Points)

Proposer's 

Experience

(20 Points)

Understandi

ng Scope

of Work (20 

Points)

Ability to 

Furnish the 

Required 

Services 

(20 Points)

Price

(20 Points) Total Points

Grau & Associates $3,000 $3,100 $3,200 $3,300 $3,400 $16,000 

Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank $3,300 $3,300 $3,400 $3,475 $3,475 $16,950 

DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A. $3,150 $3,300 $3,450 $3,600 $3,750 $17,250 

McIntosh CPA $4,000 $4,000 $4,000 $4,100 $4,200 $20,300 

Committee Member's Name:



    

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
  
 
 

Proposal to Provide 
Financial Auditing 

Services: 
 

CHANNING PARK 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

Proposal Due: January 9, 2026 
12:00PM 
 
Submitted to: 
Channing Park 
Community Development District 
c/o District Manager  
3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200 
Tampa, FL 33614 
                                                      
Submitted by: 
Antonio J. Grau, Partner 
Grau & Associates 
1001 Yamato Road, Suite 301 
Boca Raton, Florida 33431 
Tel  (561) 994-9299 
Fax  (561) 994-5823 
tgrau@graucpa.com  
www.graucpa.com 
 

mailto:tgrau@graucpa.com
http://www.graucpa.com/


 

    

   
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Table of Contents                                                                         Page 

  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY / TRANSMITTAL LETTER .................................................................................. 1 

FIRM QUALIFICATIONS..........................................................................................................................................3 

FIRM & STAFF EXPERIENCE ............................................................................................................................. 6 

REFERENCES……………….. ................................................................................................................................ 11 

SPECIFIC AUDIT APPROACH.......................................................................................................................... 13 

COST OF SERVICES ............................................................................................................................................ 17 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ................................................................................................................. 19 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
January 9, 2026 
 

Channing Park Community Development District 
c/o District Manager  
3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200 
Tampa, FL 33614 
  
Re: Request for Proposal for Professional Auditing Services for the fiscal year ended September 30, 

2025, with an option for four (4) additional optional annual renewals. 
 

 Grau & Associates (Grau) welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Channing Park Community 
Development District’s (the “District”) Request for Proposal (RFP), and we look forward to working with 
you on your audit. We are an energetic and robust team of knowledgeable professionals and are a 
recognized leader of providing services to Community Development Districts. As one of Florida’s few firms 
to primarily focus on government, we are especially equipped to provide you an effective and efficient audit.  

 
 Government audits are at the core of our practice: 95% of our work is performing audits for local 

governments and of that 98% are for special districts. With our significant experience, we are able to 
increase efficiency, to provide immediate and continued savings, and to minimize disturbances to your 
operations. 

 
 Why Grau & Associates: 
 

Knowledgeable Audit Team  
Grau is proud that the personnel we assign to your audit are some of the most seasoned auditors in the 
field. Our staff performs governmental engagements year-round. When not working on your audit, your 
team is refining their audit approach for next year’s audit. Our engagement partners have decades of 
experience and take a hands-on approach to our assignments, which all ensures a smoother process for 
you.  
 
Servicing your Individual Needs 
Our clients enjoy personalized service designed to satisfy their unique needs and requirements. 
Throughout the process of our audit, you will find that we welcome working with you to resolve any issues 
as swiftly and easily as possible. In addition, due to Grau’s very low turnover rate for our industry, you 
also won’t have to worry about retraining your auditors from year to year. 
 
Developing Relationships 
We strive to foster mutually beneficial relationships with our clients. We stay in touch year-round, 
updating, collaborating and assisting you in implementing new legislation, rules and standards that affect 
your organization. We are also available as a sounding board and assist with technical questions.  
 
Maintaining an Impeccable Reputation 
We have never been involved in any litigation, proceeding or received any disciplinary action. 
Additionally, we have never been charged with, or convicted of, a public entity crime of any sort. We are 
financially stable and have never been involved in any bankruptcy proceedings. 
 
 
 
 



 

2 

Complying With Standards 
Our audit will follow the Auditing Standards of the AICPA, Generally Accepted Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the Rules of the Auditor General of 
the State of Florida, and any other applicable federal, state and local regulations. We will deliver our 
reports in accordance with your requirements.  

 
 This proposal is a firm and irrevocable offer for 90 days. We certify this proposal is made without previous 

understanding, agreement or connection either with any previous firms or corporations offering a proposal 
for the same items. We also certify our proposal is in all respects fair, without outside control, collusion, 
fraud, or otherwise illegal action, and was prepared in good faith. Only the person(s), company or parties 
interested in the project as principals are named in the proposal. Grau has no existing or potential conflicts 
and anticipates no conflicts during the engagement. Our Federal I.D. number is 20-2067322. 

 
 We would be happy to answer any questions or to provide any additional information. We are genuinely 

excited about the prospect of serving you and establishing a long-term relationship. Please do not hesitate 
to call or email either of our Partners, Antonio J. Grau, CPA (tgrau@graucpa.com) or David Caplivski, CPA 
(dcaplivski@graucpa.com) at 561.994.9299. We thank you for considering our firm’s qualifications and 
experience. 

 
Very truly yours, 
Grau & Associates 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Antonio J. Grau

mailto:tgrau@graucpa.com
mailto:dcaplivski@graucpa.com


 

3 

 

 

 

 
 

Firm Qualifications 
 
 



 

 
4 

Grau’s Focus and Experience 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Properly registered and  
licensed professional 
corporation by the state of 
FLORIDA 

Year founded 

Our Team 

3 
Partners 

12 
Professional  

Staff 

2 
Administrative 
Professionals 

 

⇒ External quality review 
program: consistently 
receives a pass 

⇒ Internal: ongoing 
monitoring to maintain 
quality 

9 
Professional 

Groups 

AICPA | FICPA | GFOA | FASD | FGFOA 
 

We are proud Members of 
the American Institute of 

Certified Public 
Accountants 

& 
the Florida Institute of 

Certified Public 
Accountants 

 

10/17 
Employees are 

CPAS 

Services Provided 

See next page for 
report and certificate 



 

 
5 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
6 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Firm & Staff Experience 

 



 

 
7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PFM
12

GMS
78

MERITUS
23RIZZETTA

47
SDS
60

INFRAMARK
38

WRATHELL
30

OTHER
19

GRAU AND ASSOCIATES COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT EXPERIENCE 

BY MANAGEMENT COMPANY

David Caplivski, CPA 
(Partner) 
Years Performing 
Audits: 13+ 
CPE (last 2 years): 
Government 
Accounting, Auditing: 
24 hours; Accounting, 
Auditing and Other:  
64 hours 
Professional 
Memberships: AICPA, 
FICPA, FGFOA, FASD 
 

Antonio J GRAU, CPA  
(Partner) 
Years Performing  
Audits: 35+ 
CPE (last 2 years):  
Government  
Accounting, Auditing:  
24 hours; Accounting,  
Auditing and Other:  
56 hours 
Professional  
Memberships: AICPA,  
FICPA, FGFOA, GFOA 
 

“Here at Grau  & Associates, staying up to date with the 
current technological landscape is one of our top 
priorities. Not only does it provide a more positive 
experience for our clients, but it also allows us to perform 
a more effective and efficient audit.  With every changing 
technology available and utilized by our clients, we are 
constantly innovating our audit process.” 

- Tony Grau 

“Quality audits and exceptional client service are at the 
heart of every decision we make. Our clients trust us to 
deliver a quality audit, adhering to high standards and 

assisting them with improvements for their 
organization.” 

- David Caplivski 

Profile Briefs: 



 

 
8 

YOUR ENGAGEMENT TEAM 
 

Grau’s client-specific engagement team is meticulously organized in order to meet the unique 
needs of each client.  Constant communication within our solution team allows for continuity of 
staff and audit team. The Certified Information Technology Professional (CITP) Partner will bring 
a unique blend of IT expertise and understanding of accounting principles to the financial 
statement audit of the District. 
 
 

The Engagement Partner will 
participate extensively during 
the various stages of the 
engagement and has direct 
responsibility for engagement 
policy, direction, supervision, 
quality control, security, 
confidentiality of information 
of the engagement and 
communication with client 
personnel. The engagement 
partner will also be involved 
directing the development of 
the overall audit approach 
and plan; performing an 
overriding review of work 
papers and ascertain client 
satisfaction. 

The assigned personnel will 
work closely with the partner 
and the District to ensure that 
the financial statements and all 
other reports are prepared in 
accordance with professional 
standards and firm policy. 
Responsibilities will include 
planning the audit; 
communicating with the client 
and the partners the progress 
of the audit; and 
determining that financial 
statements and all reports 
issued by the firm are accurate, 
complete and are prepared in 
accordance with professional 
standards and firm policy. 
 

Your 
Successful 

Audit

Engagement 
Partner

Audit 
Manager

Audit Senior

CITP Partner



 

 
9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Clients Served (partial list) 

 
Professional Associations/Memberships 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants    Florida Government Finance Officers Association 
Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants      Government Finance Officers Association Member 
City of Boca Raton Financial Advisory Board Member 

 
Professional Education (over the last two years) 

 Course     Hours 
 Government Accounting and Auditing     24 
 Accounting, Auditing and Other      56  
          Total Hours     80 (includes of 4 hours of Ethics CPE) 

 
 

(>300) Various Special Districts, including:  
 

 Bayside Improvement Community Development District 
 Dunes Community Development District 
 Fishhawk Community Development District (I,II,IV) 
 Grand Bay at Doral Community Development District 
 Heritage Harbor North Community Development District 
 

St. Lucie West Services District  
Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
Rivers Edge II Community Development District 
Bartram Park Community Development District 
Bay Laurel Center Community Development District 

 Boca Raton Airport Authority 
 Greater Naples Fire Rescue District 
 Key Largo Wastewater Treatment District 
 Lake Worth Drainage District 
 South Indian River Water Control 

 

Antonio ‘Tony ‘ J. Grau, CPA 
Partner 

Contact: tgrau@graucpa.com | (561) 939-6672 
Experience 
For over 30 years, Tony has been providing audit, accounting 
and consulting services to the firm’s governmental, non-profit, 
employee benefit, overhead and arbitrage clients. He provides 
guidance to clients regarding complex accounting issues, 
internal controls and operations.  
As a member of the Government Finance Officers Association 
Special Review Committee, Tony participated in the review 
process for awarding the GFOA Certificate of Achievement in 
Financial Reporting. Tony was also the review team leader for 
the Quality Review of the Office of Management Audits of 
School Board of Miami-Dade County. Tony received the AICPA 
advanced level certificate for governmental single audits.  
 
Education 

University of South Florida (1983) 
 Bachelor of Arts 
 Business Administration 

 

mailto:tgrau@graucpa.com


 

 
10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Certifications and Certificates 
Certified Public Accountant (2011) 
AICPA Certified Information Technology Professional (2018) 
AICPA Accreditation COSO Internal Control Certificate (2022) 
 
Clients Served (partial list) 
(>300) Various Special Districts Hispanic Human Resource Council 
Aid to Victims of Domestic Abuse Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District 
Boca Raton Airport Authority Old Plantation Water Control District 
Broward Education Foundation Pinetree Water Control District 
CareerSource Brevard San Carlos Park Fire & Rescue Retirement Plan 
CareerSource Central Florida 403 (b) Plan South Indian River Water Control District 
City of Lauderhill GERS South Trail Fire Protection & Rescue District 
City of Parkland Police Pension Fund Town of Haverhill 
City of Sunrise GERS Town of Hypoluxo 
Coquina Water Control District Town of Hillsboro Beach 
Central County Water Control District Town of Lantana 
City of Miami (program specific audits) Town of Lauderdale By-The–Sea Volunteer Fire Pension 
City of West Park Town of Pembroke Park 
Coquina Water Control District Village of Wellington 
East Central Regional Wastewater Treatment Facl. Village of Golf 
East Naples Fire Control & Rescue District  

 
Professional Education (over the last two years) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Professional Associations 

Member, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
Member, Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
Member, Florida Government Finance Officers Association 
Member, Florida Association of Special Districts 

 
 

Course Hours 
Government Accounting and Auditing 24 
Accounting, Auditing and Other  64 

Total Hours  88 (includes 4 hours of Ethics CPE) 

David Caplivski, CPA/CITP, Partner 
Contact : dcaplivski@graucpa.com / 561-939-6676 

 Experience 
Grau & Associates Partner 2021-Present 
Grau & Associates Manager 2014-2020 
Grau & Associates Senior Auditor 2013-2014 
Grau & Associates Staff Auditor 2010-2013 

 
 Education 

Florida Atlantic University (2009) 
Master of Accounting 
Nova Southeastern University (2002) 
Bachelor of Science 
Environmental Studies 

mailto:dcaplivski@graucpa.com


 

11 

 
 

 

 

 

 
References 

 
 



 

 
12 

We have included three references of government engagements that require compliance with laws 
and regulations, follow fund accounting, and have financing requirements, which we believe are 
similar to the District. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Dunes Community Development District  
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 1998 
Client Contact Darrin Mossing, Finance Director 

475 W. Town Place, Suite 114 
St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
904-940-5850 

Two Creeks Community Development District 
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 2007 
Client Contact William Rizzetta, President 

3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200 
Tampa, Florida 33614 
813-933-5571 

Journey’s End Community Development District 
Scope of Work Financial audit 
Engagement Partner Antonio J. Grau 
Dates Annually since 2004 
Client Contact Todd Wodraska, Vice President 

2501 A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
561-630-4922 



 

13 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Specific Audit  
Approach 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 
14 

AUDIT APPROACH 
 
Grau’s Understanding of Work Product / Scope of Services: 
We recognize the District is an important entity and we are confident our firm is eminently qualified 
to meet the challenges of this engagement and deliver quality audit services. You would be a valued 
client of our firm and we pledge to commit  all  firm resources to provide the level and quality of 
services (as described below) which not only meet the requirements set forth in the RFP but will 
exceed those expectations. Grau & Associates fully understands the scope of professional services and 
work products requested. Our audit will follow the Auditing Standards of the AICPA, Generally 
Accepted Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and 
the Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida and any other applicable Federal, State of Local 
regulations. We will deliver our reports in accordance with your requirements.  

 
Proposed segmentation of the engagement 
Our approach to the audit engagement is a risk-based approach which integrates the best of traditional 
auditing techniques and a total systems concept to enable the team to conduct a more efficient and 
effective audit. The audit will be conducted in three phases, which are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Phase I - Preliminary Planning 
 
A thorough understanding of your organization, service objectives and operating environment is 
essential for the development of an audit plan and for an efficient, cost-effective audit.  During this 
phase, we will meet with appropriate personnel to obtain and document our understanding of your 
operations and service objectives and, at the same time, give you the opportunity to express your 
expectations with respect to the services that we will provide.  Our work effort will be coordinated so 
that there will be minimal disruption to your staff.  

 
During this phase we will perform the following activities:  

» Review the regulatory, statutory and compliance requirements. This will include a review of 
applicable federal and state statutes, resolutions, bond documents, contracts, and other 
agreements; 

» Read minutes of meetings; 
» Review major sources of information such as budgets, organization charts, procedures, 

manuals, financial systems, and management information systems; 
» Obtain an understanding of fraud detection and prevention systems; 
» Obtain and document an understanding of internal control, including knowledge about the 

design of relevant policies, procedures, and records, and whether they have been placed in 
operation;   

» Assess risk and determine what controls we are to rely upon and what tests we are going to 
perform and perform test of controls; 

» Develop audit programs to incorporate the consideration of financial statement assertions, 
specific audit objectives, and appropriate audit procedures to achieve the specified objectives; 

» Discuss and resolve any accounting, auditing and reporting matters which have been 
identified. 

  

PHASE III: 
Completion and 

Delivery 

PHASE II: 
Execution of the 

Audit Plan 

PHASE I: 
Preliminary 

Planning 



 

 
15 

Phase II – Execution of Audit Plan 
 

The audit team will complete a major portion of transaction testing and audit requirements during this 
phase.  The procedures performed during this period will enable us to identify any matter that may 
impact the completion of our work or require the attention of management.  Tasks to be performed in 
Phase II include, but are not limited to the following: 

» Apply analytical procedures to further assist in the determination of the nature, timing, and 
extent of auditing procedures used to obtain evidential matter for specific account balances or 
classes of transactions; 

» Perform tests of account balances and transactions through sampling, vouching, confirmation 
and other analytical procedures; and 

» Perform tests of compliance. 
 
Phase III - Completion and Delivery 

 
In this phase of the audit, we will complete the tasks related to year-end balances and financial 
reporting. All reports will be reviewed with management before issuance, and the partners will be 
available to meet and discuss our report and address any questions. Tasks to be performed in Phase 
III include, but are not limited to the following: 

 
» Perform final analytical procedures; 
» Review information and make inquiries for subsequent events; and 
» Meeting with Management to discuss preparation of draft financial statements and any 

potential findings or recommendations. 
 

You should expect more from your accounting firm than a signature in your annual financial report. 
Our concept of truly responsive professional service emphasizes taking an active interest in the issues 
of concern to our clients and serving as an effective resource in dealing with those issues. In following 
this approach, we not only audit financial information with hindsight but also consider the foresight 
you apply in managing operations. 
 
Application of this approach in developing our management letter is particularly important given the 
increasing financial pressures and public scrutiny facing today’s public officials.  We will prepare the 
management letter at the completion of our final procedures. 

 
In preparing this management letter, we will initially review any draft comments or recommendations 
with management. In addition, we will take necessary steps to ensure that matters are communicated 
to those charged with governance. 
 
In addition to communicating any recommendations, we will also communicate the following, if any: 
 

» Significant audit adjustments; 
» Significant deficiencies or material weaknesses; 
» Disagreements with management; and 
» Difficulties encountered in performing the audit. 

  



 

 
16 

Our findings will contain a statement of condition describing the situation and the area that needs 
strengthening, what should be corrected and why. Our suggestions will withstand the basic tests of 
corrective action: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To assure full agreement with facts and circumstances, we will fully discuss each item with 
Management prior to the final exit conference. This policy means there will be no “surprises” in the 
management letter and fosters a professional, cooperative atmosphere. 
 
Communications 
We emphasize a continuous, year-round dialogue between the District and our management team. We 
regularly communicate through personal telephone calls and electronic mail throughout the audit and 
on a regular basis.  
 
Our clients have the ability to transmit information to us on our secure client portal with the ability to 
assign different staff with separate log on and viewing capability.  This further facilitates efficiency as 
all assigned users receive electronic mail notification as soon as new information has been posted into 
the portal.    
 
 

Is the recommendation cost effective? 
 
Is the recommendation the simplest to effectuate in 
order to correct a problem? 
 
Is the recommendation at the heart of the problem 
and not just correcting a symptomatic matter? 
 
Is the corrective action taking into account why the 
deficiency occurred? 



 

17 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Cost of Services 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
18 

Our proposed all-inclusive fees for the financial audit for the fiscal years ended September 30, 
2025-2029 are as follows: 
 

Year Ended September 30,  Fee 

2025  $3,000 

2026  $3,100 

2027  $3,200 

2028  $3,300 

2029  $3,400 

TOTAL (2025-2029)  $16,000 
 
The above fees are based on the assumption that the District maintains its current level of 
operations. Should conditions change or Bonds are issued the fees would be adjusted accordingly 
upon approval from all parties concerned. If Bonds are issued the fee would increase by $1,500. 
The fee for subsequent annual renewals would be agreed upon separately. 

 



 

19 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 Supplemental Information 
 
 

 



 

 
20 

PARTIAL LIST OF CLIENTS 
 

 

  
 

G
o

ve
rn

m
e

n
ta

l 
A

u
d

it
 

S
in

g
le

 A
u

d
it

 

U
ti

li
ty

 A
u

d
it

 

C
u

rr
en

t 
C

li
en

t 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

 

Boca Raton Airport Authority      9/30 
Captain's Key Dependent District       9/30 
Central Broward Water Control District       9/30 
Collier Mosquito Control District     9/30 
Coquina Water Control District       9/30 
East Central Regional Wastewater Treatment Facility       9/30 
Florida Green Finance Authority        9/30 
Greater Boca Raton Beach and Park District       9/30 
Greater Naples Fire Control and Rescue District      9/30 
Green Corridor P.A.C.E. District       9/30 
Hobe-St. Lucie Conservancy District         9/30 
Indian River Farms Water Control District       9/30 
Indian River Mosquito Control District        9/30 
Indian Trail Improvement District       9/30 
Key Largo Wastewater Treatment District     9/30 
Lake Asbury Municipal Service Benefit District       9/30 
Lake Padgett Estates Independent District       9/30 
Lake Worth Drainage District        9/30 
Lealman Special Fire Control District     9/30 
Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District        9/30 
Old Plantation Water Control District       9/30 
Pal Mar Water Control District       9/30 
Pinellas Park Water Management District       9/30 
Pine Tree Water Control District (Broward)       9/30 
Pinetree Water Control District (Wellington)        9/30 
Port of The Islands Community Improvement District      9/30 
Ranger Drainage District      9/30 
Renaissance Improvement District       9/30 
San Carlos Park Fire Protection and Rescue Service District       9/30 
Sanibel Fire and Rescue District       9/30 
South Central Regional Wastewater Treatment and Disposal Board        9/30 
South Indian River Water Control District      9/30 
South Trail Fire Protection & Rescue District       9/30 
Spring Lake Improvement District       9/30 
St. Lucie West Services District      9/30 
Sunrise Lakes Phase IV Recreation District       9/30 
Sunshine Water Control District       9/30 
Sunny Hills Units 12-15 Dependent District       9/30 
West Villages Improvement District       9/30 
Various Community Development Districts (452)       9/30 

TOTAL 491 5 4 484   

  



 

 
21 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 

CONSULTING / MANAGEMENT ADVISORY SERVICES 
 
Grau & Associates also provide a broad range of other management consulting services.  Our 
expertise has been consistently utilized by Governmental and Non-Profit entities throughout 
Florida.  Examples of engagements performed are as follows: 
 
• Accounting systems 
• Development of budgets 
• Organizational structures 
• Financing alternatives 
• IT Auditing 
 

• Fixed asset records 
• Cost reimbursement  
• Indirect cost allocation 
• Grant administration and compliance 
 

 
ARBITRAGE 

 
The federal government has imposed complex rules to restrict the use 
of tax-exempt financing. Their principal purpose is to eliminate any 
significant arbitrage incentives in a tax-exempt issue. We have 
determined the applicability of these requirements and performed the 
rebate calculations for more than 150 bond issues, including both 
fixed and variable rate bonds.  
 

We look forward to providing Channing Park Community Development 
District with our resources and experience to accomplish not only those 
minimum requirements set forth in your Request for Proposal, but to exceed 
those expectations! 

 
 

For even more information on Grau & Associates  
please visit us on www.graucpa.com. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Current 
Arbitrage 
Calculations 

73 

http://www.graucpa.com/


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Channing Park Community 
 Development District 

 
 
 

 Proposer 
 

DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A. 
Certified Public Accountants 

 
2222 Colonial Road, Suite 200 

Fort Pierce, Florida 34950 
(772) 461-8833 

 
591 SE Port St. Lucie Boulevard 
Port Saint Lucie, Florida 34984 

(772) 878-1952 
 

Contact: 
 

Jim Hartley, CPA 
Principal 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
  

     
Letter of Transmittal 

 
Professional Qualifications 

 
 Professional Staff Resources ................................................................................................. 1-2 
 Current and Near Future Workload .......................................................................................    2 
 Identification of Audit Team .................................................................................................... 2 
 Resumes ................................................................................................................................. 3-5 
 Governmental Audit Experience .............................................................................................. 6 

     
 

Additional Data 
 

 Procedures for Ensuring Quality Control & Confidentiality ................................................... 7 
 Independence ......................................................................................................................... 7-8 
 Computer Auditing Capabilities ..............................................................................................  8 
 Contracts of Similar Nature .....................................................................................................  9 

 
Technical Approach 
 
 Agreement to Meet or Exceed the Performance Specifications ...........................................   10 
 Tentative Audit Schedule ....................................................................................................    11 
 Description of Audit Approach ......................................................................................    12-15 
 Proposed  Audit Fee .............................................................................................................    16 

 
   

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 



  

DMHB 
DIBARTOLOMEO, MCBEE, HARTLEY & BARNES, P.A. 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 
 

Channing Park 
Community Development District 
Audit Selection Committee  
 
Dear Committee Members: 
 
We are pleased to have this opportunity to present the qualifications of DiBartolomeo, 
McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A. (DMHB) to serve as Channing Park Community 
Development District’s independent auditors.  The audit is a significant engagement 
demanding various professional resources, governmental knowledge and expertise, and, 
most importantly, experience serving Florida local governments.  DMHB understands 
the services required and is committed to performing these services within the required 
time frame.  We have the staff available to complete this engagement in a timely 
fashion.  We audit several entities across the State making it feasible to schedule and 
provide services at the required locations. 
 

Proven Track Record— Our clients know our people and the quality of our work.  
We have always been responsive, met deadlines, and been willing to go the extra 
mile with the objective of providing significant value to mitigate the cost of the audit. 
This proven track record of successfully working together to serve governmental 
clients will enhance the quality of services we provide. 
 

Experience—DMHB has a history of providing quality professional services to an 
impressive list of public sector clients in Florida.  We currently serve a large number 
of public sector entities in Florida, including cities, villages, special districts, as well 
as a large number of community development districts.  Our firm has performed in 
excess of 100 community development district audits.  In addition, our senior 
management team members have between 25 and 35 years experience in serving 
Florida governments.  DMHB is a recognized leader in providing services to 
governmental and non-profit agencies within the State of Florida.  Through our 
experience in performing audits, we have been able to increase our audit efficiency 
and therefore reduce cost.  We have continually passed this cost saving on to our 
clients and will continue to do so in the future.  As a result of our experience and 
expertise, we have developed an effective and efficient audit approach designed to 
meet or exceed the performance specifications in accordance with audit standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States with minimal disruption to your operations.  
Our firm has frequent technical updates to keep our personnel informed and up to 
date on all changes that are occurring within the industry. 

 
2222 Colonial Road, Suite 200 Fort Pierce, Florida 34950772-461-8833  Fax: 772-461-8872 
591 S.E. Port St. Lucie Blvd., Port St. Lucie, Florida 34984772-878-1952Fax: 772-878-1709 

 

Member AICPA                              Member AICPA Division for CPA Firms                               Member AICPA 
Private Company Practice Section 



 
 
 
 
 

 

      

WWW.DMHBCPA.NET 

 
Timeliness – In order to meet the Districts needs, we will perform interim internal 
control testing by January 31st from unaudited preliminary general ledgers provided.  
The remaining testing will be completed no later than May 1st.  We will also review all 
minutes and subsequent needs related to the review of the minutes by January 31st.  
Follow up review will be completed as necessary. 
 
Communication and Knowledge Sharing— Another driving force behind our 
service approach is frequent, candid and open communication with management with no 
surprises.  During the course of the audit, we will communicate with management on a 
regular basis to provide you with a status report on the audit and to discuss any issues 
that arise, potential management letter comments, or potential audit differences.   

 
In the accompanying proposal, you will find additional information upon which you 
can evaluate DMHB’s qualifications. Our full team is in place and waiting to serve 
you.  Please contact us at 2222 Colonial Road, Suite 200 Fort Pierce, FL 34950. Our 
phone number is (772) 461-8833. We look forward to further discussion on how our 
team can work together with you. 
 
 

 Very truly yours, 
 
                                                               
  
 DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A.   
                  
                  
                

 
  



1 
  

 

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS  
 

DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A. is a local public accounting firm with offices in the cities of 
Fort Pierce and Port St. Lucie.  The firm was formed in 1982.   
 
 

 Professional Staff Resources 
 

Our services will be delivered through personnel in both our Port St. Lucie and Ft. Pierce offices, 
located at 591 S.E. Port St. Lucie Blvd., Port St. Lucie, FL 34984 and 2222 Colonial Road, Suite 
200, Fort Pierce, Florida 34950, respectively.  DMHB has a total of 19 professional staff including 9 
with extensive experience serving governmental entities. 
 

Professional Staff Number of  
Classification Professionals 

Partner 4 
Managers 2 
Senior 2 
Staff 11 
  19 

 
 
 

DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes provides a variety of accounting, auditing, tax litigation 
support, estate planning, and consulting services.  Some of the governmental, non-profit accounting, 
auditing and advisory services currently provided to clients include: 
 
 Annual financial and compliance audits including Single Audits of State and Federal 

financial assistance programs under the OMB A-133 audit criteria 
 
 Issuance of Comfort Letters, consent letters, and parity certificates in conjunction with 

the issuance of tax-exempt debt obligations, including compiling financial data and 
interim period financial statement reviews 

 
 Assisting in compiling historical financial data for first-time and subsequent submissions 

for the GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 
 



2 

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

 Professional Staff Resources (Continued) 
 
 Audits of franchise fees received from outside franchisees 

 
 Preparation of annual reports to the State Department of Banking and Finance 

 
 Audits of Internal Controls – Governmental Special Project 

 
 Assistance with Implementation of current GASB pronouncements  

 

 
 Current and Near Future Workload 

 
In order to better serve and provide timely and informative financial data, we have comprised an 
experienced audit team.  Our present and future workloads will permit the proposed audit team to 
perform these audits within the time schedule required and meet all deadlines.   
 

 Identification of Audit Team 
 

The team is composed of people who are experienced, professional, and creative.  They fully 
understand your business and will provide you with reliable opinions.  In addition, they will make a 
point to maintain ongoing dialogue with each other and management about the status of our services. 
 
The auditing firm you select is only as good as the people who serve you.  We are extremely proud 
of the outstanding team we have assembled for your engagement.  Our team brings many years of 
relevant experience coupled with the technical skill, knowledge, authority, dedication, and most of 
all, the commitment you need to meet your government reporting obligations and the challenges that 
will result from the changing accounting standards. 
 
A flow chart of the audit team and brief resumes detailing individual team members’ 
experience in each of the relevant areas follow. 
 

Jim Hartley, CPA – Engagement Partner (resume attached) 
Will assist in the field as main contact 
 
Jay McBee, CPA – Technical Reviewer (resume attached) 
 
Christine Kenny, CPA – Senior (resume attached) 
 



  

Jim Hartley 
Partner – DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes 

 
Experience and Training 
 
Jim has over 35 years of public accounting experience and would serve as the engagement partner. His 
experience and training include: 
 
• 35 years of non-profit and governmental experience. 
• Specializing in serving entities ranging from Government to Associations and Special District audits. 
• Has performed audits and advisory services for a variety of public sector entities. 
• Has extensive experience performing audits of federal grant recipients in accordance with the Single 

Audit Act and the related Office of Management and Budget (OMB) guidelines.  
•  Experienced in maintaining the GFOA Certificate of Achievement. 
• 120 hours of CPE credits over the past 3 years.   
 

Recent Engagements 
 
Has provided audit services on governmental entities including towns, villages, cities, counties, special 
districts and community development districts.  Jim has assisted with financial statement preparation, system 
implementation, and a variety of services to a wide range of non-profit and governmental entities.  Jim 
currently provides internal audit and consulting services to governmental entities and non-profit agencies to 
assist in implementing and maintaining “best practice” accounting policies and procedures. Jim provides 
auditing services to the Fort Pierce Utilities Authority, St. Lucie County Fire District, City of Port St. Lucie, 
Tradition CDD #1 – 10, Southern Groves CDD #1-6, Multiple CDD audits, Town of St. Lucie Village, Town 
of Sewall’s Point, Town of Jupiter Island along with several other entities, including Condo and Homeowner 
Associations. 
 
Education and Registrations 
 
• Bachelor of Science in Accounting – Sterling College. 
• Certified Public Accountant 

 
Professional Affiliations 
 
• Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Member of the Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Member of the Florida Government Finance Officers Association 

 
Volunteer Service 
 
• Treasurer & Executive Board - St. Lucie County Chamber of Commerce 
• Budget Advisory Board - St. Lucie County School District 
• Past Treasurer - Exchange Club for Prevention of Child Abuse & Exchange Foundation Board 
• Board of Directors – State Division of Juvenile Justice 

 
 



 

  
 

 
Jay L. McBee 

Partner – DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes 
 
Experience and Training 
 
Jay has over 45 years of public accounting experience and would serve as the technical reviewer on the  
audit.  His experience and training include: 
 
• 45 years of government experience. 
• Specializing in serving local government entities. 
• Has performed audits and advisory services for a variety of public sector entities including counties, 

cities, special districts, and school districts. 
• Has experience performing audits of federal grant recipients in accordance with the Single Audit Act 

and the related Office of Management and Budget (OMB) guidelines, including Circular A-133 and the 
Rules of the Auditor General.  

• Has extensive experience in performing pension audits. 
• Experienced in developing and maintaining the GFOA Certificate of Achievement. 
• 120 Hours of relevant government CPE credits over the past 3 years. 
• Experience in municipal bond and other governmental-financing options and offerings.  

 
Recent Engagements 
 
Has provided auditing services on local governmental entities including towns, villages, cities, counties, 
special district and community development districts. Jay has assisted with financial preparation, system 
implementation, and a variety of government services to a wide range of governmental entities.  Jay currently 
provides auditing services to the City of Port St. Lucie, City of Okeechobee Pension Trust Funds, St. Lucie 
County Fire District Pension funds, along with several other non-profit and governmental entities.     
 
Education and Registrations 
 
• Bachelor of Science in Accounting and Quantitative Business Management – West Virginia University. 
• Certified Public Accountant 

 
Professional Affiliations 
 
• Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Member of the Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Member of the Florida Government Finance Officers Association 

 
Volunteer Service 
 

• Member of the St. Lucie County Citizens Budget Committee  
• Finance committee for the First United Methodist Church  
• Treasurer of Boys & Girls Club of St. Lucie County 

 
 



 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Christine M. Kenny, CPA 
Senior Staff – DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes 

Experience and training 
Christine has over 18 years of public accounting experience and would serve as a senior staff 
for the Constitutional Officers. Her experience and training include: 
 

• 18 years of manager and audit experience. 
• Has performed audits and advisory services for a variety of public sector entities including 

counties, cities, towns and special districts. 
• Has experience performing audits of federal grant recipients in accordance with the Single 

Audit Act and the related Office of Management and Budget (OMB) guidelines, including 
Circular A-133 and the Rules of the Auditor General. 

• 100 hours of relevant government CPE credits over the past 3 years. 
 
Recent Engagements 
 
Has provided audit services on governmental entities including towns, villages, cities and 
special districts. Christine has assisted with financial statement preparation, system 
implementation, and a variety of services to a wide range of non-profit and governmental 
entities. Christine currently provides services to multiple agencies to assist in implementing and 
maintaining “best practice” accounting policies and procedures. 
Engagements include St. Lucie County Fire District, City of Fort Pierce, Town of Sewall’s 
Point, and Town of St. Lucie Village. 
 
Education and Registrations 
 

• Bachelor of Science in Accounting – Florida State University 
• Professional Affiliations 
• Active Member of the Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Active Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Member of the Florida Government Finance Officers Association 



 
 

 6 

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS (CONTINUED)  
 
 Governmental Audit Experience 

 

DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A., through its principals and members, has provided 
continuous in-depth professional accounting, auditing, and consulting services to local government 
units, nonprofit organizations, and commercial clients.  Our professionals have developed 
considerable expertise in performing governmental audits and single audits and in preparing 
governmental financial statements in conformance with continually evolving GASB 
pronouncements, statements, and interpretations.  All of the public sector entities we serve annually 
are required to be in accordance with GASB pronouncements and government auditing standards.  
We currently perform several Federal and State single audits in compliance with OMB Circular A-
133 and under the Florida Single Audit Act.  Our professionals are also experienced in assisting their 
clients with preparing Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports (GFOA). 

 
All work performed by our firm is closely supervised by experienced certified public accountants.  
Only our most seasoned CPA’s perform consulting services.  Some of the professional accounting, 
auditing, and management consulting services currently provided to our local governmental clients 
include: 

 
 Annual financial and compliance audits including Single Audits of State and Federal 

financial assistance programs under OMB A-133 audit criteria and the Florida Single 
Audit Act 

 Assisting in compiling historical financial data for first-time and supplemental 
submissions for GFOA Certificate of Achievement of Excellence in Financial Reporting 

 Audits of franchise fees received from outside franchisees 
 Assistance with Implementation of GASB-34 
 Internal audit functions 
 Fixed assets review and updating cost/depreciation allocations and methods 
 

 
 



 
 

 7 

ADDITIONAL DATA 
 

 Procedures for Ensuring Quality Control & Confidentiality 
 

Quality control in any CPA firm can never be taken for granted.  It requires a continuing 
commitment to professional excellence. DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes is formally 
dedicated to that commitment. 

 
In an effort to continue to maintain the standards of working excellence required by our firm, 
DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes, P.A. joined the Quality Review Program of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  To be a participating member firm, a firm 
must obtain an independent compliance review of its quality control policies and procedures to 
ascertain the firm’s compliance with existing auditing standards on the applicable engagements.  
The scope of peer review is comprehensive in that it specifically reviews the following quality 
control policies and procedures of the participating firm: 

 
 Professional, economic, and administrative independence 
 Assignment of professional personnel to engagements 
 Consultation on technical matters 
 Supervision of engagement personnel 
 Hiring and employment of personnel 
 Professional development 
 Advancement 
 Acceptance and continuance of clients 
 Inspection and review system 

 
       Independence 

 
Independence is a hallmark of our profession.  We encourage our staff to use professional 
judgment in situations where our independence could be impaired or the perception of a conflict 
of interest might exist.  In the governmental sector, public perception is as important as 
professional standards.  Therefore, independent auditors must exercise utmost care in the 
performance of their duties. 

 
Our firm has provided continuous certified public accounting services in the government sector 
for 31 years, and we are independent of the Community Development Districts as defined by 
the following rules, regulations, and standards: 

 



 
 

 8 

ADDITIONAL DATA (CONTINUED) 
 
 Independence (Continued) 

 
 Au Section 220 – Statements on Auditing Standards issued by the American Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants 
 ET Sections 101 and 102 – Code of Professional Conduct of the American Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants 
 Chapter 21A-21, Florida Administrative Code 
 Section 473.315, Florida Statutes 
 Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States 

 
 Computer Auditing Capabilities  

 
DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes’ strong computer capabilities as demonstrated by our 
progressive approach to computer auditing and extensive use of microcomputers.  Jay McBee is 
the MIS partner for DMHB.  Jay has extensive experience in auditing and evaluating various 
computer systems and would provide these services in this engagement. 
 
We view the computer operation as an integral part of its accounting systems.  We would 
evaluate the computer control environment to: 

 
 Understand the computer control environment’s effect on internal controls 
 Conclude on whether aspects of the environment require special audit attention 
 Make preliminary determination of comments for inclusion in our management letter 

 
                 This evaluation includes: 

 
 System hardware and software 
 Organization and administration 
 Access 

 
                                                                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

9 

 
 

Contracts of Similar Nature within References 
 

Client Years 

Annual 
Audit In 

Accordance 
With GAAS 

Engagement 
Partner 

Incl. Utility 
Audit/ 

Consulting 

GFOA 
Cert. 

GASB 34 
Implementation  

& Assistance  

Total 
Hours 

St. Lucie County Fire District 
Karen Russell, Clerk-Treasurer 
(772)462-2300 

1984 - 
Current √ Jim Hartley   √ 250-300  

City of Fort Pierce 
Johnna Morris, Finance Director 
(772)-460-2200 

2005- 
current √ Mark Barnes  √ √ 800 

Fort Pierce Utilities Authority 
Nina Hurtubise, Finance Director 
(772)-466-1600 

2005-
current √ Jim Hartley √ √ √ 600 

Town of St. Lucie Village 
Diane Robertson, Town Clerk 
(772) 595-0663 

 
1999 – 
current 

√ Jim Hartley   √ 100 

City of Okeechobee Pension Trust 
Funds 
Marita Rice, Supervisor of Finance 
(863)763-9460 

 
1998 – 
current √ Jay McBee    60 

St. Lucie County Fire District 175 
Pension Trust Fund 
Chris Bushman , Captain 
(772) 462-2300 

 
1990 – 
current √ Jay McBee    60 

Tradition Community Development 
District 1-10 
Alan Mishlove,District Finance 
Manager 
(407)382-3256 

 
2002 - 
current √ Jim Hartley   √ 350 

Legends Bay Community 
Development District 
Patricia Comings-Thibault 
(321)263-0132 

2013-
current 
 

        √ Jim Hartley    50 

Union Park Community 
Development District 
Patricia Comings-Thibault 
(321)263-0132 

2013-
current √ Jim Hartley    50 

 

Deer Island Community  
Development District 
Patricia Comings-Thibault 
(321)263-0132 

2013-
current 

√ Jim Hartley    50 

Park Creek Community 
Development District 
Patricia Comings-Thibault 
(321)263-0132 
 

2013-
current 

√ Jim Hartley    50 

Waterleaf  Community 
Development District 
Patricia Comings-Thibault 
(321)263-0132 

2013-
current 

        √ Jim Hartley         50 
 

 
 
 
 



 
 

10 

TECHNICAL APPROACH 
a. An Express Agreement to Meet or Exceed the Performance Specifications. 

1. The audit will be conducted in compliance with the following requirements: 
 

a. Rules of the Auditor General for form and content of governmental audits 
b. Regulations of the State Department of Banking and Finance 
c. Audits of State and Local Governmental Units-American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. 
2. The audit report shall contain the opinion of the auditor in reference to all financial statements, 

and an opinion reflecting compliance with applicable legal provisions. 
3. We will also provide the required copies of the audit report, the management letter, any related 

reports on internal control weaknesses and one copy of the adjusting journal entries and 
financial work papers. 

4. The auditor shall, at no additional charge, make all related work papers available to any 
Federal or State agency upon request in accordance with Federal and State Laws and 
Regulations. 

5. We will work in cooperation with the District, its underwriters and bond council in regard to 
any bond issues that may occur during the term of the contract. 

6. The financial statements shall be prepared in conformity with Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board Statement Number 34, 63 and 65.  

 
 
 
We will commit to issuing the audit for each Fiscal year by June 1st of the following year.  In order to 
ensure this we will perform interim internal control testing as required by January 31st from unaudited 
preliminary general ledgers provided.  The remaining testing will be completed no later than May 1st.  We 
will also review all minutes and subsequent needs related to the review of the minutes by January 30th.  
Follow up review will be completed as necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

11 

b. A Tentative Schedule for Performing the Key phases of the Audit                                                         
Audit Phase and Tasks 

  
      
Oct. 

N 
Nov. 

 
Dec. 

 
Jan. 

 
Feb. 

 
Mar. 

 
Apr. 

I. Planning Phase:        
Meetings and discussions with Channning 
Park Community Development District 
personnel regarding operating, accounting 
and reporting matters  

 
 

      

Discuss management expectations, 
strategies and objectives 

       

Review operations        
Develop engagement plan        
Study and evaluate internal controls        
Conduct preliminary analytical review        

II. Detailed Audit Phase:        
Conduct final risk assessment        
Finalize audit approach plan        
Perform substantive tests of account 
balances 

       

Perform single audit procedures (if 
applicable) 

       

Perform statutory compliance testing        
III. Closing Phase:        

Review subsequent events, contingencies 
and commitments 

       

Complete audit work and obtain 
management representations 

       

Review proposed audit adjustments with 
client 

       

IV. Reporting Phase:        
Review or assist in preparation of 
financial statement for Channing Park 
Community  Development District 

       

Prepare management letter and other 
special reports 

       

Exit conference with Channing Park  
Community Development District 
officials and management 

       

Delivery of final reports          
 



 
 

12 

 
 

b. SPECIFIC AUDIT APPROACH 
 

Our partners are not strangers who show up for an entrance conference and an 
exit conference.  We have developed an audit plan that allows the partners to directly 
supervise our staff in the field.  By assigning two partners to the audit, we will have a partner 
on-site for a significant portion of the fieldwork.  This also gives the District an additional 
contact individual for questions or problems that may arise during the audit. 
 
The scope of our services will include a financial, as well as, a compliance audit of the 
District’s financial statements.  Our audit will be conducted in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial 
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States.  Additionally, our audit will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of 
Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General, which govern the conduct of local government 
entity audits performed in the State of Florida.   
 
Our audit approach places emphasis on the accounting information system and how the 
data is recorded, rather than solely on the verification of numbers on a financial statement.  
This approach enables us to: 

      
 Maximize our understanding of the District’s operating environment 
 Minimize time required conducting the audit since we start with broad considerations and 

narrow to specific audit objectives in critical areas 
 

Our audit approach consists of four phases encompassing our audit process: 
 

 Planning Phase 
 Detailed Audit Phase 
 Closing Phase 
 Reporting 

 
Planning Phase 
  

Meetings and Expectations: 
 

Our first step in this phase will be to set up a planning meeting with the financial and operating 
management of Channing Park Community Development District.  Our goal here is to eliminate 
“surprises.”  By meeting with responsible officials early on we can discuss significant accounting 
policies, closing procedures and timetables, planned timing of our audit procedures and 
expectations of our work.  This will also be the starting point for our discussions with 
management related to SAS No. 99-Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit.   
Inquiries will be made regarding managements knowledge of fraud and on management’s views 
regarding the risk of fraud. 



 
 

13 

Review Operations and Develop Engagement Plan 
 

It is critical that we understand the District’s operating environment.  To do this we will obtain 
and review such items as, organizational charts, recent financial statements, budget information, 
major contracts and lease agreements.  We will also gather other information necessary to 
increase our understanding of the District’s operations, organization, and internal control.   

 
Study and Evaluate Internal Control 
 

As part of general planning, we will obtain an understanding and assessment of the District’s 
control environment.  This assessment involves a review of management’s operating style, 
written internal control procedures, and the District’s accounting system.  The assessment is 
necessary to determine if we can rely on control procedures and thus reduce the extent of 
substantive testing.   

 
We then test compliance with established control procedures by ascertaining that the significant 
strengths within the system are functioning as described to us. Generally, transactions are selected 
and reviewed in sufficient detail to permit us to formulate conclusions regarding compliance with 
control procedures and the extent of operation compliance with pertinent laws and regulations.  
This involves gaining an understanding of the District’s procedures, laws and regulations, and 
testing systems for compliance by examining contracts, invoices, bid procedures, and other 
documents.  After testing controls, we then evaluate the results of those tests and decide whether 
we can rely on controls and thus reduce other audit procedures. 

 
Conduct Preliminary Analytical Review 

 
Also during the planning stage, we undertake analytical procedures that aid us in focusing our 
energies in the right direction.  We call these analytical reviews. 

 
A properly designed analytical review can be a very effective audit procedure in audits of 
governmental units.  Analytical reviews consist of more than just a comparison of current-year 
actual results to prior-year actual results. Very effective analytical review techniques include 
trend analysis covering a number of years and comparisons of information not maintained totally 
within the financial accounting system, such as per capita information, prevailing market interest 
rates, housing statistics, etc. 

 
Some examples of effective analytical reviews performed together and/or individually include: 

 
 Comparison of current-year actual results with current-year budget for the current and past 

years with investigation of significant differences and/or trends 
 Trend analysis of the percentage of current-year revenues to current-year rates for the current     

and previous years with investigation of significant changes in the collection percentage 
 Trend analysis of the percentage of expenditures by function for the current and previous 

years with investigation of significant changes in percentages by department 
 Monthly analysis of receipts compared to prior years to detect trends that may have audit 

implications 
 

Conclusions reached enable us to determine the nature, timing and extent of other substantive 
procedures. 
 

 



 
 

14 

Detailed Audit Phase 
 

 

Conduct Final Risk Assessment and Prepare Audit Programs 
 
Risk assessment requires evaluating the likelihood of errors occurring that could have a material 
affect on the financial statements being audited.  The conclusions we reach are based on many 
evaluations of internal control, systems, accounts, and transactions that occur throughout the 
audit.  After evaluating the results of our tests of control and our final risk assessment we can 
develop detailed audit programs. 

 
Perform Substantive Tests of Account Balances 

 
These tests are designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the validity of the information 
produced by the accounting system.  Substantive tests involve such things as examining invoices 
supporting payments, confirmation of balances with independent parties, analytical review 
procedures, and physical inspection of assets.  All significant accounts will be subjected to 
substantive procedures.  Substantive tests provide direct evidence of the completeness, accuracy, 
and validity of data. 

 
Perform Single Audit Procedures (if applicable) 

 
During the planning phase of the audit we will request and review schedules of expenditures of 
federal awards and state financial assistance.  These schedules will be the basis for our 
determination of the specific programs we will test.   

 
In documenting our understanding of the internal control system for the financial statement audit, 
we will identify control activities that impact major federal and state programs as well.  This will 
allow us to test certain controls for the financial audit and the single audit concurrently.  We will 
then perform additional tests of controls for each federal and state program selected for testing.  
We will then evaluate the results of the test of controls to determine the nature, timing and extent 
of substantive testing necessary to determine compliance with major program requirements. 



 
 

15 

Perform Statutory Compliance Testing 
 

We have developed audit programs for Channing Park Community Development District 
designed to test Florida Statutes as required by the Auditor General.   These programs include test 
procedures such as general inquiries, confirmation from third parties, and examination of specific 
documents. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
Closing Phase 
 

During the closing phase we perform detail work paper reviews, request legal letters, review 
subsequent events and proposed audit adjustments.  Communication with the client is critical in this 
phase to ensure that the information necessary to prepare financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States has been obtained.  

 
Reporting Phase 

 
Financial Statement Preparation 

 
As a local firm, we spend a considerable amount of time on financial statement preparation and 
support.  With this in mind, we can assist in certain portions of the preparation of financial 
statements or simply review a draft of financials prepared by your staff.  We let you determine 
our level of involvement. 

 
Management Letters 

 
We want to help you solve problems before they become major. 
 
Our management letters go beyond citing possible deficiencies in the District’s internal control 
structures.  They identify opportunities for increasing revenues, decreasing costs, improving 
management information, protecting assets and improving operational efficiency. 
 
The diversity of experience of our personnel and their independent and objective viewpoints 
make the comments, observations, and conclusions presented in our management letters a 
valuable source of information.  We have provided positive solution-oriented objective 
recommendations to our governmental clients regarding investments, accounting accuracy, data 
processing, revenue bonds, payroll, utility billing, purchasing, budgeting, risk management, and 
internal auditing. 

  
This review ensures the integrity of the factual data in the management letter but does not influence 
or impair our independence. 

 
Exit Conferences and Delivery of Reports 

 
We anticipate meeting with appropriate District personnel in February and issuing the final 
required reports by the May meeting of each year.     

 
 
 



 
 

16 

PROPOSED AUDIT FEE 
 

DiBartolomeo, McBee, Hartley & Barnes P.A. will perform the annual audit of Channing Park Community 
Development District as follows: 
 
  
 September 2025     $ 3,150 
 September 2026     $ 3,300 
 September 2027     $ 3,450 
 September 2028     $ 3,600 
 September 2029     $ 3,750 
  
  
 
In years of new debt issuance fees will be adjusted in the range of $750-$1,250 depending on the 
complexity of the issuance. 
 
   
  
 
 
 
 

 



 

          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHANNING PARK 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
  PROPOSAL FOR AUDIT SERVICES 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROPOSED BY: 
 
 

Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS, PL 
 
 
 
 

600 Citrus Avenue, Suite 200            (772) 461-6120 
Fort Pierce, Florida 34950 

 
 

CONTACT PERSON: 
 

Maritza Stonebraker, CPA, Director 
 
 

DATE OF PROPOSAL: 
 
 

January 9, 2026



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SECTION PAGE 
 
 
 A. Letter of Transmittal 1-2 
 

B. Profile of the Proposer 
   
  Description and History of Audit Firm 3 
 
  Professional Staff Resources  4-5 
 
  Ability to Furnish the Required Services 5 

 
A. Governmental Auditing Experience 6-15 

 
B. Fee Schedule 16  

 
C. Scope of Work to be Performed 16 

 
D. Resumes 17-32 

 
E. Peer Review Letter 33 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



- 1 -

January 9, 2026 

Channing Park Community Development District 
Rizzetta & Company, Inc. 
3434 Colwell Avenue  
Suite 200 
Tampa, FL 33614 

Dear District Manager: 

Thank you very much for the opportunity to present our professional credentials to provide audit 
services for Channing Park Community Development District. 

Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public Accountants, PL has assembled a 
team of governmental and nonprofit specialists second to none to serve our clients.  Our firm 
has the necessary qualifications and experience to serve as the independent auditors for 
Channing Park Community Development District.  We will provide you with top quality, 
responsive service. 

Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public Accountants, PL is a recognized leader 
in providing services to governmental and nonprofit agencies throughout Florida.  We have 
been the independent auditors for a number of local governmental agencies and through our 
experience in performing their audits, we have been able to increase our audit efficiency and; 
therefore, reduce costs.  We have continually passed this cost savings on to our clients and will 
continue to do so in the future.  As a result of our experience and expertise, we have developed 
an effective and efficient audit approach designed to meet or exceed the performance 
specifications in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the standards for 
financial and compliance audits.   

We will conduct the audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America with minimal disruption to your operations. Our firm has frequent 
technical updates to keep our personnel informed and up-to-date on all changes that are 
occurring within the industry.  



- 2 -

Channing Park Community Development District 
January 9, 2026 

Our firm is a member of the Government Audit Quality Center, an organization dedicated to 
improving government audit quality.  We also utilize the audit program software of a nationally 
recognized CPA firm to assure us that we are up to date with all auditing standards and to assist 
us maintain maximum audit efficiencies. 

To facilitate your evaluation of our qualifications and experience, we have arranged this 
proposal to include a resume of our firm, including our available staff, our extensive prior 
governmental and nonprofit auditing experience and clients to be contacted. 

You need a firm that will provide an efficient, cost-effective, high-quality audit within critical time 
constraints.  You need a firm with the prerequisite governmental and nonprofit experience to 
perform your audit according to stringent legal and regulatory requirements, a firm that 
understands the complex nature of community development districts and their unique 
compliance requirements.  You need a firm with recognized governmental and nonprofit 
specialists within the finance and governmental communities.  And, certainly, you need a firm 
that will provide you with valuable feedback to enhance your current and future operations.  
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public Accountants, PL is that firm.  Maritza 
Stonebraker is the person authorized to make representations for the firm. 

Thank you again for the opportunity to submit this proposal to Channing Park Community 
Development District. 

Very truly yours, 

Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 

audit
Firm Signature



- 3 - 

PROFILE OF THE PROPOSER 
 
Description and History of Audit Firm 
 
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public Accountants, PL is a Treasure 
Coast public accounting firm, which qualifies as a small business firm, as established by the 
Small Business Administration (13 CFR 121.38), with offices in Fort Pierce and Stuart.  We are a 
member of the Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants.  The firm was formed from the merger of Edwards, Berger, Harris & 
Company (originated in 1972) and McAlpin, Curtis & Associates (originated in 1949).  J. W. 
Gaines and Associates (originated in 1979) merged with the firm in 2004.  Our tremendous 
growth rate experienced over the last 69 years is directly attributable to the firm’s unrelenting 
dedication to providing the highest quality, responsive professional services attainable to its 
clients. 
 
We are a member of the Private Companies Practice Section (PCPS) of the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) to assure we meet the highest standards.  Membership in 
this practice section requires that our firm meet more stringent standards than standard AICPA 
membership.  These rigorous requirements include the requirement of a triennial peer review of 
our firm’s auditing and accounting practice and annual Continuing Professional Education (CPE) 
for all accounting staff (whether CPA or non-CPA).  For standard AICPA membership, only a 
quality review is required and only CPAs must meet CPE requirements. 
 
We are also a member of the Government Audit Quality Center (“the Center”) of the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants to assure the quality of our government audits.  
Membership in the Center, which is voluntary, requires our firm to comply with additional 
standards to promote the quality of government audits.   
 
We have been extensively involved in serving local government entities with professional 
accounting, auditing and consulting services throughout the entire 69 year history of our firm.  
Our substantial experience over the years makes us uniquely qualified to provide accounting, 
auditing, and consulting services to these clients.  We are a recognized leader in providing 
services to governmental and nonprofit agencies on the Treasure Coast and in Central and 
South Florida, with extensive experience in auditing community development districts and water 
control districts.  We were the independent auditors of the City of Fort Pierce for over 37 years 
and currently, we are the independent auditors for St. Lucie County since 2002, and for 34 of the 
38 years that the county has been audited by CPA firms.  Additionally, we have performed audits 
of the City of Stuart, the City of Vero Beach, Indian River County and Martin County.  We also 
presently audit over 75 Community Development Districts throughout Florida. 
 
Our firm was founded on the belief that we are better able to respond to our clients needs 
through education, experience, independence, quality control, and personal service.  Our firm’s 
commitment to quality is reflected in our endeavor of professional excellence via continuing 
education, the use of the latest computer technology, professional membership in PCPS and 
peer review. 
 
We believe our approach to audit engagements, intelligence and innovation teamed with sound 
professional judgment enables us to explore new concepts while remaining sensitive to the 
fundamental need for practical solutions.  We take pride in giving you the assurance that the 
personal assistance you receive comes from years of advanced training, technical experience 
and financial acumen. 



- 4 - 

Professional Staff Resources 
 
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public Accountants, PL has a total of 
32 professional and administrative staff (including 12 professional staff with extensive 
experience servicing government entities). The work will be performed out of our Fort Pierce 
office with a proposed staff of one senior accountant and one or two staff accountants 
supervised by an audit manager and audit partner.  With the exception of the directors of the 
firm’s offices, the professional staff is not specifically assigned to any of our individual 
offices.  The professional and administrative staff resources available to you through Berger, 
Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public Accountants, PL are as follows: 
   Total 
Partners/Directors (CPA’s) 7 
Managers (1 CPA) 2 
Senior/Supervisor Accountants (1 CPA) 3 
Staff Accountants 8 
Paraprofessional 6 
Administrative   6 
 Total – all personnel 32 
 
Following is a brief description of each employee classification: 
 
Staff Accountant – Staff accountants work directly under the constant supervision of the 
auditor-in-charge and, are responsible for the various testing of documents, account 
analysis and any other duties as his/her supervisor believes appropriate.  Minimum 
qualification for a staff accountant is graduation from an accredited university or college with 
a degree in accounting or equivalent. 
 
Senior Accountant – A senior accountant must possess all the qualifications of the staff 
accountant, in addition to being able to draft the necessary reports and financial statements, 
and supervise other staff accountants when necessary. 
 
Managers – A manager must possess the qualifications of the senior accountant, plus be 
able to work without extensive supervision from the auditor-in-charge.  The manager should 
be able to draft audit reports from start to finish and to supervise the audit team, if 
necessary. 
 
Partner/Director – The director has extensive governmental auditing experience and acts 
as the auditor-in-charge.  Directors have a financial interest in the firm. 
 
 
 



- 5 - 

Professional Staff Resources (Continued) 
 
Independence – Independence of the public accounting firm, with respect to the audit 
client, is the foundation from which the public gains its trust in the opinion issued by the 
public accounting firm at the end of the audit process.  This independence must be in 
appearance as well as in fact.  The public must perceive that the accounting firm is 
independent of the audit entity to ensure that nothing would compromise the opinion issued 
by the public accounting firm. Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public 
Accountants, PL is independent of Channing Park Community Development District, 
including its elected officials and related parties, at the date of this proposal, as defined by 
the following rules, regulations, and standards: 
 

Au-C Section 220 – Statements on Auditing Standards issued by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants; 
 
ET Sections 101 and 102 – Code of Professional Conduct of the American Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants; 
 
Chapter 21A-1, Florida Administrative Code; 
 
Section 473.315, Florida Statutes; and, 
 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States. 

 
On an annual basis, all members of the firm are required to confirm, in writing, that they have no 
personal or financial relationships or holding that would impair their independence with regard to 
the firm’s clients. 
 
Independence is a hallmark of our profession.  We encourage our staff to use professional 
judgment in situations where our independence could be impaired or the perception of a conflict 
of interest might exist.  In the governmental sector, public perception is as important as 
professional standards.  Therefore, the utmost care must be exercised by independent auditors 
in the performance of their duties. 
 
Ability to Furnish the Required Services 
 
As previously noted in the Profile of the Proposer section of this document, our firm has been in 
existence for over 74 years.  We have provided audit services to some clients for over 30 years 
continually.  Our firm is insured against physical loss through commercial insurance and we also 
carry liability insurance.  The majority of our audit documentation is stored electronically, both 
on our office network and on each employee laptop or computer assigned to each specific job.  
Our office computer network is backed up on tape, so in the event of a total equipment loss, we 
can restore all data as soon as replacement equipment is acquired.  In addition, our field laptop 
computers carry the same data and can be used in the event of emergency with virtually no 
delay in completing the required services.   



- 6 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDITING EXPERIENCE 
 
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public Accountants, PL has been 
practicing public accounting in Florida for 69 years.  Our success over the years has been the 
result of a strong commitment to providing personalized quality service to our clients. 
 
The current members of our firm have performed audits of over 1,100 community development 
districts, and over 2,100 audits of municipalities, counties and other governmental entities such 
as the City of Fort Pierce and St. Lucie County. 
 
Our firm provides a variety of accounting, auditing, tax litigation support, and consulting 
services.  Some of the professional accounting, auditing and management consulting services 
that are provided by our firm are listed below: 
 

• Performance of annual financial and compliance audits, including Single Audits of state 
and federal financial assistance programs, under the provisions of the Single Audit Act, 
Subpart F of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards (Uniform Guidance), with minimal disruptions to your operations; 

• Performance of special compliance audits to ascertain compliance with the applicable 
local, state and federal laws and regulations; 

• Issuance of comfort letters and consent letters in conjunction with the issuance of tax-
exempt debt obligations, including compiling financial data and interim period financial 
statement reviews; 

• Calculation of estimated and actual federal arbitrage rebates; 
• Assistance in compiling historical financial data for first-time and supplemental 

submissions for GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting; 
• Preparation of indirect cost allocation systems in accordance with Federal and State 

regulatory requirements; 
• Providing human resource and employee benefit consulting; 
• Performance of automation feasibility studies and disaster recovery plans; 
• Performance feasibility studies concerning major fixed asset acquisitions and utility plant 

expansion plans (including electric, water, pollution control, and sanitation utilities); and 
• Assistance in litigation, including testimony in civil and criminal court. 
• Assist clients who utilize QuickBooks software with their software needs.  Our Certified 

QuickBooks Advisor has undergone extensive training through QuickBooks and has 
passed several exams to attain this Certification. 

 
Continuing Professional Education 
 
All members of the governmental audit staff of our firm, and audit team members assigned to 
this engagement, are in compliance with the Continuing Professional Education (CPE) 
requirements set forth in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States.  In addition, our firm is in compliance with the applicable provisions of the 
Florida Statutes that require CPA’s to have met certain CPE requirements prior to proposing on 
governmental audit engagements. 
 
 



- 7 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDITING EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED) 
 
The audit team has extensive experience in performing governmental audits and is exposed to 
intensive and continuing concentration on these types of audits.  Due to the total number of 
governmental audits our team performs, each member of our governmental staff must 
understand and be able to perform several types of governmental audits.  It is our objective to 
provide each professional employee fifty hours or more of comprehensive continuing 
professional education each year.  This is accomplished through attending seminars throughout 
Florida and is reinforced through in-house training. 
 
Our firm has made a steadfast commitment to professional education.  Our active attendance 
and participation in continuing professional education is a major part of our objective to obtain 
the most recent knowledge on issues which are of importance to our clients.  We are growing on 
the reputation for work that our firm is providing today. 
 
Quality Control Program 
 
Quality control requires continuing commitment to professional excellence.  Berger, Toombs, 
Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public Accountants, PL is formally dedicated to that 
commitment. 
 
To ensure maintaining the standards of working excellence required by our firm, we joined the 
Private Companies Practice Section (PCPS) of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (AICPA).  To be a participating member firm of this practice section, a firm must 
obtain an independent Peer Review of its quality control policies and procedures to ascertain 
the firm’s compliance with existing auditing standards on the applicable engagements. 
 
The scope of the Peer Review is comprehensive in that it specifically reviews the following 
quality control policies and procedures of the participating firm: 
 

• Professional, economic, and administrative independence; 
• Assignment of professional personnel to engagements; 
• Consultation on technical matters; 
• Supervision of engagement personnel; 
• Hiring and employment of personnel; 
• Professional development; 
• Advancement; 
• Acceptance and continuation of clients; and, 
• Inspection and review system. 

 
We believe that our commitment to the program is rewarding not only to our firm, but primarily to 
our clients. 
 
The external independent Peer Review of the elements of our quality control policies and 
procedures performed by an independent certified public accountant, approved by the PCPS of 
the AICPA, provides you with the assurance that we continue to conform to standards of the 
profession in the conduct of our accounting and auditing practice. 
 



- 8 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Our firm is also a member of Governmental Audit Quality Center (GAQC), a voluntary 
membership center for CPA firms that perform governmental audits.  This center promotes the 
quality of governmental audits. 
 
Our firm has completed successive Peer Reviews.  These reviews included a representative 
sample of our firm’s local governmental auditing engagements.  As a result of these reviews, 
our firm obtained an unqualified opinion on our quality control program and work procedures.  
On page 33 is a copy of our most recent Peer Review report.  It should be noted that we 
received a pass rating. 
 
Our firm has never had any disciplinary actions by state regulatory bodies or professional 
organizations. 
 
As our firm performs approximately one hundred audits each year that are reviewed by federal, 
state or local entities, we are constantly dealing with questions from these entities about our 
audits.  We are pleased to say that any questions that have been raised were minor issues and 
were easily resolved without re-issuing any reports. 
 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting (CAFR) 
We are proud and honored to have been involved with the City of Fort Pierce and the Fort 
Pierce Utilities Authority when they received their first Certificates of Achievement for 
Excellence in Financial Reporting for the fiscal years ended September 30, 1988 and 1994, 
respectively.  We were also instrumental in the City of Stuart receiving the award, in our first 
year of performing their audit, for the year ended September 30, 1999.   
 
We also assisted St. Lucie County, Florida for the year ended September 30, 2003, in preparing 
their first Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, and St. Lucie County has received their 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting every year since.    
 
As continued commitment to insuring that we are providing the highest level of experience, we 
have had at least one employee of our firm serve on the GFOA – Special Review Committee 
since the mid-1980s.  This committee is made up of selective Certified Public Accountants 
throughout the United States who have demonstrated their high level of knowledge and 
expertise in governmental accounting.  Each committee member attends a special review 
meeting at the Annual GFOA Conference.  At this meeting, the committee reports on the 
Certificate of Achievement Program’s most recent results, future goals, and common reporting 
deficiencies. 
 
We feel that our previous experience in assisting the City of Fort Pierce, the Fort Pierce Utilities 
Authority and St. Lucie County obtain their first CAFRs, and the City of Stuart in continuing to 
receive a CAFR and our firm’s continued involvement with the GFOA, and the CAFR review 
committee make us a valued asset for any client in the field of governmental financial reporting. 
 
 
 



- 9 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED) 
 
References 
 
Florida Green Finance Authority   Gateway Services Community  
Jeff Walker, Special District Services     Development District 
(561) 630-4922 Stephen Bloom, Inframark LLC 
    (954) 753-5841 
South Village Community Development District 
Darrin Mossing, Governmental Management Clearwater Cay Community    
  Services LLC                                                              Development District 
(407) 841-5524 Cal Teague, Premier District Management  
    (239) 690-7100 ext 101 
 
In addition to the above, we have the following additional governmental audit experience: 
 
Community Development Districts 
 
Aberdeen Community Development Beacon Lakes Community

 District  Development District

Alta Lakes Community Development Beaumont Community Development
  District    District

Amelia Concourse Community Bella Collina Community Development
Development District    District

Amelia Walk Communnity Bonnet Creek Community 
Development District    Development District

Aqua One Community Development Buckeye Park Community
   District    Development District

Arborwood Community Development Candler Hills East Community 
District Development District

Arlington Ridge Community Cedar Hammock Community
   Development District  Development District

Bartram Springs Community Central Lake Community
   Development District Development District

Baytree Community Development Channing Park Community 
   District  Development District



- 10 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Cheval West Community Evergreen Community Development

 Development District    District

Coconut Cay Community Forest Brooke Community 
    Development District  Development District

Colonial Country Club Community Gateway Services Community
 Development District    Development District

Connerton West Community Gramercy Farms Community
   Development District  Development District

Copperstone Community Greenway Improvement District
   Development District

Creekside @ Twin Creeks Community Greyhawk Landing Community
 Development District    Development District

Deer Run Community Development Griffin Lakes Community Development 
 District District

Dowden West Community Habitat Community Development 
   Development District District

DP1 Community Development Harbor Bay Community Development
   District    District

Eagle Point Community Development Harbourage at Braden River
 District    Community Development District

East Nassau Stewardship District Harmony Community Development 
District

Eastlake Oaks Community
 Development District Harmony West Community  

Development District
Easton Park Community Development 

 District Harrison Ranch Community
Development District

Estancia @ Wiregrass Community
 Development District Hawkstone Community 

Development District
 



- 11 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Heritage Harbor Community Madeira Community Development

Development District District

Heritage Isles Community Marhsall Creek Community
Development District Development District

Heritage Lake Park Community Meadow Pointe IV Community
Development District Development District

Heritage Landing Community Meadow View at Twin Creek 
Development District Community Development District

Heritage Palms Community Mediterra North Community
Development District Development District

Heron Isles Community Midtown Miami Community
Development District Development District

Heron Isles Community Development Mira Lago West Community
District Development District

Highland Meadows II Community Montecito Community 
Development District Development District

Julington Creek Community Narcoossee Community
Development District Development District

Laguna Lakes Community Naturewalk Community 
Development District Development District

Lake Bernadette Community New Port Tampa Bay Community
Development District Development District

Lakeside Plantation Community Overoaks Community Development
Development District District

Landings at Miami Community Panther Trace II Community
Development District Development District

Legends Bay Community Paseo Community Development
Development District District

Lexington Oaks Community Pine Ridge Plantation Community
Development District Development District

Live Oak No. 2 Community Piney Z Community Development
Development District District  



- 12 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED)  
 
Poinciana Community Sampson Creek Community

Development District Development District

Poinciana West Community San Simeon Community
Development District Development District

Port of the Islands Community Six Mile Creek Community
Development District Development District

Portofino Isles Community South Village Community
Development District Development District

Quarry Community Development Southern Hills Plantation I
District Community Development District

Renaissance Commons Community Southern Hills Plantation III
Development District Community Development District

Reserve Community South Fork Community
Development District Development District

Reserve #2 Community St. John's Forest Community
Development District Development District

River Glen Community Stoneybrook South Community
Development District Development District

River Hall Community Stoneybrook South at ChampionsGate
Development District Community Development District

River Place on the St. Lucie Stoneybrook West Community
Community Development District Development District

Rivers Edge Community Tern Bay Community
Development District Development District

Riverwood Community Terracina Community Development
Development District District

Riverwood Estates Community Tison's Landing Community
Development District Development District

Rolling Hills Community TPOST Community Development
Development District District

Rolling Oaks Community
Development District  



- 13 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED)  
 
Triple Creek Community Vizcaya in Kendall

Development District Development District

TSR Community Development Waterset North Community
District Development District

Turnbull Creek Community Westside Community Development
Development District District

Twin Creeks North Community WildBlue Community Development
Development District District

Urban Orlando Community Willow Creek Community
Development District Development District

Verano #2 Community Willow Hammock Community
Development District Development District

Viera East Community Winston Trails Community
Development District Development District

VillaMar Community Zephyr Ridge Community
Development District Development District

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



- 14 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED) 
 

Other Governmental Organizations 
 
City of Westlake 
 
 
Florida Inland Navigation District 
 
Fort Pierce Farms Water Control 
 District 
 
Indian River Regional Crime 
   Laboratory, District 19, Florida 
 
Viera Stewardship District 
 

 
Office of the Medical Examiner, 
   District 19 
 
Rupert J. Smith Law Library  
   of St. Lucie County 
 
St. Lucie Education Foundation 
 
Seminole Improvement District 
 
Troup Indiantown Water  
   Control District

 
Current or Recent Single Audits 

 
St. Lucie County, Florida 
Early Learning Coalition, Inc. 
Gateway Services Community Development District 
Healthy Start Coalition 
 
Members of our audit team have acquired extensive experience from performing or participating 
in over 1,800 audits of governments, independent special taxing districts, school boards, and 
other agencies that receive public money and utilize fund accounting. 
 
Much of our firm’s auditing experience is with compliance auditing, which is required for publicly 
financed agencies.  In this type of audit, we do a financial examination and also confirm 
compliance with various statutory and regulatory guidelines. 
 
Following is a summary of our other experience, including Auditor General experience, as it 
pertains to other governmental and fund accounting audits. 
 
Counties  
(Includes elected constitutional officers, utilities and dependent taxing districts) 
 
Indian River 
Martin 
Okeechobee 
Palm Beach 
 
Municipalities 
 
City of Port St. Lucie 
City of Vero Beach 
Town of Orchid 



- 15 - 

GOVERNMENTAL AUDIT EXPERIENCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Special Districts 
 
Bannon Lakes Community Development District 
Boggy Creek Community Development District 
Capron Trail Community Development District 
Celebration Pointe Community Development District 
Coquina Water Control District 
Diamond Hill Community Development District 
Dovera Community Development District 
Durbin Crossing Community Development District  
Golden Lakes Community Development District 
Lakewood Ranch Community Development District 
Martin Soil and Water Conservation District 
Meadow Pointe III Community Development District 
Myrtle Creek Community Development District 
St. Lucie County – Fort Pierce Fire District 
The Crossings at Fleming Island 
St. Lucie West Services District 
Indian River County Mosquito Control District 
St. John’s Water Control District 
Westchase and Westchase East Community Development Districts 
Pier Park Community Development District 
Verandahs Community Development District 
Magnolia Park Community Development District 
 
Schools and Colleges 
 
Federal Student Aid Programs – Indian River Community College 
Indian River Community College 
Okeechobee County District School Board 
St. Lucie County District School Board 
Indian River School District – Internal Accounts 
 
State and County Agencies 
 
Central Florida Foreign-Trade Zone, Inc. (a nonprofit organization affiliated with the St. Lucie     
    County Board of County Commissioners) 
Florida School for Boys at Okeechobee 
Indian River Community College Crime Laboratory 
Indian River Correctional Institution 
 
 



- 16 - 

FEE SCHEDULE 
 
We propose the fee for our audit services described below to be $3,300 for the years ended 
September 30, 2025 and 2026, $3,400 for the year ended September 30, 2027, and $3,475 for 
the years ended September 30, 2028 and 2029. In addition, if a bond issuance occurs there will 
be an additional fee for each additional bond. The fee is contingent upon the financial records 
and accounting systems of Channing Park Community Development District being “audit ready” 
and the financial activity for the District is not materially increased.  If we discover that additional 
preparation work or subsidiary schedules are needed, we will consult with your authorized 
representative.  We can assist with this additional work at our standard rates should you desire.  
 
SCOPE OF WORK TO BE PERFORMED 
 
If selected as the District's auditors, we will perform a financial and compliance audit in 
accordance with Section 11.45, Florida Statutes, in order to express an opinion on an annual 
basis on the financial statements of Channing Park Community Development District as of 
September 30, 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028 and 2029. The audits will be performed to the extent 
necessary to express an opinion on the fairness in all material respects with which the financial 
statements present the financial position, results of operations and changes in financial position 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and to determine whether, for 
selected transactions, operations are properly conducted in accordance with legal and 
regulatory requirements.  Reportable conditions that are also material weaknesses shall be 
identified as such in the Auditors' Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters.  Other (non-reportable) conditions discovered during the course 
of the audit will be reported in a separate letter to management, which will be referred to in the 
Auditors' Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters. 
 
Our audit will be performed in accordance with standards for financial and compliance audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, as well as in compliance with rules and 
regulations of audits of special districts as set forth by the State Auditor General in 
Chapter 10.550, Local Governmental Entity Audits, and other relevant federal, state and county 
orders, statutes, ordinances, charter, resolutions, bond covenants, Administrative Code and 
procedures, or rules and regulations which may pertain to the work required in the engagement. 
 
The primary purpose of our audit will be to express an opinion on the financial statements 
discussed above.  It should be noted that such audits are subject to the inherent risk that errors 
or irregularities may not be detected.  However, if conditions are discovered which lead to the 
belief that material errors, defalcations or other irregularities may exist or if other circumstances 
are encountered that require extended services, we will promptly notify the appropriate 
individual. 
 
 
 



- 17 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
David S. McGuire, CPA, CITP 
Director – 31 years experience 
 
Education 
♦ University of Central Florida, B.A. – Accounting 
♦ Barry University – Master of Professional Accountancy 
 
Registrations 
♦ Certified Public Accountant – State of Florida, State Board of Accountancy 
♦ Certified Information Technology Professional (CITP) – American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants 
♦ Certified Not-For-Profit Core Concepts 2018 
 
Professional Affiliations/Community Service 
♦ Member of the American and Florida Institutes of Certified Public Accountants 
♦ Associate Member, Florida Government Finance Office Associates 
♦ Assistant Coach – St. Lucie County Youth Football Organization (1994 – 2005) 
♦ Assistant Coach – Greater Port St. Lucie Football League, Inc. (2006 – 2010) 
♦ Board Member – Greater Port St. Lucie Football League, Inc. (2011 – 2017) 
♦ Treasurer, AIDS Research and Treatment Center of the Treasure Coast, Inc. (2000 – 

2003) 
♦ Board Member/Treasurer, North Treasure Coast Chapter, American Red Cross  

(2004 – 2010) 
♦ Member/Board Member of Port St. Lucie Kiwanis (1994 – 2001) 
♦ President (2014/15) of Sunrise Kiwanis of Fort Pierce (2004 – 2017) 
♦ St. Lucie District School Board Superintendent Search Committee (2013 – present) 
♦ Board Member – Phrozen Pharoes (2019-2021) 
 
Professional Experience 
♦ Twenty-eight years public accounting experience with an emphasis on nonprofit and 

governmental organizations.  
♦ Audit Manager in-charge on a variety of audit and review engagements within several 

industries, including the following government and nonprofit organizations: 
  St. Lucie County, Florida 
  19th Circuit Office of Medical Examiner 
  Troup Indiantown Water Control District 
  Exchange Club Center for the Prevention of Child Abuse, Inc. 
  Healthy Kids of St. Lucie County 
  Mustard Seed Ministries of Ft. Pierce, Inc. 
  Reaching Our Community Kids, Inc. 
  Reaching Our Community Kids - South 
  St. Lucie County Education Foundation, Inc. 
  Treasure Coast Food Bank, Inc. 
  North Springs Improvement District 
♦ Four years of service in the United States Air Force in computer operations, with a top 

secret (SCI/SBI) security clearance. 



- 18 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
David S. McGuire, CPA, CITP (Continued) 
Director 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Mr. McGuire has attended numerous continuing professional education courses and 

seminars taught by nationally recognized sponsors in the accounting auditing and single 
audit compliance areas.  He has attended courses over the last two years in those areas as 
follows: 

  Not-for-Profit Auditing Financial Results and Compliance Requirements 
  Update:  Government Accounting Reporting and Auditing 
  Annual Update for Accountants and Auditors 
 
 



- 19 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Matthew Gonano, CPA 
Director – 14 years total experience 
 
Education 
♦ University of North Florida, B.B.A. – Accounting 
♦ University of Alicante, Spain – International Business 
♦ Florida Atlantic University – Masters of Accounting 
 
Professional Affiliations/Community Service 
 
♦ American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
♦ Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
 
Professional Experience 
 
♦ Senior Accountant with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & Frank providing professional 

services to nonprofit and governmental entities. 
♦ Performed audits of nonprofit and governmental organizations in accordance with 

Governmental Accounting Auditing Standards (GAAS) 
♦ Performed Single Audits of nonprofit organizations in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, 

Audits of State, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. 
 

Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Mr. Gonano has participated in numerous continuing professional education courses. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



- 20 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Melissa Marlin, CPA 
Director – 12 years 
 
Education 
♦ Indian River State College, A.A. – Accounting 
♦ Florida Atlantic University, B.B.A. – Accounting 
 
Registrations 
♦ Certified Public Accountant – State of Florida, State Board of Accountancy 
 
Professional Affiliations/Community Service 
 
♦ Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
♦ Member of the Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
♦ Affiliate member of the Government Finance Officers Association  
 
Professional Experience 
♦ Accountant with over 10 years of experience providing professional services to nonprofit and 

governmental entities. 
♦ Performed over 300 audits of nonprofit and governmental organizations in accordance with 

Governmental Accounting Auditing Standards (GAAS) 
♦ Performed Single Audits of nonprofit organizations in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200 

Subpart F, Uniform Guidance, Audits of State, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations. 

 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Mrs. Marlin participates in numerous continuing professional education courses provided by 

nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments in accounting 
and auditing such as: 

o Governmental Accounting Report and Audit Update 
o Analytical Procedures, FICPA 
o Annual Update for Accountants and Auditors 
o Single Audit Sampling and Other Considerations 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



- 21 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Maritza Stonebraker, CPA 
Director – 10 years 
 
Education 
♦ Indian River State College, B.S. – Accounting 
 
Registrations 
♦ Certified Public Accountant – State of Florida, State Board of Accountancy 
 
Professional Affiliations/Community Service 
 
♦ Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
♦ Member of the Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
♦ Affiliate of the Government Finance Officers Association  
 
Professional Experience 
♦ Maritza launched her professional auditing career  at Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & 

Frank, accumulating over 9 years of expertise in the field 
♦ Performed over 300 audits of nonprofit and governmental organizations in accordance with 

Governmental Accounting Auditing Standards (GAAS) 
♦ Performed Single Audits of nonprofit organizations in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200 

Subpart F, Uniform Guidance, Audits of State, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations. 

 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Mrs. Stonebraker participates in numerous continuing professional education courses 

provided by nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments in 
accounting and auditing such as: 

o Governmental Accounting Report and Audit Update 
o Analytical Procedures, FICPA 
o Annual Update for Accountants and Auditors 
o Single Audit Sampling and Other Considerations 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



- 22 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Jonathan Herman, CPA 
Director – 12 years 
 
Education 
♦ University of Central Florida, B.S. – Accounting 
♦ Florida Atlantic University, MACC  
 
Registrations 
♦ Certified Public Accountant – State of Florida, State Board of Accountancy 
 
Professional Affiliations/Community Service 
♦ Member of the American and Florida Institutes of Certified Public Accountants 
♦ Affiliate member Government Finance Officers Association 
 
Professional Experience 
♦ Over 10 years experience in all phases of public accounting and auditing experience, with a 

concentration in financial and compliance audits.  Mr. Herman has been involved in all 
phases of the audits listed on the preceding pages. 

 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Has participated in numerous continuing professional education courses provided by 

nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments.  He has 
attended courses in those areas over the last two years such as: 

Governmental Accounting Report and Audit Update 
Annual Update:  Government Accounting Reporting and Auditing 
Annual Update for Accountants and Auditors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



- 23 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
David F. Haughton, CPA 
Accounting and Audit Manager – 34 years 
 
Education 
♦ Stetson University, B.B.A. – Accounting 
 
Registrations 
♦ Certified Public Accountant – State of Florida, State Board of Accountancy 
 
Professional Affiliations/Community Service 
♦ Member of the American and Florida Institutes of Certified Public Accountants 
♦ Former Member of Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants Committee on State and 

Local Government 
♦ Affiliate Member Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) for over 10 years 
♦ Affiliate Member Florida Government Finance Officers Association (FGFOA) for over 10 

years 
♦ Technical Review – 1997 FICPA Course on State and Local Governments in Florida 
♦ Board of Directors – Kiwanis of Ft. Pierce, Treasurer – 1994-1999; Vice President – 1999-

2001 
 
Professional Experience 
♦ Twenty-seven years public accounting experience with an emphasis on governmental and 

nonprofit organizations. 
♦ State Auditor General’s Office – West Palm Beach, Staff Auditor, June 1985 to September 

1985 
♦ Accounting and Audit Manager of Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank, Certified Public 

Accountants PL, responsible for audit and accounting services including governmental and 
not-for-profit audits. 

♦ Over 20 years of public accounting and governmental experience, specializing in 
governmental and nonprofit organizations with concentration in special districts, including 
Community Development Districts which provide services including water and sewer utilities.  
Governmental and non-profit entities served include the following: 

 
Counties: 

  St. Lucie County 
 
  Municipalities: 
  City of Fort Pierce 
  City of Stuart 
 
 



- 24 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
David F. Haughton, CPA (Continued) 
Accounting and Audit Manager 
 
Professional Experience (Continued) 

Special Districts: 
Bluewaters Community Development District 
Country Club of Mount Dora Community Development District 
Fiddler’s Creek Community Development District #1 and #2 
Indigo Community Development District 
North Springs Improvement District 
Renaissance Commons Community Development District 
St. Lucie West Services District 
Stoneybrook Community Development District 
Summerville Community Development District 
Terracina Community Development District 
Thousand Oaks Community Development District 
Tree Island Estates Community Development District 
Valencia Acres Community Development District 

 
Non-Profits: 
The Dunbar Center, Inc. 
Hibiscus Children’s Foundation, Inc. 
Hope Rural School, Inc. 
Maritime and Yachting Museum of Florida, Inc. 
Tykes and Teens, Inc. 
United Way of Martin County, Inc. 
Workforce Development Board of the Treasure Coast, Inc. 
 

♦ While with the Auditor General’s Office he was on the staff for the state audits of the Martin 
County School District and Okeechobee County School District. 

♦ During 1997 he performed a technical review of the Florida Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants state CPE course on Audits of State and Local Governments in Florida.  His 
comments were well received by the author and were utilized in future updates to the 
course. 

 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ During the past several years, he has participated in numerous professional development 

training programs sponsored by the AICPA and FICPA, including state conferences on 
special districts and governmental auditing in Florida.  He averages in excess of 100 hours 
bi-annually of advanced training which exceeds the 80 hours required in accordance with the 
continuing professional education requirements of the Florida State Board of accountancy 
and the AICPA Private Companies Practice Section.  He has over 75 hours of governmental 
CPE credit within the past two years. 

 
 



- 25 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Paul Daly 
Senior Accountant – 14 years 
 
Education 
♦ Florida Atlantic University, B.S. – Accounting 
 
Professional Experience 
♦ Staff Accountant with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & Frank providing professional 

services to nonprofit and governmental entities. 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Working to attain the requirements to take the Certified Public Accounting (CPA) exam. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



- 26 - 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Bryan Snyder 
Manager – 11 years 
 
Education 
♦ Florida Atlantic University, B.B.A. – Accounting 
 
Professional Experience 
♦ Accountant beginning his professional auditing career with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, 

& Frank. 
♦ Mr. Snyder is gaining experience auditing governmental & nonprofit entities. 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Mr. Snyder participates in numerous continuing education courses and plans on working to 

acquire his CPA certificate. 
♦ Mr. Snyder is currently studying to pass the CPA exam. 

 
 



27 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Tifanee Terrell, CPA 
Senior Accountant – 5 years 
 
Education 
♦   Florida Atlantic University, M.A.C.C. – Accounting 
 
Professional Experience 
♦    Senior Accountant with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & Frank providing professional 

services to nonprofit and governmental entities. 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Ms. Terrell participates in numerous continuing professional education courses provided 

by nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



28 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Dylan Dixon 
Senior Accountant – 4 years 
 
Education 
♦   Indian River State College, B.S. – Accounting  
♦   Florida Gulf Coast University, M.S. – Accounting 
 
Professional Experience 
♦    Senior Accountant with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & Frank providing professional 

services to nonprofit and governmental entities. 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Mr. Dixon participates in numerous continuing professional education courses provided 

by nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments. 
♦ Mr. Dixon is currently studying to pass the CPA exam. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



29 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Brennen Moore 
Staff Accountant – 3 years 
 
Education 
♦   Indian River State College, B.S. – Accounting  
 
Professional Experience 
♦    Staff Accountant with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & Frank providing professional 

services to nonprofit and governmental entities. 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Mr. Moore participates in numerous continuing professional education courses provided 

by nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



30 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Katie Gifford 
Staff Accountant – 2 years 
 
Education 
♦   Indian River State College, B.S. – Accounting  
 
Professional Experience 
♦    Staff Accountant with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & Frank providing professional 

services to nonprofit and governmental entities. 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Ms. Gifford participates in numerous continuing professional education courses provided 

by nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



31 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Rayna Zicari 
Staff Accountant – 2 years 
 
Education 
♦   Stetson University, B.B.A. – Accounting   
 
Professional Experience 
♦    Staff Accountant with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & Frank providing professional 

services to nonprofit and governmental entities. 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Ms. Zicari participates in numerous continuing professional education courses provided 

by nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



32 

Commitment to Quality Service 
 
Personnel Qualifications and Experience 
 
Deandre McFadden 
Staff Accountant – 1 year 
 
Education 
♦   Florida Atlantic University, B.S. – Accounting  
 
Professional Experience 
♦    Staff Accountant with Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines, & Frank providing professional 

services to nonprofit and governmental entities. 
 
Continuing Professional Education 
♦ Mr. McFadden participates in numerous continuing professional education courses 

provided by nationally recognized sponsors to keep abreast of the latest developments. 
 
 
 



33 



 

   

 

 

 

Independent Audit Service Proposal 

Prepared for Channing Park 
Community Development District 
Prepared By:  
McIntosh CPA 
 
January 9, 2026 

 

rmcintoshcpa.com  

2385 NW Executive Center Dr. 
     Boca Raton, FL 33431 



  

1 
 

 

Table of Contents 
Transmittal Letter ............................................................................................................... 2 

Statement of Understanding and Scope of Work ............................................................ 3 

Qualifications, and Experience .......................................................................................... 6 

Personnel ............................................................................................................................ 7 

Schedule of Fees ............................................................................................................... 8 

Appendix ............................................................................................................................. 9 

 

 

  



  

2 
 

Transmittal Letter                                                               

                                                             

 
January 9, 2026 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Channing Park Community Development District 
Hillsborough County 

McIntosh CPA is pleased to submit this proposal to provide annual auditing services for the Channing 
Park Community Development District (the "District"). Our firm specializes in auditing services for 
governmental entities, including special districts, ensuring compliance with Florida Statutes, 
Government Auditing Standards (Yellow Book), and the requirements set forth by the Florida Auditor 
General. We are a Woman & Minority Business certified by the State of Florida. 

While the firm is new, the managing partner has been providing auditing services to special districts 
for over 18 years and has an impeccable reputation among former clients. With this experience and 
knowledge, we are uniquely qualified and ready to assist the District with the audit services needed. 
We are confident that we will not only provide the services required but exceed expectations. 

We understand the importance of accountability and fiscal responsibility in government operations. 
Our audit methodology is designed to provide an efficient, thorough, and collaborative review process 
while minimizing disruption to your daily operations. Additionally, we are committed to maintaining 
open communication and delivering clear, actionable recommendations to support the District’s 
financial integrity and operational efficiency 

We have an established reputation for delivering high-quality, timely, and efficient audits. With our 
extensive experience, we are confident in our ability to provide the District with the highest level of 
professional service. We acknowledge that this proposal is valid for ninety (90) days following 
submission. 

We thank you for the opportunity to provide a proposal and look forward to working with the District’s 
team. Please do not hesitate to contact Racquel McIntosh at 2385 NW Executive Center Dr., Suite 
100, Boca Raton FL 33431, 561-981-6282, or mcintoshcpa@outlook.com with any questions. 

Sincerely,  

 

 
Racquel McIntosh, CPA 
Founder & Managing Partner 

 

 

mailto:mcintoshcpa@outlook.com


  

3 
 

Statement of Understanding and Scope of Work 
The Channing Park Community Development District requires independent audit services for 
the fiscal years ending September 30, 2025, with an option for four additional one-year 
renewals. Our firm understands that the audit must comply with: 

• Chapter 218.39, Florida Statutes 
• Florida Auditor General’s Rules 
• Government Auditing Standards (Yellow Book) 
• Licensure under Chapter 473 

The audit will include an examination of the District’s financial records, internal controls, and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

AUDIT TIMELINE 

We recognize the importance of adhering to the District’s annual audit deadline of June 30th 
and are fully committed to ensuring a timely and efficient audit process. Racquel McIntosh 
will be responsible for the firm meeting the required deadline. Our team will strategically plan 
and execute the audit to ensure that the draft and auditor’s reports are completed well in 
advance of the deadline, allowing ample time for review and discussion. Additionally, we will 
maintain open communication throughout the engagement to address any concerns promptly 
and ensure a smooth and seamless audit experience. 

SCOPE OF WORK 

• Conduct an independent audit in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
• Evaluate internal controls and compliance with Florida statutes 
• Issue audited financial statements with findings and recommendations 
• Report to the Board of Supervisors on the audit findings 
• Provide ongoing support for financial and compliance questions 

The audit will be performed in the three phases below; 

                                              

 

Planning

Fieldwork

Reporting



  

4 
 

AUDIT PLANNING 

This is the most critical part of an audit, as a well planned audit determines the flow and 
efficiency for the entire audit. Planning consists of the following segments: 

Obtain an understanding of the District – we will gain an understanding of the District in order 

to perform risk assessment for the various segments of the audit. It involves reviewing the 

policies and procedures, documenting the internal controls of the District, including 

compliance requirements, and making an initial assessment of inherent risk in order to 

determine the preliminary risk of material misstatement to the financial statements. It also 

includes gaining an understanding of the District's IT environment and how that affects 

financial reporting. 

IT Assessment – we will discuss with management and document the District’s IT 

infrastructure, including; general controls over the network and the accounting software, and 

specific controls within the accounting software. We will also discuss access, backups, 

disaster recovery, and virus protection. These discussions will assist in determining if the IT 

infrastructure is adequate to reduce any material financial statement misstatements.  

Preliminary analytics – current vs prior year review of accounts to determine and document 

causes for fluctuations.  

Risk Assessment - Used in conjunction with other planning items above to dictate further audit 

procedures. 

FIELDWORK 

Based on the risk assessment results from planning, a combination of analytical 

procedures, detail test of transactions, and use of audit confirmations will be applied by the 

auditor. 

Analytical procedures – these will consist of revenue and expenditure variances from the 

prior year, variances with the budget, calculating revenue expectations, and reviewing trend 

analysis for anomalies. 

Test of details – these will consist of tracing and vouching transactions to and from the 

accounting records. Will also include testing bond compliance. 



  

5 
 

Audit confirmations – these will be sent to attorneys, tax collector, bond trustees, and other 

entities as deemed necessary.  

 

REPORTING 

Once the fieldwork has been completed, a draft of the financial statements along with all 

related audit reports will be prepared for management’s review. McIntosh CPA utilizes a 

memo to management regarding findings and recommendations not deemed significant and 

therefore not included in any of the audit reports. The memo will detail the observation and 

provide a recommendation for corrective action. No management response is required since 

it will not be presented in any audit report. Before a finding is reported in the audit report, a 

determination is made as to why the issue occurred and whether it was a one-time 

occurrence. We ensure that reporting items in the audit report are necessary and that 

recommendations are cost beneficial.  

For all three phases above, if deficiencies or discrepancies are identified, management will 

be informed immediately to give them a chance to research and provide additional 

information or put corrective measures in place. 

 

 



  

6 
 

Qualifications and Experience 

INDEPENDENCE 
 
We affirm that McIntosh CPA is independent with respect to the District. We meet the 
independence standards of Generally Accepted Auditing Standards and the U.S. Government 
Accountability Office’s Government Auditing Standards.  
 
FIRM QUALIFICATIONS 

• Licensed under Chapter 473, Florida Statutes 
• Over 18 years of experience auditing governments 
• Demonstrated expertise in auditing special districts and financials 
• Strong track record of timely report delivery and responsiveness 

The services as outlined in the statement of understanding will be overseen by Racquel 
McIntosh CPA, who brings 18 years of exemplary service in the government auditing and 
accounting industry. In her previous role, she was an audit partner providing auditing services 
to municipalities and special districts throughout the State of Florida and was in charge of 
audit quality for the firm. In addition, she assisted clients with internal policy review, internal 
control best practices and implementation, and assisted with implementation of accounting 
software and accounting standards.  

Further, she has met the educational requirements for CPAs set forth under Florida Statutes 
and the Government Auditing Standards (Yellow Book) issued by the Government 
Accountability Office (GAO). See next page for resume. 

Value-Added Service 

In addition to providing audit services for the District, Racquel provides an annual training 
session for the District accounting staff which will include; reviewing items found in the 
previous year’s audit, accounting treatment for certain transactions, how to respond to auditor 
inquiry, how to analyze financial statements, and new accounting standards and regulations 
applicable to the upcoming audit year. 

REFERENCES 
 
Below are three districts that the engagement partner has worked on with the named 
management companies. In total, the engagement partner oversaw and worked on over 200 
CDDs. 
 

CATALINA AT WRINKLER PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Rizzetta & Company 
3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200 
Tampa, FL 33614 

BERRY BAY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Meritus 
2005 Pan Am Circle, Suite 300 
Tampa, FL 33607 

BRIGHTON LAKES COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Inframark 
210 N University Drive 
Coral Springs, FL 33071 

  



  

7 
 

 

  



  

8 
 

Schedule of Fees 
Below are the all-inclusive fees for the District’s annual financial statement audit 

Fiscal Year Proposed Fee 

2025 $4,000 

2026 $4,000 

2027 $4,000 

2028 $4,100 

2029 $4,200 

 

 

The above fees are based on the District not issuing Bonds in any of the fiscal years. If Bonds 

are issued, then fees will be adjusted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

9 
 

Appendix 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tab 2 



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 1  

 

 

 1 

MINUTES OF MEETING 2 

 3 

Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any 4 

matter considered at the meeting is advised that the person may need to ensure that a 5 

verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon 6 

which such appeal is to be based. 7 

 8 

CHANNING PARK 9 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 10 

 11 

 The Audit Committee Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Channing Park 12 

Community Development District was held on Tuesday, August 21, 2025, at 4:15 p.m. at 13 

The Landings, located at 7012 Sail View Ln, Apollo Beach FL, 33572. 14 

 15 

Present and constituting a quorum: 16 

 17 

 Micheal Basso   Chairman 18 

 Steven Kelly   Vice Chairman  19 

 Gary Randolph  Assistant Secretary  20 

 21 

Also present were: 22 

 23 

 Ruben Durand   District Manager, Rizzetta & Co.  24 

 Victor Barbosa   District Engineer, Atwell, LLC 25 

 Lauren Gentry   District Counsel, KVW Law (via conf. call) 26 

 Grace Kobitter   District Counsel, KVW Law (via conf. call) 27 

 28 

 29 

Audience                                Present 30 

 31 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS   Call to Order 32 

 33 

 Mr. Durand called the meeting to order and confirmed a quorum.  34 

 35 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS  Business Administration 36 

 37 

A. Consideration of Audit Proposal Instructions 38 

 39 

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Randolph, the Board with all in favor 
approved the Audit Proposal Instructions as amended for the Channing Park Community 
Development District. 

 40 

 41 

 42 

 43 

 44 

 45 



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 2  

 

 

 46 

B. Consideration of Audit Evaluation Criteria 47 

 48 

Change all fields to twenty points. 49 

 50 

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Kelly, the Board with all in favor approved 
the Audit Evaluation Criteria as amended for the Channing Park Community 
Development District. 

 51 

C. Consideration of RFP for Audit Service Advertisement 52 

 53 

On a motion by Mr. Randolph, seconded by Mr. Basso, the Board with all in favor 
approved the Audit Service Advertisement as amended for the Channing Park 
Community Development District. 

  54 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS   Adjournment 55 

 56 

On a motion by Mr. Randolph, seconded by Mr. Kelly, the Board approved to adjourn the 
meeting at 4:29 p.m., for the Channing Park Community Development District. 

 57 

 58 

 59 

 60 

 61 

 62 

 63 

 64 

 65 

 66 

 67 

 68 

 69 

 70 

 71 

 72 

 73 

 74 

 75 

 76 

 77 

 78 

 79 

 80 

 81 

 82 

 83 

 84 



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 3  

 

 

 85 

 86 

 87 

 88 

 89 

 90 

             91 

Assistant Secretary     Chair / Vice Chair 92 

 93 

 94 

 95 

 96 

 97 

 98 

 99 

 100 

 101 

 102 

 103 

 104 

 105 

 106 

 107 

 108 

 109 

 110 

 111 

 112 

 113 

 114 

 115 

 116 

 117 

 118 

 119 

 120 

 121 

 122 

 123 

 124 

 125 

 126 

 127 

 128 

 129 

 130 

 131 

 132 



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 4  

 

 

 133 

REGULAR MEETING 134 

 135 

Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any 136 

matter considered at the meeting is advised that the person may need to ensure that a 137 

verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon 138 

which such appeal is to be based. 139 

 140 

 CHANNING PARK 141 

 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 142 

 143 

 The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Channing Park Community 144 

Development District was held on Thursday, August 21, 2025, at 4:30 p.m. at the 145 

Channing Park Recreation Center, located at 17358 Chelsea Downs Circle, Lithia, Florida 146 

33547. 147 

 148 

  Present was: 149 

  150 

 Mike Basso   Chairman  151 

 Steven Kelly   Vice Chairman  152 

 Gary Randolph  Assistant Secretary 153 

  154 

  Also present were: 155 

 156 

             Ruben Durand  District Manager, Rizzetta & Company 157 

                       Lauren Gentry District Counsel, KVW Law (via conf. call) 158 

  Grace Kobitter  District Counsel, KVW Law (via conf. call) 159 

                       Victor Barbosa District Engineer, Atwell, LLC 160 

 161 

Audience                              Present 162 

  163 

  164 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS   Call to Order 165 

 166 

Mr. Durand called the meeting to order and read the roll call confirming a quorum for the 167 

meeting.  168 

 169 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments on Agenda 170 

Items 171 

 172 

A resident made a comment on the possibility of a pump station being used. 173 

 174 

 175 

 176 

 177 

 178 

 179 



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 5  

 

 

 180 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 181 

 182 

A. Consideration of the Minutes of the Board of Supervisors’ Regular Meeting  183 

                      held on May 15, 2025 184 

 185 

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Kelly the Board unanimously approved 
the Minutes of the Board of Supervisor’s Meeting held on May 15, 2025, for the 
Channing Park Community Development District.  

 186 

B. Consideration of Operations & Maintenance Expenditures for May, June, July 187 

2025 188 

 189 

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Kelly, the Board unanimously approved 
the Operations and Maintenance Expenditures for May 2025 ($ 5,492.16) for the 
Channing Park Community Development District.  

 190 

On a motion by Mr. Kelly, seconded by Mr. Randolph, the Board unanimously 
approved the Operations and Maintenance Expenditures for June 2025 ($ 9,779.67) 
for the Channing Park Community Development District.  

 191 

On a motion by Mr. Randolph, seconded by Mr. Kelly, the Board unanimously 
approved the Operations and Maintenance Expenditures for June 2025 ($ 3,006.97) 
for the Channing Park Community Development District.  

 192 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS    STAFF REPORTS 193 

  194 

A. District Council  195 

 196 

Present. Ms. Kobitter Reminded Board members of ethics training due on 197 

December 31st, 2025. 198 

 199 

B. District Engineer 200 

 201 

Mr. Barbosa was asked to provide updates on the David Weekly Project. 202 

 203 

C. District Manager  204 

 205 

Mr. Durand notified the Board the next meeting will be held on January 15th, 2025. 206 

 207 

 208 

 209 

 210 

 211 

 212 



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 6  

 

 

 213 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Business Items 214 

 215 

  216 

A. Opening of Public Hearing on Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 Final Budget 217 

 218 

On a motion by Mr. Randolph, seconded by Mr. Basso, the Board unanimously 
agreed to open the Public Hearing on Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 Final Budget for the 
Channing Park Community Development District.  

 219 

B. Closing of Public Hearing on Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 Final Budget 220 

 221 

On a motion by Mr. Randolph, seconded by Mr. Basso, the Board unanimously 
agreed to close the Public Hearing on Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 Final Budget for the 
Channing Park Community Development District.  

 222 

 C. Consideration of Resolution 2025-04; Adopting Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026           223 

Final Budget 224 

 225 

 226 

 D. Consideration of Resolution 2025-05; Levying O&M Assessments for 227 

Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 228 

 229 

 230 

 E. Consideration of Resolution 2025-06; Setting the Meeting Schedule for 231 

Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 232 

 233 

 234 

 235 

F. Consideration of 2024- 2025 Goals and Objectives Report 236 

 237 

 238 

On a motion by Mr. Basso seconded by Mr. Kelly, the Board approved Resolution 
2025-04; Adopting Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 Final Budget for the Channing Park 
Community Development District.  

On a motion by Mr. Randolph seconded by Mr. Basso, the Board approved 
Resolution 2025-05; Levying O&M Assessments for Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 for the 
Channing Park Community Development District.  

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Randolph, the Board approved 
Resolution 2025-06; Setting the Meeting Schedule for Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026 for 
the Channing Park Community Development District.  

On a motion by Mr. Randolph seconded by Mr. Kelly, the Board unanimously agreed 
to accept the 2024- 2025 Goals and Objectives Report as amended for the Channing 
Park Community Development District.  



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 7  

 

 

 239 

G. Consideration of 2025- 2026 Goals and Objectives 240 

 241 

 242 

H. Consideration of Easement for David Weekly Homes utility installation 243 

 244 

        Ms. Gentry provided details to the Board. 245 

 246 

 247 

I. Consideration of District Management Contract addendum  248 

 249 

      Tabled  250 

 251 

J. Consideration of Resolution 2025- 07; Redesignation of Officers 252 

 253 

 254 

K. Consideration of Arbitrage Services Agreement 255 

 256 

 257 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Supervisor Requests 258 

 259 

Mr. Basso introduced reports to be included as an exhibit to the minutes. 260 

 261 

Mr. Basso stated that interest had been earned in FL Class. 262 

 263 

 264 

 265 

 266 

On a motion by Mr. Randolph seconded by Mr. Basso, the Board unanimously agreed 
to adopt the 2025- 2026 Goals and Objectives for the Channing Park Community 
Development District.  

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Randolph, the Board unanimously 
agreed to authorize negotiations with David Weekly Homes and counter offer $35,000 
for easement and to approve in substantial form with the chairs authority to negotiate 
and execute outside of the meeting for the Channing Park Community Development 
District.  

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Kelley, the Board made Mr. Basso Chair, 
Mr. Kelley Vice Chair, and approved Resolution 2025- 07; Redesignation of Officers 
for the Channing Park Community Development District. 

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Randolph, the Board approved the 
Arbitrage Services Agreement for the Channing Park Community Development District. 

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Randolph, the Board authorized an 
additional $50,000 to the FL Class for the Channing Park Community Development 
District. 



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 8  

 

 

 267 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS    Adjournment 268 

 269 

On a motion by Mr. Basso, seconded by Mr. Randolph, the Board unanimously approved 
to adjourn the meeting at 5:55p.m. for the Channing Park Community Development 
District. 

 270 

 271 

 272 

 273 

 274 

 275 

 276 

 277 

 278 

 279 

 280 

 281 

 282 

 283 

 284 

 285 

 286 

 287 

 288 

 289 

 290 

 291 

 292 

 293 

 294 

 295 

 296 

 297 

 298 

 299 

 300 

 301 

 302 

 303 

 304 

 305 

 306 

 307 

 308 

 309 

 310 

 311 



 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
August 21, 2025, Minutes of Meeting 

Page 9  

 

 

 312 

 313 

 314 

 315 

 316 

 317 

 318 

____________________________  ___________________________ 319 

Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chairman/Vice Chairman 320 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tab 3 



The total items being presented: $4,553.54

Approval of Expenditures:

__________________________________

______Chairperson

______Vice Chairperson

______Assistant Secretary

Attached please find the check register listing the Operation and Maintenance expenditures paid from 
August 1, 2025 through August 31, 2025.  This does not include expenditures previously approved by 
the Board.

District Office · Riverview, Florida · (813) 533-2950 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Operation and Maintenance Expenditures
August 2025

For Board Approval

Mailing Address – 3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200, Tampa, Florida 33614
www.channingparkcdd.org



Channing Park Community Development District

Paid Operation & Maintenance Expenditures

August 1, 2025 Through August 31, 2025

Vendor Name Check Number Invoice Number Invoice Description Invoice Amount

Gary Randolph Sr. 300023 GR082125 Board of Supervisors Meeting 
08/21/25

 $                200.00 

Joseph Michael Basso 300024 MB082125 Board of Supervisors Meeting 
08/21/25

 $                200.00 

Kilinski | Van Wyk, PLLC 300021 12729 Legal Services 06/25  $                  90.00 

Kilinski | Van Wyk, PLLC 300025 12812 Legal Services 07/25  $                540.00 

Rizzetta & Company, Inc. 300020 INV0000101245 District Management Fees 08/25  $             2,939.16 

School Now 300022 INV-SN-864 Website Service and Accessibility 
Compliance Service 07/25

 $                384.38 

Steven M. Kelly 300026 SK082125 Board of Supervisors Meeting 
08/21/25

 $                200.00 

Report Total 4,553.54$              



SUPERVISOR PAY REQUEST 

Name of Board Supervisor Check if paid 
Michael Basso Ww, 
Steven Kelly Vy 
Gary Randolph v 
Brent Scoggins 

Matt Beckley 

(*) Does not get paid 

NOTE: Supervisors are only paid if checked present. 

EXTENDED MEETING TIMECARD 

Meeting Start Time: LG Par 
Meeting End Time: D155 Pm 
Total Meeting Time: [he Emm 

= 
ADDITIONAL OR CONTINUED MEETING TIMECA 

Meeting Date, 
Additional or Continued Meeting? 
Total Meeting Time: 

Total at $175 per Hour: = \_ $0.00 

Business Mileage Round Trip 4 

IRS Rate per Mile <\. $0.700 
Mileage to Charge $0.00 

DM Signature: Le Ivmnd 

08-22-2025

PBishop
Received



Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC
P.O. Box 6386
Tallahassee, Florida 32314

INVOICE
Invoice # 12729

Date: 07/15/2025
Due On: 08/14/2025

Channing Park CDD
5844 Old Pasco Road Suite 100
Wesley Chapel, Florida 33544

Statement of Account

Outstanding Balance New Charges Payments Received Total Amount Outstanding
( $0.00 + $90.00 ) - ( $0.00 ) = $90.00

CPACDD-01
Channing Park CDD - General

Type Attorney Date Notes Quantity Rate Total

Service LG 06/09/2025 RE-send budget notice. 0.10 $300.00 $30.00

Service LG 06/17/2025 Approve budget ad. 0.10 $300.00 $30.00

Service LG 06/30/2025 Review and revise materials
necessary for implementation of 2025
legislative changes.

0.10 $300.00 $30.00

Total $90.00

Please make all amounts payable to: Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC

Please pay within 30 days.

Page 1 of 1

07-18-2025

PBishop
Received



Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC
P.O. Box 6386
Tallahassee, Florida 32314

INVOICE
Invoice # 12812

Date: 08/11/2025
Due On: 09/10/2025

Channing Park CDD
5844 Old Pasco Road Suite 100
Wesley Chapel, Florida 33544

Statement of Account

Outstanding Balance New Charges Payments Received Total Amount Outstanding
( $0.00 + $540.00 ) - ( $0.00 ) = $540.00

CPACDD-01
Channing Park CDD - General

Type Attorney Date Notes Quantity Rate Total

Service LG 07/10/2025 Prepare draft of resolution setting
hearing on updated Rules of
Procedure and notices of rulemaking
and rule development.

0.10 $300.00 $30.00

Service LG 07/14/2025 Provide update on easement
negotiations; confer with chairman
regarding same.

0.50 $300.00 $150.00

Service LG 07/29/2025 Confer with Supervisor Kelly
regarding negotiation of utility
easement.

0.30 $300.00 $90.00

Service LG 07/30/2025 Prepare form of construction
easement for utility infrastructure.

0.90 $300.00 $270.00

Total $540.00

Please make all amounts payable to: Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC

Please pay within 30 days.

Page 1 of 1

08/15/2025

hyi
New Stamp



Client Number

Qty Amount

INV0000101245

CHANNING PARK CDD

8/2/2025

Description Rate

Bill To:

Date Invoice #

3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

3434 Colwell Avenue
Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

Invoice Rizzetta & Company, Inc.

Terms
00620

Services for the month of
August Upon Receipt

$1,010.08 $1,010.08  1.00 Accounting Services
$273.00 $273.00  1.00 Administrative Services
$273.00 $273.00  1.00 Financial & Revenue Collections

$1,283.08 $1,283.08  1.00 Management Services
$100.00 $100.00  1.00 Website Compliance & Management

$2,939.16 

$2,939.16 

Subtotal

Total

07-30-2025

PBishop
Received



INVOICE

Questions? Contact accounts receivable at ar@schoolstatus.com. Please include your 
invoice number on your payment. Click here to view our W-9.

1 of 1

Channing Park CDD
2700 S. Falkenburg Rd., Suite 2745
Riverview FL 33578
United States

Invoice # INV-SN-864

Invoice Date: 7/16/2025

Due Date: 8/15/2025

PO#: Quarterly Invoice

Item Description AMOUNT

SchoolNow CDD ADA-PDF $234.38

SchoolNow CDD Community Development District (CDD) governmental unit 
management company ADA-compliant website

$150.00

Subtotal: $384.38

 Subscription start: 10/1/2024 Tax Total:

 Subscription end: 9/30/2025 Total: $384.38

Amount Paid: $0.00

Direct Deposit Instruction: Amount Due: $384.38

Click Here to pay with Credit Card

Check Remittance:

Innersync Studios Ltd
P.O. Box 771470
St. Louis, MO 63177-9816
United States

07-28-2025

https://8514066.app.netsuite.com/core/media/media.nl?id=152458&c=8514066&h=QY6_W5lt30Aj9A83CftYe4P9adrwYfN7_o_KYGlSKPX5cNdX&_xt=.pdf
https://8514066.extforms.netsuite.com/app/site/hosting/scriptlet.nl?script=2306&deploy=1&compid=8514066&ns-at=AAEJ7tMQz19RqnZnxengPwWxj7UVRoPwnFQ4FHyewNyBbz6P-PQ&nsTranId=8514066_200237_invoice_17537373067366e3c
PBishop
Received



The total items being presented: $5,920.54

Approval of Expenditures:

__________________________________

______Chairperson

______Vice Chairperson

______Assistant Secretary

Attached please find the check register listing the Operation and Maintenance expenditures paid from 
September 1, 2025 through September 30, 2025.  This does not include expenditures previously 
approved by the Board.

District Office · Riverview, Florida · (813) 533-2950 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Operation and Maintenance Expenditures
September 2025

For Board Approval

Mailing Address – 3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200, Tampa, Florida 33614
www.channingparkcdd.org



Channing Park Community Development District

Paid Operation & Maintenance Expenditures

September 1, 2025 Through September 30, 2025

Vendor Name Check Number Invoice Number Invoice Description Invoice Amount

Atwell, LLC 300029 0000422821 Engineering Services 08/25  $                720.00 

Kilinski | Van Wyk, PLLC 300031 13102 Legal Services 08/25  $             1,678.25 

LLS Tax Solutions, Inc. 300028 003866 Arbitrage Rebate Calculation Series 
2018 04/25

 $                500.00 

Rizzetta & Company, Inc. 300027 INV0000102290 District Management Fees 09/25  $             2,939.16 

The Observer Group, Inc. 300030 25-02834H Legal Advertising 09/25  $                  83.13 

Report Total 5,920.54$              



Reference #:

Invoice Total $720.00

Payment: Atwell Online Payment Portal

Channing Park Community Development District
3434 Colwell Ave Suite 200
Tampa, FL  33614

September 10, 2025
Project No: 21050211-007-00
Invoice No: 0000422821

Project 21050211-007-00 Channing Park CDD - CDD Coordination and Public Facilities Report
Subject Line: Channing Park CDD
Email: cddinvoice@rizzetta.com
Professional Services Rendered from August 1, 2025 to August 31, 2025

Task 001:00 CDD Coordination
Professional Personnel

Hours Rate Amount
Project Manager II

Barbosa, Victor 3.00 240.00 720.00
Total 3.00 720.00
Total Labor 720.00

$720.00Total this Task

$720.00Total this Invoice

09-17-2025

https://www.billerpayments.com/app/simplepayui/?bsn=atwell
PBishop
Received



Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC
P.O. Box 6386
Tallahassee, Florida 32314

INVOICE
Invoice # 13102

Date: 09/17/2025
Due On: 10/17/2025

Channing Park CDD
5844 Old Pasco Road Suite 100
Wesley Chapel, Florida 33544

Statement of Account

Outstanding Balance New Charges Payments Received Total Amount Outstanding
( $0.00 + $1,678.25 ) - ( $0.00 ) = $1,678.25

CPACDD-01
Channing Park CDD - General

Type Attorney Date Notes Quantity Rate Discount Total

Service LG 08/07/2025 Confer with Jae regarding
construction easement;
review draft agenda and
send revisions; prepare
budget resolution and
assessment resolution.

0.90 $300.00 - $270.00

Service LG 08/11/2025 Call with Strasser
regarding DWH easement
request.

0.40 $300.00 - $120.00

Service GK 08/13/2025 Review tentative agenda. 0.10 $305.00 - $30.50

Service LG 08/14/2025 Review DWH comments
to easement agreement;
send materials for
agenda.

0.70 $300.00 - $210.00

Service GK 08/18/2025 Review agenda materials,
including Audit Committee
items, May meeting
minutes, Fiscal Year 2026
budget, confer with
District Manager
regarding the same;

1.30 $305.00 - $396.50

Page 1 of 2



prepare resolution
electing Officers of the
District, transmit the
same.

Service GK 08/20/2025 Review updated agenda
materials.

0.30 $305.00 - $91.50

Service LG 08/21/2025 Confer with David
Weekley homes
representative regarding
easement agreement;
Attend Board meeting and
audit committee meeting.

1.40 $300.00 50.0% $210.00

Service GK 08/21/2025 Attend board meeting. 1.90 $305.00 50.0% $289.75

Service LG 08/22/2025 Receive acceptance of
counteroffer for
easement; receive
updated documents and
confer with DWH counsel
regarding same.

0.20 $300.00 - $60.00

Line Item Discount Subtotal -$499.75

Total $1,678.25

Please make all amounts payable to: Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC

Please pay within 30 days.

Invoice # 13102 - 09/17/2025

Page 2 of 2

09-20-2025

PBishop
Received



Thank You For Your Business

LLS Tax Solutions Inc.

1645 Sun City Center Plz # 5027
Sun City Center, FL  335718003
+18507540311
liscott@llstax.com

INVOICE
BILL TO
Channing Park 
Community Development 
District
c/o Rizzetta & Company, 
Inc.
3434 Colwell Avenue, 
Suite 200
Tampa, FL  33614

INVOICE # 003866
DATE 08/28/2025

DUE DATE 09/27/2025
TERMS Net 30

DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

Total Billing for Arbitrage Services in connection with the
$1,620,000 Channing Park Community Development District
Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 –
Rebatable Arbitrage Calculation for the period ended April 29,
2025.

500.00

BALANCE DUE $500.00

08-28-2025

PBishop
Received



Client Number

Qty Amount

INV0000102290

CHANNING PARK CDD

9/2/2025

Description Rate

Bill To:

Date Invoice #

3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

3434 Colwell Avenue
Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

Invoice Rizzetta & Company, Inc.

Terms
00620

Services for the month of
September Upon Receipt

$1,010.08 $1,010.08  1.00 Accounting Services
$273.00 $273.00  1.00 Administrative Services
$273.00 $273.00  1.00 Financial & Revenue Collections

$1,283.08 $1,283.08  1.00 Management Services
$100.00 $100.00  1.00 Website Compliance & Management

$2,939.16 

$2,939.16 

Subtotal

Total

08-28-2025

PBishop
Received



Business Observer
1970 Main Street

3rd Floor
Sarasota, FL 34236

,  941-906-9386 x322INVOICE
Legal Advertising

Invoice # 25-02834H

Attn:
Channing Park CDD Rizzetta
3434 COLWELL AVENUE SUITE 200
TAMPA  FL  33614

Description Amount

Please make checks payable to:
(Please note Invoice # on check)
Business Observer
1970 Main Street
3rd Floor
Sarasota, FL 34236
,

Date 09/19/2025

Serial # 25-02834H
Notice of Public Meeting Dates
RE: Channing Park CDD Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Board of Supervisors
Meetings at 4:30 PM on 1/15/2026 et al
Published: 9/19/2025

$83.13

$83.13
Important Message

Total
Paid ()

Payment is expected within 30 days of the
first publication date of your notice.

Please include our Serial #
on your check

Pay by credit card online:
https://legals.

businessobserverfl.
com/send-payment/

Attention: If you are a government agency and you believe that you qualify for a 15% discount to the second insertion of
your notice per F.S. revision 50.061, please inform Kristen Boothroyd directly at 941-906-9386 x323.

NOTICE
The Business Observer makes every effort to ensure that its public notice advertising is accurate and in full compliance with all applicable statutes and ordinances and
that its information is correct. Nevertheless, we ask that our advertisers scrutinize published ads carefully and alert us immediately to any errors so that we may correct

them as soon as possible. We cannot accept responsibility for mistakes beyond bearing the cost of republishing advertisements that contain errors.

09-18-2025

PBishop
Received



Business Observer
1970 Main Street

3rd Floor
Sarasota, FL 34236

,  941-906-9386 x322INVOICE
Legal Advertising

Attention: If you are a government agency and you believe that you qualify for a 15% discount to the second insertion of
 your notice per F.S. revision 50.061, please inform Kristen Boothroyd directly at 941-906-9386 x323.

NOTICE
The Business Observer makes every effort to ensure that its public notice advertising is accurate and in full compliance with all applicable statutes and ordinances and
that its information is correct. Nevertheless, we ask that our advertisers scrutinize published ads carefully and alert us immediately to any errors so that we may correct

them as soon as possible. We cannot accept responsibility for mistakes beyond bearing the cost of republishing advertisements that contain errors.





The total items being presented: $27,233.66

Approval of Expenditures:

__________________________________

______Chairperson

______Vice Chairperson

______Assistant Secretary

Attached please find the check register listing the Operation and Maintenance expenditures paid from 
October 1, 2025 through October 31, 2025.  This does not include expenditures previously approved 
by the Board.

District Office · Riverview, Florida · (813) 533-2950 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Operation and Maintenance Expenditures
October 2025

For Board Approval

Mailing Address – 3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200, Tampa, Florida 33614
www.channingparkcdd.org



Channing Park Community Development District

Paid Operation & Maintenance Expenditures

October 1, 2025 Through October 31, 2025

Vendor Name Check Number Invoice Number Invoice Description Invoice Amount

Channing Park Property Owners 
Association

300032 POA Maintenance 
Agreement FY24/25

POA Maintenance Agreement 
FY24/25

 $           12,000.00 

Egis Insurance Advisors, LLC 300033 29362 Policy# 100125222 10/01/2025-
10/01/2026

 $             6,126.00 

Kilinski | Van Wyk, PLLC 300036 13373 Legal Services 09/25  $                708.50 

Rizzetta & Company, Inc. 300034 INV0000103610 District Management Fees 10/25  $             2,939.16 

Rizzetta & Company, Inc. 300035 INV0000103721 Assessment Roll FY25/26  $             5,460.00 

Report Total 27,233.66$            



CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

District Office ꞏ Riverview, Florida ꞏ (813) 533-2950 
Mailing Address – 3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200, Tampa, Florida 33614 

www.channingparkcdd.org 

Check Request 

Amount:

Date:

Payable to: 

Description :  Per Maintenance Agreement 

Requestor:          Brian L'Heureux

Code To: 53900-3129 POA Maintenance Agreement 

$12,000.00

09/30/25

Channing Park Property Owners Association 
C/o Terra Management
14914 Winding Creek Ct
Tampa FL 33613

09-30-2025

PBishop
Received



From: Ruben Durand
To: Brian LHeureux
Subject: Re: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement
Date: Tuesday, September 30, 2025 2:33:35 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png
email_37d13b03-4cd9-4622-bdb2-3e6a3a37fbd4.png
phone_db3ab6a9-86a2-43ab-9f35-664caba8bc71.png
location_c55001ba-ec57-4854-a054-c2e943f62d0b.png
email_37d13b03-4cd9-4622-bdb2-3e6a3a37fbd4.png
phone_db3ab6a9-86a2-43ab-9f35-664caba8bc71.png
location_c55001ba-ec57-4854-a054-c2e943f62d0b.png

Yes

Ruben Durand
District Manager
Rizzetta & Company

RDurand@rizzetta.com

6585    Riverview

This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for the use of the
individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you have received this
electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law, certain written communications with the
sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated,
the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this
message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics
addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice. Thank you.

From: Brian LHeureux <BLHeureux@rizzetta.com>
Sent: Tuesday, September 30, 2025 2:23 PM
To: Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com>
Subject: RE: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement

Ruben,
Is the vendor name and address still
Channing Park Property Owners Association
C/O Terra Management
14914 Winding Creek Court
Tampa, FL 33613

Brian LHeureux
Staff Accountant II
Rizzetta & Company

BLHeureux@rizzetta.com

9488    Ashlyn Park

This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for the use of the
individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you have received this
electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law, certain written communications with the
sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated,
the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this
message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics
addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice. Thank you.

From: Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, September 30, 2025 2:20 PM
To: Brian LHeureux <BLHeureux@rizzetta.com>
Subject: Re: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement

No, there is no contract. We are working off the expired contract. District Counsel is aware of this. 

Ruben Durand
District Manager
Rizzetta & Company

RDurand@rizzetta.com

6585    Riverview

This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for the use of the

mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:BLHeureux@rizzetta.com
mailto:%7BE-mail%7D
mailto:%7BE-mail%7D
mailto:%7BE-mail%7D






































individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you have received this
electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law, certain written communications with the
sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated,
the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this
message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics
addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice. Thank you.

From: Brian LHeureux <BLHeureux@rizzetta.com>
Sent: Tuesday, September 30, 2025 1:47:02 PM
To: Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com>
Subject: RE: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement

Ruben,
Is there an updated contract for the POA agreement somewhere?
If we enter a check request for the $12,000 that is budgeted, the auditor will want to see one.

Brian LHeureux
Staff Accountant II
Rizzetta & Company

BLHeureux@rizzetta.com

9488    Ashlyn Park

This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for the use of the
individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you have received this
electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law, certain written communications with the
sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated,
the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this
message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics
addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice. Thank you.

From: Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com> 
Sent: Monday, September 8, 2025 11:35 AM
To: Brian LHeureux <BLHeureux@rizzetta.com>
Subject: Re: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement

No, we need to submit payment.

Ruben Durand
District Manager
Rizzetta & Company

RDurand@rizzetta.com

6585    Riverview

This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for the use of the
individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you have received this
electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law, certain written communications with the
sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated,
the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this
message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics
addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice. Thank you.

From: Brian LHeureux <BLHeureux@rizzetta.com>
Sent: Friday, September 5, 2025 9:09 AM
To: Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com>
Subject: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement

Ruben,
Should we continue to hold payment for this POA maintenance agreement for channing park? I saw it was on the budget for next year as well.

Brian LHeureux
Staff Accountant II
Rizzetta & Company

BLHeureux@rizzetta.com

9488    Ashlyn Park

This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for the use of the

mailto:BLHeureux@rizzetta.com
mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:%7BE-mail%7D
mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:BLHeureux@rizzetta.com
mailto:%7BE-mail%7D
mailto:BLHeureux@rizzetta.com
mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:%7BE-mail%7D


individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you have received this
electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law, certain written communications with the
sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated,
the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this
message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics
addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice. Thank you.

From: Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com> 
Sent: Friday, December 13, 2024 8:27 AM
To: Brian LHeureux <BLHeureux@rizzetta.com>
Cc: Matthew E. Huber <MHuber@rizzetta.com>
Subject: Fw: [EXTERNAL]Re: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement

See message below from Chairman. He doesn't want to pay it.

Ruben Durand
District Manager
813.769.6585 Ext.: 6585
rdurand@rizzetta.com
rizzetta.com

Ruben Durand
District Manager
Rizzetta & Company

RDurand@rizzetta.com

6585 Riverview

This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for the use of the
individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you have received this
electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law, certain written communications with the
sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated,
the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this
message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics
addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice. Thank you.

From: Mike Basso <mike.basso22@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, December 13, 2024 8:25:53 AM
To: Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com>
Subject: [EXTERNAL]Re: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement

NOTICE: This email originated from outside of the organization. 
Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the
content is safe. Please use the Phish Alert! button to report suspicious messages.

Hi Ruben,

No, continue to hold off. Will discuss this at January’s meeting.

Mike

On Dec 12, 2024, at 3:10 PM, Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com> wrote:

Hi Mike,

We have not submitted the quarterly payment to the POA. Last I heard from you was to hold off on the payment. Are
we okay to submit payment at this time?

Ruben Durand
District Manager

813.769.6585 Ext.: 6585
rdurand@rizzetta.com

rizzetta.com

Ruben Durand . <codetwo-

mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:BLHeureux@rizzetta.com
mailto:MHuber@rizzetta.com
mailto:rdurand@rizzetta.com
http://www.rizzetta.com/
mailto:%7BE-mail%7D
mailto:mike.basso22@gmail.com
mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:rdurand@rizzetta.com
http://www.rizzetta.com/
https://www.rizzetta.com/


.<codetwo-
icons_favicon_23d57c27-
7412-46fe-bab5-
4340c395a521.png>

.<058_line_9bae9502-
1e3a-48a3-ba5e-
34ed9cd44185.png>

District Manager icons_website_f73d61da-
c0cf-4d19-971b-

213081e6f6ee.png>
<codetwo-

icons_facebook_c8a2b2e0-
5999-4859-8842-

c3a45184cfb9.png>
<codetwo-

icons_linkedin_119a57b3-
f5e7-4143-864d-

b338279d88e6.png>
<codetwo-

icons_youtube_2a2c685a-
6c10-409b-b2e2-

704831a0685e.png>

Rizzetta & Company

813.533.2950 Ext. 6585
RDurand@rizzetta.com

<districtsbanner_ddbd469b-3492-434c-a142-e97092d15c97.png>
.

Electronic Mail Notice: Under Florida law, e-mail addresses are public records. If you do not want your e-mail address released in response to a public
records request, do not send electronic mail to this entity. Instead, contact this office by phone or in writing.

 

This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for
the use of the individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited.
If you have received this electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law,
certain written communications with the sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal
information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated, the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal
opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as
legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice.
Thank you.

From: Brian LHeureux <BLHeureux@rizzetta.com>
Sent: Thursday, December 12, 2024 2:41:28 PM
To: Ruben Durand <RDurand@rizzetta.com>
Subject: Channing Park-Quarterly maintenance agreement

Hi Ruben,
I want to make sure if the district is still paying the quarterly $3000.00 for the POA maintenance agreement. It is budgeted, just like last year, but
I want to check first.
 

 
Brian LHeureux
Staff Accountant II
Rizzetta & Company

<email_37d13b03-
4cd9-4622-bdb2-
3e6a3a37fbd4.png>

BLHeureux@rizzetta.com

<phone_db3ab6a9-
86a2-43ab-9f35-
664caba8bc71.png>

9488 <location_c55001ba-ec57-
4854-a054-c2e943f62d0b.png>
Ashlyn Park

 
This electronic message transmission and any attachments contain information from Rizzetta & Company, Inc. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is solely intended for
the use of the individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited.
If you have received this electronic transmission in error, please immediately notify us by return email or telephone at (888) 208-5008 and delete the original message. Under Florida law,
certain written communications with the sender of this message may be subject to public records disclosure requirements. Please be aware of this possibility when including personal
information in your communications. Unless specifically indicated, the contents of this electronic message and its related attachments (including forwarded messages) do not constitute a legal
opinion on behalf of the sender and/or Rizzetta & Company, Inc. Recipients of this message, whether directly addressed or not, should not rely upon or otherwise construe this message as
legal advice. The sender is not a licensed financial advisor or securities broker; any financial topics addressed herein are for informational purposes and do not constitute investing advice.
Thank you.

 

https://www.rizzetta.com/
https://www.rizzetta.com/
https://www.rizzetta.com/
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.facebook.com_RizzettaCo&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=5rhPBftIQVXTX4H5v_YRhPpTKe5g8PZD2F9EVcOoTA0&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.facebook.com_RizzettaCo&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=5rhPBftIQVXTX4H5v_YRhPpTKe5g8PZD2F9EVcOoTA0&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.facebook.com_RizzettaCo&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=5rhPBftIQVXTX4H5v_YRhPpTKe5g8PZD2F9EVcOoTA0&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.facebook.com_RizzettaCo&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=5rhPBftIQVXTX4H5v_YRhPpTKe5g8PZD2F9EVcOoTA0&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.linkedin.com_company_rizzetta-2D-26-2Dcompany&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=105vNqFXE6qs31Wcgrl_wvhZYoCcaj6pkkmcFHCJoog&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.linkedin.com_company_rizzetta-2D-26-2Dcompany&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=105vNqFXE6qs31Wcgrl_wvhZYoCcaj6pkkmcFHCJoog&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.linkedin.com_company_rizzetta-2D-26-2Dcompany&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=105vNqFXE6qs31Wcgrl_wvhZYoCcaj6pkkmcFHCJoog&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.linkedin.com_company_rizzetta-2D-26-2Dcompany&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=105vNqFXE6qs31Wcgrl_wvhZYoCcaj6pkkmcFHCJoog&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.youtube.com_-40rizzettaco&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=sd40fUOsgrwMvAguODChIUcif7Q6wjak6P-kwjlVvEk&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.youtube.com_-40rizzettaco&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=sd40fUOsgrwMvAguODChIUcif7Q6wjak6P-kwjlVvEk&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.youtube.com_-40rizzettaco&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=sd40fUOsgrwMvAguODChIUcif7Q6wjak6P-kwjlVvEk&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.youtube.com_-40rizzettaco&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=ERLX-85NkkQi-FWlSRfGiTjvV17P4TLIb84g_Qaziyc&m=PphJ1cB9LKkjPF8fh0TRyfrQnLvO3JAzXgYya2t-e-fHnH-9CJO2h0PsBbwG78Nq&s=sd40fUOsgrwMvAguODChIUcif7Q6wjak6P-kwjlVvEk&e=
mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:BLHeureux@rizzetta.com
mailto:RDurand@rizzetta.com
mailto:%7BE-mail%7D


C6D1BC02-D156-4537-AD9B-DC3984766456D6E358DF-1273-46FB-842C-115267AC30526,126.000.00 6,126.00 6,126.000.00 1 6,126.001.00 6,126.000.00 1 1 6,126.001.00 6,126.000.00
INVOICE

Channing Park Community 
Development District
681
09/16/2025

Yvette Nunez
1 of 1

$ 6,126.00

100125222
Invoice#29362

Customer

Date
Customer 
Service
Page

Payment Information
Invoice Summary
Payment Amount
Payment for:

Thank You

Please detach and return with payment

Acct #

Channing Park Community Development District
c/o Rizzetta & Company
3434 Colwell Ave, Suite 200
Tampa, FL 33614

Customer: Channing Park Community Development District

Invoice Effective Transaction Description Amount

Policy #100125222  10/01/2025-10/01/2026
Florida Insurance Alliance

10/01/2025 Renew policy29362
6,126.00Package  - Renew policy

Due Date:  9/16/2025

Total

Date

$ 6,126.00

Please Remit Payment To: 
Egis Insurance and Risk Advisors
P.O. Box 748555

09/16/2025

Thank You

Remit Payment To: Egis Insurance Advisors
P.O. Box 748555  
Atlanta, GA  30374-8555

(321)233-9939

accounting@egisadvisors.com

 

09-29-2025

$6,126.00

General Liability $3,063.00
Public Officials Liability $3,063.00

PBishop
Received



Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC
P.O. Box 6386
Tallahassee, Florida 32314

INVOICE
Invoice # 13373

Date: 10/06/2025
Due On: 11/05/2025

Channing Park CDD
5844 Old Pasco Road Suite 100
Wesley Chapel, Florida 33544

Statement of Account

Outstanding Balance New Charges Payments Received Total Amount Outstanding
( $0.00 + $708.50 ) - ( $0.00 ) = $708.50

CPACDD-01
Channing Park CDD - General

Type Attorney Date Notes Quantity Rate Total

Service LG 09/05/2025 Confer with Huber regarding payment
for maintenance contract.

0.30 $300.00 $90.00

Service LG 09/07/2025 Review revisions to temporary
construction easement and form of
County maintenance easement.

0.60 $300.00 $180.00

Service LG 09/08/2025 Advise regarding payment for POA
agreement.

0.30 $300.00 $90.00

Service CD 09/09/2025 Email to District Manager regarding
Budget Amendment.

0.10 $185.00 $18.50

Service SD 09/11/2025 Analyze communications regarding
legislative updates to Rules of
Procedure; Research District website;
Prepare Resolution Adopting
Amended Rules of Procedure, Notice
of Rulemaking and Notice of Rules
Development for Amended Rules,
Resolution Setting Public Hearing on
Amended Rules, and Amended Rules
of Procedure with 2025 Legislative
Update.

1.00 $185.00 $185.00

Page 1 of 2



Service CD 09/15/2025 Review Current Rules of Procedure'
Research website regarding October
and November meeting dates relating
to add potential Budget Amendment
and proposed Amended and Restated
Rules; Emails to and from District
Staff regarding no meetings for
remainder of 2025; Email to District
Manager.

0.40 $185.00 $74.00

Service JK 09/22/2025 Research and prepare memorandum
regarding Florida open carry law
changes and impact to District
operations and transmit same.

0.20 $355.00 $71.00

Total $708.50

Please make all amounts payable to: Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC

Please pay within 30 days.

Invoice # 13373 - 10/06/2025

Page 2 of 2

10-08-2025

PBishop
Received



Client Number

Qty Amount

INV0000103610

CHANNING PARK CDD

10/2/2025

Description Rate

Bill To:

Date Invoice #

3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

3434 Colwell Avenue
Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

Invoice Rizzetta & Company, Inc.

Terms
00620

Services for the month of
October Upon Receipt

$1,010.08 $1,010.08  1.00 Accounting Services
$273.00 $273.00  1.00 Administrative Services
$273.00 $273.00  1.00 Financial & Revenue Collections

$1,283.08 $1,283.08  1.00 Management Services
$100.00 $100.00  1.00 Website Compliance & Management

$2,939.16 

$2,939.16 

Subtotal

Total

09-29-2025

PBishop
Received



Client Number

Qty Amount

INV0000103721

CHANNING PARK CDD

10/3/2025

Description Rate

Bill To:

Date Invoice #

3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

3434 Colwell Avenue
Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

Invoice Rizzetta & Company, Inc.

Terms
00620

Services for the month of
October Upon Receipt

$5,460.00 $5,460.00  1.00 Assessment Roll (Annual)

$5,460.00 

$5,460.00 

Subtotal

Total

09-29-2025

PBishop
Received



The total items being presented: $3,389.66

Approval of Expenditures:

__________________________________

______Chairperson

______Vice Chairperson

______Assistant Secretary

Attached please find the check register listing the Operation and Maintenance expenditures paid from 
November 1, 2025 through November 30, 2025.  This does not include expenditures previously 
approved by the Board.

District Office · Riverview, Florida · (813) 533-2950 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Operation and Maintenance Expenditures
November 2025

For Board Approval

Mailing Address – 3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200, Tampa, Florida 33614
www.channingparkcdd.org



Channing Park Community Development District

Paid Operation & Maintenance Expenditures

November 1, 2025 Through November 30, 2025

Vendor Name Check Number Invoice Number Invoice Description Invoice Amount

Florida Department of Commerce 20251103-1 93063 Special District Fee for FY25-26  $                175.00 

Kilinski | Van Wyk, PLLC 300038 13520 Legal Services 10/25  $                275.50 

Rizzetta & Company, Inc. 300037 INV0000104522 District Management Fees 11/25  $             2,939.16 

Report Total 3,389.66$              



Paid Online 10/31/25







Client Number

Qty Amount

INV0000104522

CHANNING PARK CDD

11/2/2025

Description Rate

Bill To:

Date Invoice #

3434 Colwell Avenue, Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

3434 Colwell Avenue
Suite 200
Tampa FL    33614

Invoice Rizzetta & Company, Inc.

Terms
00620

Services for the month of
November Upon Receipt

$1,010.08 $1,010.08  1.00 Accounting Services
$273.00 $273.00  1.00 Administrative Services
$273.00 $273.00  1.00 Financial & Revenue Collections

$1,283.08 $1,283.08  1.00 Management Services
$100.00 $100.00  1.00 Website Compliance & Management

$2,939.16 

$2,939.16 

Subtotal

Total

10-30-2025

PBishop
Received



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tab 4 



 

1 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To: Board of Supervisors; District Staff 
 
From: Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC 
 
Date: September 1, 2025 
 
Re: Updated Provisions of the District’s Rules of Procedure 
 
 

Please find attached to this memorandum an updated version of the previously adopted 
Rules of Procedure (“Rules”). Revisions were made to maintain consistency between the Rules 
and current Florida law, including statutory changes adopted in the 2025 Legislative Session, as 
well as to facilitate greater efficiency in the operation of the District. An explanation of each 
material change to the Rules is provided below.  Minor formatting or proofreading changes are not 
summarized. Should you have any questions regarding the revisions to the Rules, please do not 
hesitate to contact your KVW attorney. 

Business Hours 

Language was added to Rules 1.0(3) and 3.11(1)(d) to clarify that the normal business 
hours of the District are 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.  

Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops 

 Language was added to Rule 1.3(1)(d) to provide an earlier deadline for individuals to 
request accommodations for meeting participation. An individual requiring special 
accommodations to participate in the meeting, hearing, or workshop must contact the office of the 
District Manager at least three (3) business days prior to the scheduled meeting, hearing, or 
workshop. 

 Language was added to Rule 1.3(3) to provide examples of what may constitute “good 
cause” to amend a meeting agenda. 

 Language was added to Rule 1.3(6) to require that the notice for an emergency meeting 
include the specific reasons for the emergency meeting. 

Notice of Rule Development 

 Rule 2.0(2) was revised to reflect the recent legislative change requiring the Notice of Rule 
Development to be published at least seven (7) days prior to the notice of rulemaking and thirty-
five (35) days prior to the public hearing on the proposed rule. Rule 2.0(2) was also revised to 
require the Notice of Rule Development to include the following: (1) the grant of rulemaking 
authority for the proposed rule and the law being implemented; and (2) the proposed rule number. 

 



 

2 
 

Notices of Rulemaking  

 Rule 2.0(3) was also revised to reflect the recent legislative changes requiring the Notice 
of Rulemaking to include the following: (1) the proposed rule number; (2) the name, email address, 
and telephone number of the staff member who may be contacted regarding the intended action; 
and (3) the website where the statement of estimated regulatory costs may be viewed in its entirety, 
if applicable.  

 Rule 2.0(3) was further revised to require any material proposed to be incorporated by 
reference be available for inspection and copying by the public at the time of publication of the 
Notice of Rulemaking and to permit the Notice of Rulemaking to be delivered electronically to all 
persons named in the proposed rule or who have requested advance notice of rulemaking. 

Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking 

 Rule 2.0(5) was revised to require the District’s Board of Supervisors to initiate rulemaking 
proceedings within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving a petition to initiate rulemaking 
proceedings, in accordance with Florida Statutes.  

Emergency Rule Adoption 

 Rule 2.0(8) was amended to permit the District’s Board of Supervisors to adopt an 
emergency rule if it is necessitated by immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare, or 
if the Legislature authorizes the Board of Supervisors to adopt emergency rules. Notice of the 
emergency rules must include the Board of Supervisors’ findings of immediate danger, necessity, 
and procedural fairness or a citation to the grant of emergency rulemaking authority. 

Rule Variances 

Rule 2.0(12)(a) was amended to include safety-related concerns as an example of a 
“substantial hardship” which could justify a rule variance.  

Competitive Purchases 

 Rule 3.0(3) was revised to incorporate the recent legislative change that prohibits the 
District from penalizing a bidder for performing a larger volume of construction work for the 
District or rewarding a bidder for performing a smaller volume of construction work for the District 
on a public works project as defined in Section 255.0992, Florida Statutes. A public works project 
is defined as “an activity that is paid for with any local or state-appropriated funds and that consists 
of the construction, maintenance, repair, renovation, remodeling, or improvement of a building, 
road, street, sewer, storm drain, water system, site development, irrigation system, reclamation 
project, gas or electrical distribution system, gas or electrical substation, or other facility, project, 
or portion thereof owned in whole or in part by any political subdivision.” A public works project 
does not include the provision of goods, services, or work incidental to the public works project, 
such as security services, janitorial services, landscape services, maintenance services, or any other 
services that do not require a construction contracting license or involve supplying or carrying 
construction materials for a public works project. 



 

3 
 

Auditor Selection Committee Notices 

Rule 3.2(6) was revised to require seven (7) days’ notice of Auditor Selection Committee 
meetings, in accordance with Florida Law regarding meeting notices.  

Purchase of Insurance 

Rule 3.3(2)(g) was amended to remove “geographic location” from the list of evaluation 
criteria for the purchase of insurance. 

Construction Contract Bids 

Rule 3.5(2)(e) was amended to clarify that mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may 
be corrected by the Board provided such corrections do not result in a material change to the bid 
amount or create an unfair advantage.  

Emergency Construction Service Purchases 

Rule 3.5(5) was amended to clarify the circumstances under which the District may 
undertake an emergency purchase of construction services.  

Bid Protests 

Rules 3.11(4) and (5) were amended to provide additional details regarding the required 
procedures for bid protests. 

Facsimile Notices, Generally 

Changes were made throughout the Rules to remove facsimile as a method of notice and 
to add electronic mail as an acceptable method of notice where permitted by law. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tab 5 



 

Quarterly Compliance Audit Report​
 

 

 

Channing Park 

​
Date: October 2025 - 3rd Quarter 
Prepared for: Matthew Huber 
Developer: Rizzetta 
Insurance agency: ​
​
 

 
Preparer:​ ​
Susan Morgan - SchoolStatus Compliance 
ADA Website Accessibility and Florida F.S. 189.069 Requirements 

 
 

 



 

Table of Contents 
 

 
 
Compliance Audit  

Overview    

     Compliance Criteria 

     ADA Accessibility 

Florida Statute Compliance 

Audit Process 

 

Audit results 

ADA Website Accessibility Requirements 

Florida F.S. 189.069 Requirements​
 

Helpful information: 

Accessibility overview 

ADA Compliance Categories 

Web Accessibility Glossary 

 

2 

2 

2 

3 

3 

 

 

4 

5 

 

 

6 

7 

11 

 

 

 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   1 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   



 

Compliance Audit Overview 
The Community Website Compliance Audit (CWCA) consists of a thorough 
assessment of Florida Community Development District (CDD) websites to assure 
that specified district information is available and fully accessible. Florida Statute 
Chapter 189.069 states that effective October, 2015, every CDD in the state is 
required to maintain a fully compliant website for reporting certain information and 
documents for public access. 
 
The CWCA is a reporting system comprised of quarterly audits and an annual 
summary audit to meet full disclosure as required by Florida law. These audits are 
designed to assure that CDDs satisfy all compliance requirements stipulated in 
Chapter 189.069.  

 

Compliance Criteria 
The CWCA focuses on the two primary areas – website accessibility as defined by 
U.S. federal laws, and the 16-point criteria enumerated in Florida Statute Chapter 
189.069.  

 

 

ADA Website Accessibility 

Several federal statutes (American Disabilities Act, Sec. 504 and 
508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973) require public institutions 
to ensure they are not discriminating against individuals on the 
basis of a person’s disability. Community websites are required to 
conform to web content accessibility guidelines – WCAG 2.1, 
which is the international standard established to keep websites 
barrier-free and the recognized standard for ADA-compliance. 

 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   2 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0189/Sections/0189.069.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0189/Sections/0189.069.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0189/Sections/0189.069.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0189/Sections/0189.069.html
https://www.w3.org/TR/WCAG21/


 

 

Florida Statute Compliance 

Pursuant to F.S. 189.069, every CDD is required to maintain a 
dedicated website to serve as an official reporting mechanism 
covering, at minimum, 16 criteria. The information required to 
report and have fully accessible spans: establishment charter or 
ordinance, fiscal year audit, budget, meeting agendas and 
minutes and more. For a complete list of statute requirements, 
see page 3. 

 

 

Audit Process 
The Community Website Compliance Audit covers all CDD web pages and linked 
PDFs.* Following the WCAG 2.1 levels A, AA, and AAA for web content accessibility, a 
comprehensive scan encompassing 312 tests is conducted for every page. In 
addition, a human inspection is conducted to assure factors such as navigation and 
color contrasts meet web accessibility standards. See page 4 for complete 
accessibility grading criteria. 
 
In addition to full ADA-compliance, the audit includes a 16-point checklist directly 
corresponding with the criteria set forth in Florida Statute Chapter 189.069. See 
page 5 for the complete compliance criteria checklist. 

 

* NOTE: Because many CDD websites have links to PDFs that contain 
information required by law (meeting agendas, minutes, budgets, 
miscellaneous and ad hoc documents, etc.), audits include an examination of 
all associated PDFs. PDF remediation and ongoing auditing is critical to 
maintaining compliance. 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   3 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0189/Sections/0189.069.html
https://www.w3.org/TR/WCAG21/


 

ADA Website Accessibility 
Result: PASSED 
 

 

Accessibility Grading Criteria 

Passed Description 

Passed Website errors*​
0 WCAG 2.1 errors appear on  website pages causing issues** 

Passed Keyboard navigation​
The ability to navigate website without using a mouse 

Passed Website accessibility policy​
A published policy and a vehicle to submit issues and resolve issues 

Passed Color contrast​
Colors provide enough contrast between elements 

Passed Video captioning​
Closed-captioning and detailed descriptions 

Passed PDF accessibility​
Formatting PDFs including embedded images and non-text elements 

Passed Site map​
Alternate methods of navigating the website 

*Errors represent less than 5% of the page count are considered passing 
**Error reporting details are available in your Campus Suite Website Accessibility dashboard 

 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   4 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   



 

Florida F.S. 189.069 Requirements 
Result: PASSED 
 

Compliance Criteria 

Passed Description 

Passed Full Name and primary contact specified 

Passed Public Purpose 

Passed Governing body Information 

Passed Fiscal Year 

Passed Full Charter (Ordinance and Establishment) Information  

Passed CDD Complete Contact Information 

Passed District Boundary map 

Passed Listing of taxes, fees, assessments imposed by CDD 

Passed Link to Florida Commission on Ethics 

Passed District Budgets (Last two years) 

Passed Complete Financial Audit Report 

Passed Listing of Board Meetings 

Passed Public Facilities Report, if applicable 

Passed Link to Financial Services 

Passed Meeting Agendas for the past year, and 1 week prior to next 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   5 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   



 

Accessibility overview 
​
Everyone deserves equal access. 
​
With nearly 1-in-5 Americans having some 
sort of disability – visual, hearing, motor, 
cognitive – there are literally millions of 
reasons why websites should be fully 
accessible and compliant with all state and 
federal laws. Web accessibility not only keeps 
board members on the right side of the law, 
but enables the entire community to access all 
your web content. The very principles that 
drive accessible website design are also good 
for those without disabilities.  

 

 
 

 

The legal and right thing to do 
​
Several federal statutes (American Disabilities 
Act, Sec. 504 and 508 of the Rehabilitation Act 
of 1973) require public institutions to ensure 
they are not discriminating against 
individuals on the basis of a person’s 
disability. Community websites are required 
to conform to web content accessibility 
guidelines, WCAG 2.1, the international 
standard established to keep websites 
barrier-free. Plain and simple, any content on 
your website must be accessible to everyone. 

 
 

 

 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   6 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   



 

ADA Compliance Categories 
 

Most of the problems that occur on a website fall in one or several of the 

following categories.  
 
 

 

Contrast and colors 
Some people have vision disabilities that hinder picking up 
contrasts, and some are color blind, so there needs to be a 
distinguishable contrast between text and background colors. This 
goes for buttons, links, text on images – everything. Consideration 
to contrast and color choice is also important for extreme lighting 
conditions. 
​
Contract checker: http://webaim.org/resources/contrastchecker 

 

Using semantics to format your HTML pages 
When web page codes are clearly described in easy-to-understand 
terms, it enables broader sharing across all browsers and apps. 
This ‘friendlier’ language not only helps all the users, but 
developers who are striving to make content more universal on 
more devices. 

 

Text alternatives for non-text content 
Written replacements for images, audio and video should provide 
all the same descriptors that the non-text content conveys. Besides 
helping with searching, clear, concise word choice can make vivid 
non-text content for the disabled.​
 
Helpful article: http://webaim.org/techniques/alttext 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   7 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   

http://webaim.org/resources/contrastchecker
http://webaim.org/techniques/alttext


 

 

Ability to navigate with the keyboard 
Not everyone can use a mouse. Blind people with many with motor 
disabilities have to use a keyboard to make their way around a 
website. Users need to be able to interact fully with your website by 
navigating using the tab, arrows and return keys only. A “skip 
navigation” option is also required. Consider using WAI-ARIA for 
improved accessibility, and properly highlight the links as you use 
the tab key to make sections. 
 
Helpful article: www.nngroup.com/articles/keyboard-accessibility 
Helpful article: http://webaim.org/techniques/skipnav 
 

 
Easy to navigate and find information 
Finding relevant content via search and easy navigation is a 
universal need. Alt text, heading structure, page titles, descriptive 
link text (no ‘click here’ please) are just some ways to help 
everyone find what they’re searching for. You must also provide 
multiple ways to navigate such as a search and a site map. 
 
Helpful article: http://webaim.org/techniques/sitetools/ 

 
Properly formatting tables 
Tables are hard for screen readers to decipher. Users need to be 
able to navigate through a table one cell at a time. In addition to the 
table itself needing a caption, row and column headers need to be 
labeled and data correctly associated with the right header. 
 
Helpful article:  http://webaim.org/techniques/tables/data 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   8 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   

https://www.w3.org/WAI/intro/aria
http://www.nngroup.com/articles/keyboard-accessibility
http://webaim.org/techniques/skipnav
http://webaim.org/techniques/sitetools/
http://webaim.org/techniques/tables/data


 

 
Making PDFs accessible 
PDF files must be tagged properly to be accessible, and 
unfortunately many are not. Images and other non-text elements 
within that PDF also need to be ADA-compliant. Creating anew is 
one thing; converting old PDFs – called PDF remediation – takes 
time. 
 
Helpful articles: http://webaim.org/techniques/acrobat/acrobat 

 
Making videos accessible 
Simply adding a transcript isn’t enough. Videos require closed 
captioning and detailed descriptions (e.g., who’s on-screen, where 
they are, what they’re doing, even facial expressions) to be fully 
accessible and ADA compliant. 
 
Helpful article: http://webaim.org/techniques/captions 

 
Making forms accessible 
Forms are common tools for gathering info and interacting. From 
logging in to registration, they can be challenging if not designed to 
be web-accessible. How it’s laid out, use of labels, size of clickable 
areas and other aspects need to be considered. 
 
Helpful article:  http://webaim.org/techniques/forms 

 
Alternate versions 
Attempts to be fully accessible sometimes fall short, and in those 
cases, alternate versions of key pages must be created. That is, it is 
sometimes not feasible (legally, technically) to modify some 
content. These are the ‘exceptions’, but still must be accommodated. 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   9 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   

http://webaim.org/techniques/acrobat/acrobat
http://webaim.org/techniques/captions
http://webaim.org/techniques/forms


 

 

Feedback for users 
To be fully interactive, your site needs to be able to provide an easy 
way for users to submit feedback on any website issues. Clarity is 
key for both any confirmation or error feedback that occurs while 
engaging the page. 

 
Other related requirements 
No flashing  
Blinking and flashing are not only bothersome, but can be 
disorienting and even dangerous for many users. Seizures can even 
be triggered by flashing, so avoid using any flashing or flickering 
content. 
​
Timers 
Timed connections can create difficulties for the disabled. They 
may not even know a timer is in effect, it may create stress. In some 
cases (e.g., purchasing items), a timer is required, but for most 
school content, avoid using them. 
 
Fly-out menus 
Menus that fly out or down when an item is clicked are helpful to 
dig deeper into the site’s content, but they need to be available via 
keyboard navigation, and not immediately snap back when those 
using a mouse move from the clickable area. 
 
No pop-ups 
Pop-up windows present a range of obstacles for many disabled 
users, so it’s best to avoid using them altogether. If you must, be 
sure to alert the user that a pop-up is about to be launched. 
 

 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   10 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   



 

Web Accessibility Glossary 
 

Assistive technology Hardware and software for disabled people that 
enable them to perform tasks they otherwise 
would not be able to perform (e..g., a screen 
reader) 

WCAG 2.0 Evolving web design guidelines established by the 
W3C that specify how to accommodate web access 
for the disabled 

504 Section of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 that 
protects civil liberties and guarantees certain 
rights of disabled people 

508 An amendment to the Rehabilitation Act that 
eliminates barriers in information technology for 
the disabled 

ADA American with Disabilities Act (1990) 

Screen reader Software technology that transforms the on-screen 
text into an audible voice. Includes tools for 
navigating/accessing web pages. 

Website accessibility Making your website fully accessible for people of 
all abilities 

W3C  World Wide Web Consortium – the international 
body that develops standards for using the web 

 

 

 Quarterly Compliance Audit Report   11 

​ ​ ​       ​ ​                                   



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tab 6 



FIRST ADDENDUM TO THE CONTRACT FOR 
 DISTRICT MANAGEMENT SERVICES  

 
 

This First Addendum to the Contract for District Management Services (this 
“Addendum”), is made and entered into as of the 1st day of October, 2025 (the “Effective 
Date”), by and between Channing Park Community Development District, a local unit 
of special purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
located in Lee County, Florida (the “District”), and Rizzetta & Company, Inc., a Florida 
corporation (the “Consultant”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 

WHEREAS, the District and the Consultant entered into the Contract for District 
Management Services dated October 1, 2024 (the “Contract”), incorporated by reference 
herein; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District and the Consultant desire to amend Exhibit B - Schedule 

of Fees section of the Contract as further described in this Addendum; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District and the Consultant each has the authority to execute this 
Addendum and to perform its obligations and duties hereunder, and each party has 
satisfied all conditions precedent to the execution of this Addendum so that this 
Addendum constitutes a legal and binding obligation of each party hereto. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 

covenants of the parties, the receipt of which and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the District and the Consultant agree to the changes to amend the 
Schedule of Fees attached. 

 
The amended Schedule of Fees are hereby ratified and confirmed. All other terms 

and conditions of the Contract remain in full force and effect. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned have executed this Addendum as of the 
Effective Date. 

 
(Remainder of this page is left blank intentionally) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2022-07-14 – RPS/SAB 



2 

2022-07-14 – RPS/SAB 

 

 

 
Therefore, the Consultant and the District each intend to enter this Addendum, 
understand the terms set forth herein, and hereby agree to those terms. 

ACCEPTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
 

RIZZETTA & COMPANY, INC. 
 

BY: 

PRINTED NAME:  William J. Rizzetta  

TITLE:  President  

DATE: Aug 8, 2025 
 

 
 
 
 

 
CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
BY: 

 

PRINTED NAME: 
 

TITLE:  Chairman/Vice Chairman  

DATE:   
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

Vice Chairman/Assistant Secretary 
Board of Supervisors 

 
 

Print Name 
 
 

Exhibit B – Schedule of Fees 



3 

2022-07-14 – RPS/SAB 

 

 

STANDARD ON-GOING SERVICES: 

Standard On-Going Services will be billed in advance monthly pursuant to the 
following schedule: 

 
Exhibit B 

Schedule of Fees 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 MONTHLY  ANNUALLY 

Management: $1,334.42 
 

$16,013 

Administrative: $283.92 
 

$3,407 

Accounting: $1,050.50 
 

$12,606 

Financial & Revenue Collections: $283.92 
 

$3,407 
Assessment Roll (1)   $5,678 

Total Standard On-Going Services: $2,952.75 
 

 

$41,111 

(1) Assessment Roll is to paid in one lump-sum upon completion. 



4 

2022-07-14 – RPS/SAB 

 

 

 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES: FREQUENCY RATE 

 
Extended and Continued Meetings Hourly $ 400 
Additional Meetings (includes meeting prep,   
attendance and drafting of minutes) Hourly $ 400 
Estoppel Requests (billed to requestor):   

One Lot (on tax roll) Per Occurrence $ 125 
Two+ Lots (on tax roll) Per Occurrence $ 150 
One Lot (direct billed by the District) Per Occurrence $ 150 
Two–Five Lots (direct billed by the District) Per Occurrence $ 200 
Six-Ten Lots (direct billed by the District) Per Occurrence $ 250 
Elevent+ Lots (direct billed by the District) Per Occurrence $ 300 

Long Term Bond Debt Payoff Requests Per Occurrence $ 150/Lot 
Two+ Lots Per Occurrence Upon Request 

Short Term Bond Debt Payoff Requests & 
Long Term Bond Debt Partial Payoff Requests 

One Lot 

 
 
Per Occurrence 

 
 

$ 150 
Two – Five Lots Per Occurrence $ 200 
Six – Ten Lots Per Occurrence $ 300 
Eleven – Fifteen Lots Per Occurrence $ 400 
Sixteen+ Lots Per Occurrence $ 500 

Bond Amortization Schedules Per Occurrence $ 600 
Special Assessment Allocation Report Per Occurrence Upon Request 
True-Up Analysis/Report Per Occurrence Upon Request 
Re-Financing Analysis Per Occurrence Upon Request 
Bond Validation Testimony Per Occurrence Upon Request 
Bond Issue Certifications/Closing Documents Per Occurrence Upon Request 
Electronic communications/E-blasts Per Occurrence Upon Request 
Special Information Requests Hourly Upon Request 
Amendment to District Boundary Hourly Upon Request 
Grant Applications Hourly Upon Request 
Escrow Agent Hourly Upon Request 
Continuing Disclosure/Representative/Agent Annually Upon Request 
Community Mailings Per Occurrence Upon Request 
Response to Extensive Public Records Requests Hourly Upon Request 
Litigation Support Services Hourly Upon Request 

 
PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS FEES: 

 
Public Records Requests will be billed hourly to the District pursuant to the current 
hourly rates shown below: 

JOB TITLE: HOURLY RATE: 
Regional Manager $ 52.00 
District Manager $ 40.00 
Accounting & Finance Staff $ 28.00 
Administrative Support Staff $ 21.00 



5 

2022-07-14 – RPS/SAB 

 

 

 
 
 
 

LITIGATION SUPPORT SERVICES: 
 

Litigation Support Services shall be billed hourly to the District pursuant to the current 
hourly rates shown below: 

JOB TITLE: HOURLY RATE: 
 

President $ 500.00 
Chief Financial Officer $ 450.00 
Vice President $ 400.00 
Controller $ 350.00 
Regional District Manager $ 300.00 
Accounting Director $ 300.00 
Finance Manager $ 300.00 
Senior District Manager $ 275.00 
District Manager $ 250.00 
Amenity Services Manager $ 250.00 
Business Development Manager $ 250.00 
Landscape Inspection Services Manager $ 250.00 
Financial Analyst $ 250.00 
Senior Accountant $ 225.00 
Landscape Specialist $ 200.00 
Administrative Support Manager $ 200.00 
Senior Financial Associate $ 200.00 
Senior Administrative Assistant $ 200.00 
Staff Accountant II $ 200.00 
District Coordinator $ 175.00 
Administrative Assistant II $ 150.00 
District Compliance Associate $ 150.00 
Staff Accountant $ 150.00 
Financial Associate $ 150.00 
Administrative Assistant $ 100.00 
Accounting Clerk $ 100.00 
Client Relations Specialist $ 100.00 



 

 

Created: 
 
By: 

Status: 

Transaction ID: 

2025-08-08 
 
Scott Brizendine (sbrizendine@rizzetta.com) 

Signed 

CBJCHBCAABAAZrD-v-SwNu_OE7PLAbtiplXbKQb-RSyy 

2025-10-01 - Channing Park CDD - First 
Addendum - Contract for District Management 
Services 
Final Audit Report 2025-08-08 

 

 
"2025-10-01 - Channing Park CDD - First Addendum - Contract f 
or District Management Services" History 

 Document created by Scott Brizendine (sbrizendine@rizzetta.com) 
2025-08-08 - 3:24:08 PM GMT 

 
 Document emailed to Bill Rizzetta (brizzetta@rizzetta.com) for signature 

2025-08-08 - 3:24:12 PM GMT 

 
 Email viewed by Bill Rizzetta (brizzetta@rizzetta.com) 

2025-08-08 - 3:26:29 PM GMT 

 
 Document e-signed by Bill Rizzetta (brizzetta@rizzetta.com) 

Signature Date: 2025-08-08 - 3:34:01 PM GMT - Time Source: server 

 
 Agreement completed. 

2025-08-08 - 3:34:01 PM GMT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

mailto:(sbrizendine@rizzetta.com
mailto:(sbrizendine@rizzetta.com
mailto:(brizzetta@rizzetta.com
mailto:(brizzetta@rizzetta.com
mailto:(brizzetta@rizzetta.com


 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tab 7 



RESOLUTION 2026-01 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CHANNING 

PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT TO DESIGNATE THE 

DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF A PUBLIC HEARING AND 

AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING AMENDED AND RESTATED RULES OF 

PROCEDURE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

WHEREAS, Channing Park Community Development District (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 

being situated entirely within Hillsborough County, Florida; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 

190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board previously adopted Rules of Procedure to govern the operation and 

administration of the District and now wishes to set a public hearing to consider amendments 

thereto. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 

SUPERVISORS OF CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT: 

 

SECTION 1.  A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Amended and Restated 

Rules of Procedure on April 16, 2026, at 4:30 p.m. at Channing Park Recreation Center, 17358 

Chelsea Downs Circle, Lithia, Florida 33547. 

 

SECTION 2.   The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in 

accordance with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 

SECTION 3.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 15th day of January 2026. 

 

ATTEST:  CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

 

_______________________________  _________________________________ 

Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

 
Exhibit A: Proposed Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure 

  



Exhibit A 

Proposed Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure 

 



 

1 

 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

  

EFFECTIVE AS OF __________________________ 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Rule  1.0 General.......................................................................................................................... 2 

Rule 1.1 Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting. ............................................... 3 

Rule 1.2  District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; 

Service Contract Requirements; Financial Disclosure Coordination. ........ 7 

Rule 1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops. ............................................ 10 

Rule 1.4 Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse .............................. 15 

Rule 2.0  Rulemaking Proceedings. ........................................................................................... 16 

Rule 3.0 Competitive Purchase. ................................................................................................ 22 

Rule 3.1 Procedure Under the Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act. ........... 27 

Rule 3.2 Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection. .................................................. 31 

Rule 3.3 Purchase of Insurance. .............................................................................. 35 

Rule 3.4 Pre-qualification ........................................................................................ 37 

Rule 3.5 Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build. .............................................. 43 

Rule 3.6 Construction Contracts, Design-Build. ..................................................... 48 

Rule 3.7  Payment and Performance Bonds. ............................................................ 53 

Rule 3.8 Goods, Supplies, and Materials. ............................................................... 54 

Rule 3.9 Maintenance Services. .............................................................................. 58 

Rule 3.10 Contractual Services. ................................................................................ 61 

Rule 3.11 Protests with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 

3.6, 3.8, and 3.9. ........................................................................................ 62 

Rule 4.0 Effective Date. ............................................................................................................ 65 



 

2 

 

Rule 1.0 General. 

 

(1) The Channing Park Community Development District (“District”) was created 

pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes, and was 

established to provide for the ownership, operation, maintenance, and provision of 

various capital facilities and services within its jurisdiction. The purpose of these 

rules (“Rules”) is to describe the general operations of the District. 

 

(2) Definitions located within any section of these Rules shall be applicable within all 

other sections, unless specifically stated to the contrary. 

 

(3) Unless specifically permitted by a written agreement with the District, the District 

does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or facsimile transmission.  

Filings are only accepted during normal business hours, which are 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 

p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding holidays. 

 

(4) A Rule of the District shall be effective upon adoption by affirmative vote of the 

District Board.  After a Rule becomes effective, it may be repealed or amended only 

through the rulemaking procedures specified in these Rules.  Notwithstanding, the 

District may immediately suspend the application of a Rule if the District 

determines that the Rule conflicts with Florida law.  In the event that a Rule 

conflicts with Florida law and its application has not been suspended by the District, 

such Rule should be interpreted in the manner that best effectuates the intent of the 

Rule while also complying with Florida law.  If the intent of the Rule absolutely 

cannot be effectuated while complying with Florida law, the Rule shall be 

automatically suspended. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

 



 

3 

 

Rule 1.1 Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting. 

 

(1) Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) shall 

consist of five (5) members. Members of the Board (“Supervisors”) appointed by 

ordinance or rule or elected by landowners must be citizens of the United States of 

America and residents of the State of Florida.  Supervisors elected or appointed by 

the Board to elector seats must be citizens of the United States of America, residents 

of the State of Florida and of the District and registered to vote with the Supervisor 

of Elections of the county in which the District is located and for those elected, 

shall also be qualified to run by the Supervisor of Elections.  The Board shall 

exercise the powers granted to the District under Florida law. 

 

(a)  Supervisors shall hold office for the term specified by Section 190.006 of 

the Florida Statutes. If, during the term of office, any Board member(s) 

vacates their office, the remaining member(s) of the Board shall fill the 

vacancies by appointment for the remainder of the term(s). If three or more 

vacancies exist at the same time, a quorum, as defined herein, shall not be 

required to appoint replacement Board members. 

 

(b)  Three (3) members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the purposes 

of conducting business, exercising powers and all other purposes.  A Board 

member shall be counted toward the quorum if physically present at the 

meeting, regardless of whether such Board member is prohibited from, or 

abstains from, participating in discussion or voting on a particular item.   

 

(c)   Action taken by the Board shall be upon a majority vote of the members 

present, unless otherwise provided in the Rules or required by law.  Subject 

to Rule 1.3(10), a Board member participating in the Board meeting by 

teleconference or videoconference shall be entitled to vote and take all other 

action as though physically present. 

 

(d)   Unless otherwise provided for by an act of the Board, any one Board 

member may attend a mediation session on behalf of the Board.  Any 

agreement resulting from such mediation session must be approved 

pursuant to subsection (1)(c) of this Rule. 

 

(2) Officers. At the first Board meeting held after each election where the newly elected 

members take office, the Board shall select a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, 

Secretary, Assistant Secretary, and Treasurer. 

 

(a)  The Chairperson must be a member of the Board.  If the Chairperson resigns 

from that office or ceases to be a member of the Board, the Board shall 

select a Chairperson.  The Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the Board.  

The Chairperson shall be authorized to execute resolutions and contracts on 

the District’s behalf.  The Chairperson shall convene and conduct all 

meetings of the Board.  In the event the Chairperson is unable to attend a 



 

4 

 

meeting, the Vice-Chairperson shall convene and conduct the meeting.  The 

Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson may delegate the responsibility of 

conducting the meeting to the District’s manager (“District Manager”) or 

District Counsel, in whole or in part. 

 

(b)  The Vice-Chairperson shall be a member of the Board and shall have such 

duties and responsibilities as specifically designated by the Board from time 

to time. The Vice-Chairperson has the authority to execute resolutions and 

contracts on the District’s behalf in the absence of the Chairperson.  If the 

Vice-Chairperson resigns from office or ceases to be a member of the 

Board, the Board shall select a Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson 

serves at the pleasure of the Board. 

 

(c)  The Secretary of the Board serves at the pleasure of the Board and need not 

be a member of the Board.  The Secretary shall be responsible for 

maintaining the minutes of Board meetings and may have other duties 

assigned by the Board from time to time.  An employee of the District 

Manager may serve as Secretary.  The Secretary shall be bonded by a 

reputable and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one 

million dollars ($1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee theft 

insurance policy, or a comparable product in at least the amount of one 

million dollars ($1,000,000) that names the District as an additional insured. 

 

(d)  The Treasurer need not be a member of the Board but must be a resident of 

the State of Florida.  The Treasurer shall perform duties described in Section 

190.007(2) and (3) of the Florida Statutes, as well as those assigned by the 

Board from time to time.  The Treasurer shall serve at the pleasure of the 

Board. The Treasurer shall either be bonded by a reputable and qualified 

bonding company in at least the amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000), 

or have in place a fidelity bond, employee theft insurance policy, or a 

comparable product in at least the amount of one million dollars 

($1,000,000) that names the District as an additional insured. 

 

(e)  In the event that both the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson are absent from 

a Board meeting and a quorum is present, the Board may designate one of 

its members or a member of District staff to convene and conduct the 

meeting.  In such circumstances, any of the Board members present are 

authorized to execute agreements, resolutions, and other documents 

approved by the Board at such meeting.  In the event that the Chairperson 

and Vice-Chairperson are both unavailable to execute a document 

previously approved by the Board, the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary 

may execute such document. 

 

(f)  The Board may assign additional duties to District officers from time to 

time, which include, but are not limited to, executing documents on behalf 

of the District. 



 

5 

 

 

(g)  The Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, and any other person authorized by 

District Resolution may sign checks and warrants for the District, 

countersigned by the Treasurer or other persons authorized by the Board. 

 

(3) Committees. The Board may establish committees of the Board, either on a 

permanent or temporary basis, to perform specifically designated functions. 

Committees may include individuals who are not members of the Board.  Such 

functions may include, but are not limited to, review of bids, proposals, and 

qualifications, contract negotiations, personnel matters, and budget preparation.  

Florida Open Meetings Laws apply to such Committees. 

 

(4) Record Book. The Board shall keep a permanent record book entitled “Record of 

Proceedings,” in which shall be recorded minutes of all meetings, resolutions, 

proceedings, certificates, and corporate acts.  The Records of Proceedings shall be 

located at a District office and shall be available for inspection by the public.   

 

(5) Meetings. For each fiscal year, the Board shall establish a schedule of regular 

meetings, which shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

county in which the District is located and filed with the local general-purpose 

governments within whose boundaries the District is located.  All meetings of the 

Board and Committees serving an advisory function shall be open to the public in 

accordance with the provisions of Chapter 286 of the Florida Statutes.   

 

(6) Voting Conflict of Interest.  The Board shall comply with Section 112.3143 of the 

Florida Statutes, so as to ensure the proper disclosure of conflicts of interest on 

matters coming before the Board for a vote.  For the purposes of this section, 

"voting conflict of interest" shall be governed by the Florida Constitution and 

Chapters 112 and 190 of the Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time.  

Generally, a voting conflict exists when a Board member is called upon to vote on 

an item which would inure to the Board member’s special private gain or loss or 

the Board member knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of a 

principal by whom the Board member is retained, the parent organization or 

subsidiary of a corporate principal, a business associate, or a relative including only 

a father, mother, son, daughter, husband, wife, brother, sister, father-in-law, 

mother-in-law, son-in-law, and daughter-in-law. 

 

(a)  When a Board member knows the member has a conflict of interest on a 

matter coming before the Board, the member should notify the Board’s 

Secretary prior to participating in any discussion with the Board on the 

matter.  The Board member shall publicly announce the conflict of interest 

at the meeting.  This announcement shall appear in the minutes.   

 

  If the Board member was elected at a landowner’s election or appointed to 

fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner’s election, the Board 

member may vote or abstain from voting on the matter at issue.  If the Board 



 

6 

 

member was elected by electors residing within the District, the Board 

member is prohibited from voting on the matter at issue.  In the event that 

the Board member intends to abstain or is prohibited from voting, such 

Board member shall not participate in the discussion on the item subject to 

the vote. 

  

  The Board’s Secretary shall prepare a Memorandum of Voting Conflict 

(Form 8B) which shall then be signed by the Board member, filed with the 

Board’s Secretary, and provided for attachment to the minutes of the 

meeting within fifteen (15) days of the meeting.    

 

(b)  If a Board member inadvertently votes on a matter and later learns he or she 

has a conflict on the matter, the member shall immediately notify the 

Board’s Secretary. Within fifteen (15) days of the notification, the member 

shall file the appropriate Memorandum of Voting Conflict, which will be 

attached to the minutes of the Board meeting during which the vote on the 

matter occurred. The Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall immediately 

be provided to other Board members and shall be read publicly at the next 

meeting held subsequent to the filing of the Memorandum of Voting 

Conflict.  The Board member’s vote is unaffected by this filing. 

 

(c)  It is not a conflict of interest for a Board member, the District Manager, or 

an employee of the District to be a stockholder, officer or employee of a 

landowner or of an entity affiliated with a landowner.   

 

(d)  In the event that a Board member elected at a landowner’s election or 

appointed to fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner’s election, has 

a continuing conflict of interest, such Board member is permitted to file a 

Memorandum of Voting Conflict at any time in which it shall state the 

nature of the continuing conflict.  Only one such continuing Memorandum 

of Voting Conflict shall be required to be filed for each term the Board 

member is in office. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 112.3143, 190.006, 190.007, Fla. Stat. 

 



 

7 

 

Rule 1.2  District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; 

Service Contract Requirements; Financial Disclosure Coordination. 

 

(1) District Offices.  Unless otherwise designated by the Board, the official District 

office shall be the District Manager’s office identified by the District Manager.  If 

the District Manager’s office is not located within the county in which the District 

is located, the Board shall designate a local records office within such county which 

shall at a minimum contain, but not be limited to, the following documents: 

 

 (a)  Agenda packages for prior twenty-four (24) months and next meeting; 

 

 (b)  Official minutes of meetings, including adopted resolutions of the Board; 

 

 (c)  Names and addresses of current Board members and District Manager, 

unless such addresses are protected from disclosure by law; 

 

 (d)  Adopted engineer’s reports; 

 

 (e)  Adopted assessment methodologies/reports; 

 

 (f)  Adopted disclosure of public financing; 

 

 (g)  Limited Offering Memorandum for each financing undertaken by the 

District; 

 

 (h)  Proceedings, certificates, bonds given by all employees, and any and all 

corporate acts; 

 

 (i)  District policies and rules; 

 

 (j) Fiscal year end audits; and 

 

 (k) Adopted budget for the current fiscal year. 

 

 The District Manager shall ensure that each District records office contains the 

documents required by Florida law. 

 

(2) Public Records.  District public records include, but are not limited to, all 

documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound 

recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical 

form, characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received in connection 

with the transaction of official business of the District. All District public records 

not otherwise restricted by law may be copied or inspected at the District Manager’s 

office during regular business hours.  Certain District records can also be inspected 

and copied at the District’s local records office during regular business hours.  All 

written public records requests shall be directed to the Secretary who by these rules 



 

8 

 

is appointed as the District’s records custodian.  Regardless of the form of the 

request, any Board member or staff member who receives a public records request 

shall immediately forward or communicate such request to the Secretary for 

coordination of a prompt response.  The Secretary, after consulting with District 

Counsel as to the applicability of any exceptions under the public records laws, 

shall be responsible for responding to the public records request.  At no time can 

the District be required to create records or summaries of records, or prepare 

opinions regarding District policies, in response to a public records request. 

 

(3)  Service Contracts.  Any contract for services, regardless of cost, shall include 

provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public records 

laws.  The District Manager shall be responsible for initially enforcing all contract 

provisions related to a contractor’s duty to comply with public records laws. 

 

(4) Fees; Copies. Copies of public records shall be made available to the requesting 

person at a charge of $0.15 per page for one-sided copies and $0.20 per page for 

two-sided copies if not more than 8 ½ by 14 inches.  For copies of public records 

in excess of the sizes listed in this section and for outside duplication services, the 

charge shall be equal to the actual cost of reproduction. Certified copies of public 

records shall be made available at a charge of one dollar ($1.00) per page. If the 

nature or volume of records requested requires extensive use of information 

technology resources or extensive clerical or supervisory assistance, the District 

may charge, in addition to the duplication charge, a special service charge that is 

based on the cost the District incurs to produce the records requested.  This charge 

may include, but is not limited to, the cost of information technology resource, 

employee labor, and fees charged to the District by consultants employed in 

fulfilling the request.  In cases where the special service charge is based in whole 

or in part on the costs incurred by the District due to employee labor, consultant 

fees, or other forms of labor, those portions of the charge shall be calculated based 

on the lowest labor cost of the individual(s) who is/are qualified to perform the 

labor, taking into account the nature andor volume of the public records to be 

inspected or copied. The charge may include the labor costs of supervisory and/or 

clerical staff whose assistance is required to complete the records request, in 

accordance with Florida law.  For purposes of this Rule, the word “extensive” shall 

mean that it will take more than 15 minutes to locate, review for confidential 

information, copy and re-file the requested material.  In cases where extensive 

personnel time is determined by the District to be necessary to safeguard original 

records being inspected, the special service charge provided for in this section shall 

apply.  If the total fees, including but not limited to special service charges, are 

anticipated to exceed twenty-five dollars ($25.00), then, prior to commencing work 

on the request, the District will inform the person making the public records request 

of the estimated cost, with the understanding that the final cost may vary from that 

estimate.  If the person making the public records request decides to proceed with 

the request, payment of the estimated cost is required in advance. Should the person 

fail to pay the estimate, the District is under no duty to produce the requested 

records.  After the request has been fulfilled, additional payments or credits may be 



 

9 

 

due. The District is under no duty to produce records in response to future records 

requests if the person making the request owes the District for past unpaid 

duplication charges, special service charges, or other required payments or credits. 

 

(5) Records Retention.  The Secretary of the District shall be responsible for retaining 

the District’s records in accordance with applicable Florida law. 

 

(6) Policies.  The Board may adopt policies related to the conduct of its business and 

the provision of services either by resolution or motion.   

 

(7) Financial Disclosure Coordination.  Unless specifically designated by Board 

resolution otherwise, the Secretary shall serve as the Financial Disclosure 

Coordinator (“Coordinator”) for the District as required by the Florida Commission 

on Ethics (“Commission”).  The Coordinator shall create, maintain and update a 

list of the names, e-mail addresses, physical addresses, and names of the agency of, 

and the office or position held by, all Supervisors and other persons required by 

Florida law to file a statement of financial interest due to theihis or her affiliation 

with the District (“Reporting Individual”).  The Coordinator shall provide this list 

to the Commission by February 1 of each year, which list shall be current as of 

December 31 of the prior year.  Each Supervisor and Reporting Individual shall 

promptly notify the Coordinator in writing if there are any changes to such person’s 

name, e-mail address, or physical address. Each Supervisor and Reporting 

Individual shall promptly notify the Commission in the manner prescribed by the 

Commission if there are any changes to such person’s e-mail address. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 112.31446(3), 112.3145(8)(a)1., 119.07, 119.0701, 190.006, Fla. Stat. 



 

10 

 

Rule 1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops. 

 

(1) Notice. Except in emergencies, or as otherwise required by statute or these Rules, 

at least seven (7) days’, but no more than thirty (30) days public notice shall be 

given of any public meeting, hearing or workshop of the Board. Public notice shall 

be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the District and in 

the county in which the District is located.  “General circulation” means a 

publication that is printed and published at least once a week for the preceding year, 

offering at least 25% of its words in the English language, qualifies as a periodicals 

material for postal purposes in the county in which the District is located, is for sale 

to the public generally, is available to the public generally for the publication of 

official or other notices, and is customarily containing information of a public 

character or of interest or of value to the residents or owners of property in the 

county where published, or of interest or of value to the general public.  The annual 

meeting notice required to be published by Section 189.015 of the Florida Statutes, 

shall be published in a newspaper not of limited subject matter, which is published 

at least five days a week, unless the only newspaper in the county is published less 

than five days a week, and shall satisfy the requirement to give at least seven (7) 

days’ public notice stated herein. Each Notice shall state, as applicable: 

 

(a)  The date, time and place of the meeting, hearing or workshop; 

 

(b)  A brief description of the nature, subjects, and purposes of the meeting, 

hearing, or workshop; 

 

(c)  The District office address for the submission of requests for copies of the 

agenda, as well as a contact name and telephone number for verbal requests 

for copies of the agenda; and 

 

(d)  The following or substantially similar language: “Pursuant to provisions of 

the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting/hearing/workshop is asked 

to advise the District Office at least forty-eight (48) hoursthree (3) business 

days before the meeting/hearing/workshop by contacting the District 

Manager at Matthew Huber, mhuber@rizzetta.com, Rizzetta & Company, 

Inc., 2700 S. Falkenburg Road, Suite 2745, Riverview, Florida 33578, (813) 

533-2950 . If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida 

Relay Service at 1 (800) 955-8770 or 1 (800) 955-8771, who can aid you in 

contacting the District Office.” 

 

(e)  The following or substantially similar language: “A person who decides to 

appeal any decision made at the meeting/hearing/workshop with respect to 

any matter considered at the meeting/hearing/workshop is advised that 

person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the 

person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made 

including the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.” 



 

11 

 

 

(f)  The following or substantially similar language: “The meeting [or hearing 

or workshop] may be continued in progress without additional notice to a 

time, date, and location stated on the record.” 

 

The date, time, and place of each meeting, hearing, or workshop of the Board shall 

additionally be posted on the District’s website at least seven (7) days before each 

meeting, hearing, or workshop. 

 

 (2) Mistake.  In the event that a meeting is held under the incorrect assumption that 

notice required by law and these Rules has been given, the Board at its next properly 

noticed meeting shall cure such defect by considering the agenda items from the 

prior meeting individually and anew.   

 

(3) Agenda. The District Manager, under the guidance of District Counsel and the 

Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson, shall prepare an agenda of the 

meeting/hearing/workshop.  The agenda and any meeting materials available in an 

electronic format, excluding any confidential and any confidential and exempt 

information, shall be available to the public at least seven days before the 

meeting/hearing/workshop, except in an emergency.  Meeting materials shall be 

defined as, and limited to, the agenda, meeting minutes, resolutions, and 

agreements of the District that District staff deems necessary for Board approval 

(“Meeting Materials”). Inclusion of additional materials for Board consideration 

other than those defined herein as “meeting materials” shall not convert such 

materials into Meeting Materials.“meeting materials.” For good cause, which 

includes but is not limited to emergency situations, time-sensitive matters, or newly 

discovered information essential for Board consideration, the agenda may be 

changed after it is first made available for distribution, and additional materials may 

be added or provided under separate cover at the meeting.  The requirement of good 

cause shall be liberally construed to allow the District to efficiently conduct 

business and to avoid the expenses associated with special meetings. 

 

The District may, but is not required to, use the following format, or similar format, 

in preparing its agenda for its regular meetings: 

 

Call to order 

Roll call 

Public comment 

Organizational matters 

Review of minutes 

Specific items of old business 

Specific items of new business 

Staff reports 

(a)  District Counsel 

(b)  District Engineer 

(c)  District Manager 



 

12 

 

1.  Financial Report 

2.  Approval of Expenditures 

Supervisor’s requests and comments 

Public comment 

Adjournment 

 

(4) Minutes. The Secretary shall be responsible for preparing and keeping the minutes 

of each meeting of the Board. Minutes shall be corrected and approved by the Board 

at a subsequent meeting.  The Secretary may work with other staff members in 

preparing draft minutes for the Board’s consideration. 

 

(5) Special Requests.  Persons wishing to receive, by mail, notices or agendas of 

meetings, may so advise the District Manager or Secretary at the District Office. 

Such persons shall furnish a mailing address in writing and shall be required to pre-

pay the cost of the copying and postage. 

 

(6) Emergency Meetings. The Chairperson, or Vice-Chairperson if the Chairperson is 

unavailable, upon consultation with the District Manager and District Counsel, if 

available, may convene an emergency meeting of the Board without first having 

complied with sections (1) and (3) of this Rule, to act on emergency matters that 

may affect the public health, safety, or welfare.  Whenever possible, the District 

Manager shall make reasonable efforts to provide public notice and notify all Board 

members of an emergency meeting twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  Reasonable 

efforts may include telephone notification.  Notice of the emergency meeting must 

be provided both before and after the meeting on the District’s website, including 

the specific reasons for the emergency meeting.  Whenever an emergency meeting 

is called, the District Manager shall be responsible for notifying at least one 

newspaper of general circulation in the District. After an emergency meeting, the 

Board shall publish in a newspaper of general circulation in the District, the time, 

date and place of the emergency meeting, the reasons why an emergency meeting 

was necessary, and a description of the action taken.  Actions taken at an emergency 

meeting may be ratified by the Board at a regularly noticed meeting subsequently 

held. 

 

(7) Public Comment. The Board shall set aside a three (3) minutes per person, unless 

extended or reduced by the Chairperson based on the number of speakers and 

meeting agenda and other reasonable factors reasonable amount of time at each 

meeting for public comment and members of the public shall be permitted to 

provide comment on any proposition before the Board.  The portion of the meeting 

generally reserved for public comment shall be identified in the agenda.  Policies 

governing public comment may be adopted by the Board in accordance with Florida 

law. 

 

(8) Budget Hearing. Notice of hearing on the annual budget(s) shall be in accord with 

Section 190.008 of the Florida Statutes.  Once adopted in accord with Section 

190.008 of the Florida Statutes, the annual budget(s) may be amended from time to 



 

13 

 

time by action of the Board.  Approval of invoices by the Board in excess of the 

funds allocated to a particular budgeted line item shall serve to amend the budgeted 

line item.  

 

(9) Public Hearings.  Notice of required public hearings shall contain the information 

required by applicable Florida law and by these Rules applicable to meeting notices 

and shall be mailed and published as required by Florida law.  The District Manager 

shall ensure that all such notices, whether mailed or published, contain the 

information required by Florida law and these Rules and are mailed and published 

as required by Florida law.  Public hearings may be held during Board meetings 

when the agenda includes such public hearing. 

 

 (10) Participation by Teleconference/Videoconference.  District staff may participate in 

Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference.  Board members may also 

participate in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference if in the good 

judgment of the Board extraordinary circumstances exist; provided however, at 

least three Board members must be physically present at the meeting location to 

establish a quorum.  Such extraordinary circumstances shall be presumed when a 

Board member participates by teleconference or videoconference, unless a majority 

of the Board members physically present determines that extraordinary 

circumstances do not exist. Extraordinary circumstances may include, but are not 

limited to, illness, family emergencies, or other significant schedule conflicts which 

prevent in-person meeting attendance. 

 

 (11) Board Authorization.  The District has not adopted Robert’s Rules of Order.  For 

each agenda item, there shall be discussion permitted among the Board members 

during the meeting.  Unless such procedure is waived by the Board, approval or 

disapproval of resolutions and other proposed Board actions shall be in the form of 

a motion by one Board member, a second by another Board member, an opportunity 

for final board discussion and an affirmative vote by the majority of the Board 

members present.  Any Board member, including the Chairperson, can make or 

second a motion. 

 

(12) Continuances. Any meeting or public hearing of the Board may be continued 

without re-notice or re-advertising provided that: 

 

(a) The Board identifies on the record at the original meeting a reasonable need 

for a continuance; 

 

(b) The continuance is to a specified date, time, and location publicly 

announced at the original meeting; and 

 

(c) The public notice for the original meeting states that the meeting may be 

continued to a date and time and states that the date, time, and location of 

any continuance shall be publicly announced at the original meeting and 

posted at the District Office immediately following the original meeting. 



 

14 

 

 

(13) Attorney-Client Sessions.  An Attorney-Client Session is permitted when the 

District’s attorneys deem it necessary to meet in private with the Board to discuss 

pending litigation to which the District is a party before a court or administrative 

agency or as may be authorized by law. The District’s attorney must request such 

session at a public meeting. Prior to holding the Attorney-Client Session, the 

District must give reasonable public notice of the time and date of the session and 

the names of the persons anticipated to attend the session. The session must 

commence at an open meeting in which the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson 

announces the commencement of the session, the estimated length of the session, 

and the names of the persons who will be attending the session.  The discussion 

during the session is confined to settlement negotiations or strategy related to 

litigation expenses or as may be authorized by law.  Only the Board, the District’s 

attorneys (including outside counsel), the District Manager, and the court reporter 

may attend an Attorney-Client Session.  During the session, no votes may be taken 

and no final decisions concerning settlement can be made.  Upon the conclusion of 

the session, the public meeting is reopened, and the Chairperson or Vice-

Chairperson must announce that the session has concluded.  The session must be 

transcribed by a court-reporter and the transcript of the session filed with the 

District Secretary within a reasonable time after the session.  The transcript shall 

not be available for public inspection until after the conclusion of the litigation.  

 

(14) Security and Fire safety Board Discussions. Portions of a meeting which relate to 

or would reveal a security or fire safety system plan or portion thereof made 

confidential and exempt by section 119.071(3)(a), Florida Statutes, are exempt 

from the public meeting requirements and other requirements of section 286.011, 

Florida Statutes, and section 24(b), Article 1 of the State Constitution. Should the 

Board wish to discuss such matters, members of the public shall be required to leave 

the meeting room during such discussion. Any records of the Board’s discussion of 

such matters, including recordings or minutes, shall be maintained as confidential 

and exempt records in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 189.069(2)(a)16, 190.006, 190.007, 190.008, 286.0105, 286.011, 286.0113, 286.0114, Fla. Stat. 



 

15 

 

Rule 1.4 Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse 

 

(1) Internal Controls.  The District shall establish and maintain internal controls 

designed to: 

 

(a) Prevent and detect “fraud,” “waste” and “abuse” as those terms are 

defined in section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; and 

(b) Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules 

contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; and 

(c) Support economical and efficient operations; and 

(d) Ensure reliability of financial records and reports; and 

(e) Safeguard assets. 

 

(2) Adoption.  The internal controls to prevent fraud, waste and abuse shall be 

adopted and amended by the District in the same manner as District policies.  

 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  § 218.33(3), Fla. Stat. 

 



 

16 

 

Rule 2.0  Rulemaking Proceedings.   

 

(1) Commencement of Proceedings.  Proceedings held for adoption, amendment, or 

repeal of a District rule shall be conducted according to these Rules.  Rulemaking 

proceedings shall be deemed to have been initiated upon publication of notice by 

the District. A “rule” is a District statement of general applicability that 

implements, interprets, or prescribes law or policy, or describes the procedure or 

practice requirements of the District (“Rule”).  Nothing herein shall be construed 

as requiring the District to consider or adopt rules unless required by Chapter 190 

of the Florida Statutes.  Policies adopted by the District which do not consist of 

rates, fees, rentals or other monetary charges may be, but are not required to be, 

implemented through rulemaking proceedings. 

 

(2) Notice of Rule Development. 

 

(a)  Except when the intended action is the repeal of a Rule, the District shall 

provide notice of the development of a proposed rule by publication of a 

Notice of Rule Development in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

District before providing notice of a proposed rule as required by section (3) 

of this Rule.  Consequently, the Notice of Rule Development shall be 

published at least twenty-nine (29) at least seven (7) days before the notice 

of rulemaking described in Section 2.0(3), infra., and at least thirty-five (35) 

days prior to the public hearing on the proposed rule.  The Notice of Rule 

Development shall indicate the subject area to be addressed by rule 

development, provide a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of 

the proposed rule, cite the specific legal authority for the proposed rule grant 

of rulemaking authority for the proposed rule and law being implemented, 

include the proposed rule number, and include a statement of how a person 

may promptly obtain, without cost, a copy of any preliminary draft, if 

available. 

 

    (b) All rules as drafted shall be consistent with Sections 120.54(1)(g) and 

120.54(2)(b) of the Florida Statutes. 

 

(3) Notice of Proceedings and Proposed Rules. 

 

(a) Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of any rule other than an 

emergency rule, the District shall give notice of its intended action, setting 

forthincluding: a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of the 

proposed action, the proposed rule number (if applicable), a reference to the 

specific rulemaking authority pursuant to which the rule is adopted, and a 

reference to the section or subsection of the Florida Statutes being 

implemented, interpreted, or made specific, and the name, e-mail address, 

and telephone number of the staff member who may be contacted regarding 

the intended action.  The notice shall include a summary of the District’s 

statement of the estimated regulatory costs and the website address where 



 

17 

 

the complete statement of estimated regulatory costs may be viewed, if such 

a statement has been prepared pursuant ton its entirety, if one has been 

prepared, based on the factors set forth in Section 120.541(2), of the Florida 

Statutes, and a statement that any person who wishes to provide the District 

with a lower cost regulatory alternative as provided by Section 120.541(1), 

must do so in writing within twenty-one (21) days after publication of the 

notice.  The notice shall additionally include a statement that any affected 

person may request a public hearing by submitting a written request within 

twenty-one (21) days after the date of publication of the notice.  Except 

when intended action is the repeal of a rule, the notice shall include a 

reference to both the date on which and the place where the Notice of Rule 

Development required by section (2) of this Rule appeared. 

 

(b) The notice shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

District and each county in which the District is located not less than twenty-

eight (28) days prior to the intended action. The proposed rule and any 

material proposed to be incorporated by reference shall be available for 

inspection and copying by the public at the time of the publication of notice. 

 

(c) The notice shall be mailed, or delivered electronically to all persons named 

in the proposed rule and to all persons who, at least fourteen (14) days prior 

to such mailing publication of the notice, have made requests of the District 

for advance notice of its rulemaking proceedings.  Any person may file a 

written request with the District Manager to receive notice by mail of 

District proceedings to adopt, amend, or repeal a rule.  Such persons must 

furnish a mailing address and may be required to pay the cost of copying 

and mailing.   

 

(4) Rule Development Workshops.  Whenever requested in writing by any affected 

person, the District must either conduct a rule development workshop prior to 

proposing rules for adoption or the Chairperson must explain in writing why a 

workshop is unnecessary.  The District may initiate a rule development workshop 

but is not required to do so. 

 

(5) Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking.  All Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking proceedings 

must contain the name, address, and telephone number of the petitioner, the specific 

action requested, the specific reason for adoption, amendment, or repeal, the date 

submitted, the text of the proposed rule, and the facts showing that the petitioner is 

regulated by the District or has a substantial interest in the rulemaking.  Not later 

than sixty (60)thirty (30) calendar days following the date of filing a petition, the 

Board shall initiate rulemaking proceedings or deny the petition with a written 

statement of its reasons for the denial.  If the petition is directed to an existing policy 

that the District has not formally adopted as a rule, the District may, in its discretion, 

notice and hold a public hearing on the petition to consider the comments of the 

public directed to the policy, its scope and application, and to consider whether the 

public interest is served adequately by the application of the policy on a case-by-



 

18 

 

case basis, as contrasted with its formal adoption as a rule.  However, this section 

shall not be construed as requiring the District to adopt a rule to replace a policy. 

 

(6) Rulemaking Materials.  After the publication of the notice referenced in section (3) 

of this Rule, the Board shall make available for public inspection and shall provide, 

upon request and payment of the cost of copies, the following materials: 

 

(a) The text of the proposed rule, or any amendment or repeal of any existing 

rules; 

 

(b) A detailed written statement of the facts and circumstances justifying the   

 proposed rule; 

 

  (c) A copy of the statement of estimated regulatory costs if required by Section 

120.541 of the Florida Statutes; and 

 

(d) The published notice. 

 

(7) Hearing.  The District may, or, upon the written request of any affected person 

received within twenty-one (21) days after the date of publication of the notice 

described in section (3) of this Rule, shall, provide a public hearing for the 

presentation of evidence, argument, and oral statements, within the reasonable 

conditions and limitations imposed by the District to avoid duplication, irrelevant 

comments, unnecessary delay, or disruption of the proceedings.  The District shall 

publish notice of the public hearing in a newspaper of general circulation within the 

District either in the text of the notice described in section (3) of this Rule or in a 

separate publication at least seven (7) days before the scheduled public hearing.  The 

notice shall specify the date, time, and location of the public hearing, and the name, 

address, and telephone number of the District contact person who can provide 

information about the public hearing. Written statements may be submitted by any 

person prior to or at the public hearing.  All timely submitted written statements 

shall be considered by the District and made part of the rulemaking record. 

 

(8) Emergency Rule Adoption.  The Board may adopt an emergency rule if it finds that 

it is necessitated by immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare exists 

which requires immediate action, or if the Legislature authorizes the Board to adopt 

emergency rules. Prior to the adoption of an emergency rule, the District Manager 

shall make reasonable efforts to notify a newspaper of general circulation in the 

District. Notice of the emergency rules together with the Board’s findings of 

immediate danger, necessity, and procedural fairness or a citation to the grant of 

emergency rulemaking authority  shall be published as soon as possible in a 

newspaper of general circulation in the District.  The District may use any 

procedure which is fair under the circumstances in the adoption of an emergency 

rule provided that such procedureas long as it protects the public interest and 

complies with applicable law ands determined by the District and otherwise 

complies with these provisions. 



 

19 

 

 

(9) Negotiated Rulemaking.  The District may use negotiated rulemaking in developing 

and adopting rules pursuant to Section 120.54(2)(d) of the Florida Statutes, except 

that any notices required under Section 120.54(2)(d) of the Florida Statutes, may 

be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the 

District is located. 

 

(10) Rulemaking Record.  In all rulemaking proceedings, the District shall compile and 

maintain a rulemaking record.  The record shall include, if applicable: 

 

 (a) The texts of the proposed rule and the adopted rule;  

 

 (b) All notices given for a proposed rule;  

 

 (c) Any statement of estimated regulatory costs for the rule;  

 

 (d) A written summary of hearings, if any, on the proposed rule;  

 

 (e) All written comments received by the District and responses to those written 

comments; and 

 

 (f) All notices and findings pertaining to an emergency rule. 

 

 (11)  Petitions to Challenge Existing Rules.   

 

  (a)   Any person substantially affected by a rule may seek an administrative 

determination of the invalidity of the rule on the ground that the rule is an 

invalid exercise of the District’s authority.  

(b)   The petition seeking an administrative determination must state with 

particularity the provisions alleged to be invalid with sufficient explanation 

of the facts or grounds for the alleged invalidity and facts sufficient to show 

that the person challenging a rule is substantially affected by it.  

(c)   The petition shall be filed with the District. Within ten (10) days after 

receiving the petition, the Chairperson shall, if the petition complies with 

the requirements of subsection (b) of this section, designate any member of 

the Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, 

or other qualified person as a hearing officer who shall conduct a hearing 

within thirty (30) days thereafter, unless the petition is withdrawn or a 

continuance is granted by agreement of the parties.  The failure of the 

District to follow the applicable rulemaking procedures or requirements in 

this Rule shall be presumed to be material; however, the District may rebut 

this presumption by showing that the substantial interests of the petitioner 

and the fairness of the proceedings have not been impaired.  



 

20 

 

(d)   Within thirty (30) days after the hearing, the hearing officer shall render a 

decision and state the reasons therefor in writing.   

(e)   Hearings held under this section shall be de novo in nature. The petitioner 

has a burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the existing 

rule is an invalid exercise of District authority as to the objections raised. 

The hearing officer may: 

   (i) Administer oaths and affirmations; 

 

   (ii) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence; 

 

   (iii) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing 

matters; 

 

   (iv) Enter orders; and 

 

   (v) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment. 

(f) The petitioner and the District shall be adverse parties. Other substantially 

affected persons may join the proceedings as intervenors on appropriate 

terms which shall not unduly delay the proceedings.  

(12) Variances and Waivers.  A “variance” means a decision by the District to grant a 

modification to all or part of the literal requirements of a rule to a person who is 

subject to the rule.  A “waiver” means a decision by the District not to apply all or 

part of a rule to a person who is subject to the rule.  Variances and waivers from 

District rules may be granted subject to the following: 

 

 (a)  Variances and waivers shall be granted when the person subject to the rule 

demonstrates that the purpose of the underlying statute will be or has been 

achieved by other means by the person, and when application of the rule 

would create a substantial hardship or would violate principles of fairness. 

For purposes of this section, "substantial hardship" means a demonstrated 

economic, technological, legal, safety-related, or other significantor other 

type of hardship to the person requesting the variance or waiver. For 

purposes of this section, "principles of fairness" are violated when the literal 

application of a rule affects a particular person in a manner significantly 

different from the way it affects other similarly situated persons who are 

subject to the rule. 

 

 (b)  A person who is subject to regulation by a District Rule may file a petition 

with the District, requesting a variance or waiver from the District’s Rule. 

Each petition shall specify:  

 

  (i)  The rule from which a variance or waiver is requested; 



 

21 

 

 

  (ii)  The type of action requested; 

 

 (iii)  The specific facts that would justify a waiver or variance for the 

petitioner; and 

 

 (iv)   The reason why the variance or the waiver requested would serve 

the purposes of the underlying statute.  

 

(c)  The District shall review the petition and may request only that information 

needed to clarify the petition or to answer new questions raised by or 

directly related to the petition. If the petitioner asserts that any request for 

additional information is not authorized by law or by Rule of the District, 

the District shall proceed, at the petitioner’s written request, to process the 

petition. 

 

(d)  The Board shall grant or deny a petition for variance or waiver and shall 

announce such disposition at a publicly held meeting of the Board, within 

ninety (90) days after receipt of the original petition, the last item of timely 

requested additional material, or the petitioner's written request to finish 

processing the petition. The District’s statement granting or denying the 

petition shall contain a statement of the relevant facts and reasons 

supporting the District's action. 

 

(13)  Rates, Fees, Rentals and Other Charges.  All rates, fees, rentals, or other charges 

shall be subject to rulemaking proceedings.  Policies adopted by the District which 

do not consist of rates, fees, rentals or other charges may be, but are not required to 

be, implemented through rulemaking proceedings.   

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.035, Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 120.54, 190.011(5), 190.035(2), Fla. Stat. 

 



 

22 

 

Rule 3.0 Competitive Purchase. 

 

(1)  Purpose and Scope.  In order to comply with Sections 190.033(1) through (3), 

287.055 and 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, the following provisions shall apply 

to the purchase of Professional Services, insurance, construction contracts, design-

build services, goods, supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and 

maintenance services. 

 

 (2) Board Authorization.  Except in cases of an Emergency Purchase, a competitive 

purchase governed by these Rules shall only be undertaken after authorization by 

the Board. 

 

(3)  Definitions. 

 

(a) “Competitive Solicitation” means a formal, advertised procurement 

process, other than an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, or Invitation 

to Negotiate, approved by the Board to purchase commodities and/or 

services which affords vendors fair treatment in the competition for award 

of a District purchase contract. 

 

(b) “Continuing Contract” means a contract for Professional Services entered 

into in accordance with Section 287.055 of the Florida Statutes, between the 

District and a firm, whereby the firm provides Professional Services to the 

District for projects in which the costs do not exceed two million dollars 

($2,000,000), for a study activity when the fee for such Professional 

Services to the District does not exceed two hundred thousand dollars 

($200,000), or for work of a specified nature as outlined in the contract with 

the District, with no time limitation except that the contract must provide a 

termination clause (for example, a contract for general District engineering 

services).  Firms providing Professional Services under Continuing 

Contracts shall not be required to bid against one another.  

 

(c) “Contractual Service” means the rendering by a contractor of its time and 

effort rather than the furnishing of specific commodities.  The term applies 

only to those services rendered by individuals and firms who are 

independent contractors.  Contractual Services do not include auditing 

services, Maintenance Services, or Professional Services as defined in 

Section 287.055(2)(a) of the Florida Statutes, and these Rules.  Contractual 

Services also do not include any contract for the furnishing of labor or 

materials for the construction, renovation, repair, modification, or 

demolition of any facility, building, portion of building, utility, park, 

parking lot, or structure or other improvement to real property entered into 

pursuant to Chapter 255 of the Florida Statutes, and Rules 3.5 or 3.6. 

 

(d) “Design-Build Contract” means a single contract with a Design-Build Firm 

for the design and construction of a public construction project. 



 

23 

 

 

(e) “Design-Build Firm” means a partnership, corporation or other legal entity 

that: 

 

(i)  Is certified under Section 489.119 of the Florida Statutes, to engage 

in contracting through a certified or registered general contractor or 

a certified or registered building contractor as the qualifying agent; 

or 

 

(ii)  Is certified under Section 471.023 of the Florida Statutes, to practice 

or to offer to practice engineering; certified under Section 481.219 

of the Florida Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice architecture; 

or certified under Section 481.319 of the Florida Statutes, to practice 

or to offer to practice landscape architecture. 

 

(f) “Design Criteria Package” means concise, performance-oriented drawings 

or specifications for a public construction project.  The purpose of the 

Design Criteria Package is to furnish sufficient information to permit 

Design-Build Firms to prepare a bid or a response to the District’s Request 

for Proposals, or to permit the District to enter into a negotiated Design-

Build Contract.  The Design Criteria Package must specify performance-

based criteria for the public construction project, including the legal 

description of the site, survey information concerning the site, interior space 

requirements, material quality standards, schematic layouts and conceptual 

design criteria of the project, cost or budget estimates, design and 

construction schedules, site development requirements, provisions for 

utilities, stormwater retention and disposal, and parking requirements 

applicable to the project. Design Criteria Packages shall require firms to 

submit information regarding the qualifications, availability, and past work 

of the firms, including the partners and members thereof. 

 

(g) “Design Criteria Professional” means a firm who holds a current certificate 

of registration under Chapter 481 of the Florida Statutes, to practice 

architecture or landscape architecture, or a firm who holds a current 

certificate as a registered engineer under Chapter 471 of the Florida 

Statutes, to practice engineering, and who is employed by or under contract 

to the District to provide professional architect services, landscape architect 

services, or engineering services in connection with the preparation of the 

Design Criteria Package. 

 

(h) “Emergency Purchase” means a purchase necessitated by a sudden 

unexpected turn of events (for example, acts of God, riot, fires, floods, 

hurricanes, accidents, or any circumstances or cause beyond the control of 

the Board in the normal conduct of its business), where the Board finds that 

the delay incident to competitive purchase would be detrimental to the 

interests of the District. This includes, but is not limited to, instances where 



 

24 

 

the time to competitively award the project will jeopardize the funding for 

the project, will materially increase the cost of the project, or will create an 

undue hardship on the public health, safety, or welfare. 

 

(i) “Invitation to Bid” is a written or electronically posted solicitation for sealed 

bids with the title, date, and hour of the public bid opening designated 

specifically and defining the commodity or service involved.  It includes 

printed instructions prescribing conditions for bidding, qualification, 

evaluation criteria, and provides for a manual signature of an authorized 

representative.  It may include one or more bid alternates. 

 

(j) “Invitation to Negotiate” means a written or electronically posted 

solicitation for competitive sealed replies to select one or more vendors with 

which to commence negotiations for the procurement of commodities or 

services.   

 

(k) “Negotiate” means to conduct legitimate, arm’s length discussions and 

conferences to reach an agreement on a term or price.   

 

(l) “Professional Services” means those services within the scope of the 

practice of architecture, professional engineering, landscape architecture, or 

registered surveying and mapping, as defined by the laws of Florida, or 

those services performed by any architect, professional engineer, landscape 

architect, or registered surveyor and mapper, in connection with the firm's 

or individual's professional employment or practice. 

 

(m) “Proposal (or Reply or Response) Most Advantageous to the District” 

means, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board, the proposal, reply, 

or response that is: 

 

(i)  Submitted by a person or firm capable and qualified in all respects 

to perform fully the contract requirements, who has the integrity and 

reliability to assure good faith performance; 

 

(ii)  The most responsive to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to 

Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation as determined by the Board; 

and 

 

(iii)  For a cost to the District deemed by the Board to be reasonable. 

 

(n) “Purchase” means acquisition by sale, rent, lease, lease/purchase, or 

installment sale. It does not include transfer, sale, or exchange of goods, 

supplies, or materials between the District and any federal, state, regional 

or local governmental entity or political subdivision of the State of Florida. 

 

 



 

25 

 

(o) “Request for Proposals” or “RFP” is a written or electronically posted 

solicitation for sealed proposals with the title, date, and hour of the public 

opening designated and requiring the manual signature of an authorized 

representative.  It may provide general information, applicable laws and 

rules, statement of work, functional or general specifications, qualifications, 

proposal instructions, work detail analysis, and evaluation criteria as 

necessary.   

 

(p) “Responsive and Responsible Bidder” means an entity or individual that has 

submitted a bid that conforms in all material respects to the Invitation to Bid 

and has the capability in all respects to fully perform the contract 

requirements and the integrity and reliability that will assure good faith 

performance.  “Responsive and Responsible Vendor” means an entity or 

individual that has submitted a proposal, reply, or response that conforms 

in all material respects to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, 

or Competitive Solicitation and has the capability in all respects to fully 

perform the contract requirements and the integrity and reliability that will 

assure good faith performance.  In determining whether an entity or 

individual is a Responsive and Responsible Bidder (or Vendor), the District 

may consider, in addition to factors described in the Invitation to Bid, 

Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, 

the following: 

 

(i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed by 

the entity/individual; 

 

(ii) The past performance of the entity/individual for the District and in 

other professional employment; 

 

(iii) The willingness of the entity/individual to meet time and budget 

requirements; 

 

(iv) The geographic location of the entity’s/individual’s headquarters or 

office in relation to the project; 

 

(v) The recent, current, and projected workloads of the 

entity/individual; 

 

(vi) The volume of work previously awarded to the entity/individual, 

provided that for a public works project as defined in Section 

255.0992, Florida Statutes, the District may not penalize a bidder 

for performing a larger volume of construction work for the District 

or reward a bidder for performing a smaller volume of construction 

work for the District; 

 



 

26 

 

(vii) Whether the cost components of the bid or proposal are 

appropriately balanced; and 

  

 (viii) Whether the entity/individual is a certified minority business 

enterprise as defined in Section 287.0943, Florida Statutes. 

 

(q) “Responsive Bid,” “Responsive Proposal,” “Responsive Reply,” and 

“Responsive Response” all mean a bid, proposal, reply, or response which 

conforms in all material respects to the specifications and conditions in the 

Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or 

Competitive Solicitation document and these Rules, and the cost 

components of which, if any, are appropriately balanced.  A bid, proposal, 

reply or response is not responsive if the person or firm submitting it fails 

to meet any material requirement relating to the qualifications, financial 

stability, or licensing of the bidder. 

 
  Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

  Law Implemented:  §§ 190.033, 255.0992, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 
 



 

27 

 

Rule 3.1 Procedure Under the Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act. 

 

 (1) Scope.  The following procedures are adopted for the selection of firms or 

individuals to provide Professional Services exceeding the thresholds herein 

described, for the negotiation of such contracts, and to provide for protest of actions 

of the Board under this Rule.  As used in this Rule, “Project” means that fixed 

capital outlay study or planning activity when basic construction cost is estimated 

by the District to exceed the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 of the 

Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FIVE, or for a planning study activity when the 

fee for Professional Services is estimated by the District to exceed the threshold 

amount provided in Section 287.017 for CATEGORY TWO, as such categories 

may be amended or adjusted from time to time. 

 

 (2) Qualifying Procedures.  In order to be eligible to provide Professional Services to 

the District, a consultant must, at the time of receipt of the firm’s qualification 

submittal: 

    

  (a) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing; 

   

  (b) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any; 

 

  (c) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do 

business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the 

Florida Statutes, if the consultant is a corporation; and 

 

  (d) Meet any qualification requirements set forth in the District’s Request for 

Qualifications.   

 

  Evidence of compliance with this Rule may be submitted with the qualifications, if 

requested by the District. In addition, evidence of compliance must be submitted 

any time requested by the District. 

 

 (3) Public Announcement.  Except in cases of valid public emergencies as certified by 

the Board, the District shall announce each occasion when Professional Services 

are required for a Project or a Continuing Contract by publishing a notice providing 

a general description of the Project, or the nature of the Continuing Contract, and 

the method for interested consultants to apply for consideration.  The notice shall 

appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the District and in 

such other places as the District deems appropriate.  The notice must allow at least 

fourteen (14) days for submittal of qualifications from the date of publication. The 

District may maintain lists of consultants interested in receiving such notices. These 

consultants are encouraged to submit annually statements of qualifications and 

performance data.  The District shall make reasonable efforts to provide copies of 

any notices to such consultants, but the failure to do so shall not give such 

consultants any bid protest or other rights or otherwise disqualify any otherwise 

valid procurement process.  The Board has the right to reject any and all 



 

28 

 

qualifications, and such reservation shall be included in the published notice.  

Consultants not receiving a contract award shall not be entitled to recover from the 

District any costs of qualification package preparation or submittal. 

 

 (4) Competitive Selection. 

 

  (a) The Board shall review and evaluate the data submitted in response to the 

notice described in section (3) of this Rule regarding qualifications and 

performance ability, as well as any statements of qualifications on file.  The 

Board shall conduct discussions with, and may require public presentation 

by consultants regarding their qualifications, approach to the Project, and 

ability to furnish the required services.  The Board shall then select and list 

the consultants, in order of preference, deemed to be the most highly 

capable and qualified to perform the required Professional Services, after 

considering these and other appropriate criteria: 

 

   (i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed by 

each consultant; 

    

   (ii)  Whether a consultant is a certified minority business enterprise; 

 

   (iii) Each consultant’s past performance; 

 

   (iv) The willingness of each consultant to meet time and budget 

requirements; 

 

   (v)    The geographic location of each consultant's headquarters, office 

and personnel in relation to the project; 

 

   (vi) The recent, current, and projected workloads of each consultant; and 

 

   (vii) The volume of work previously awarded to each consultant by the 

District. 

 

  (b) Nothing in these Rules shall prevent the District from evaluating and 

eventually selecting a consultant if less than three (3) Responsive 

qualification packages, including packages indicating a desire not to 

provide Professional Services on a given Project, are received. 

 

  (c) If the selection process is administered by any person or committee other 

than the full Board, the selection made will be presented to the full Board 

with a recommendation that competitive negotiations be instituted with the 

selected firms in order of preference listed. 

 

  (d) Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the rejection of some 

or all qualification packages, shall be provided in writing to all consultants 



 

29 

 

by United States Mail, hand delivery, emailelectronic mail, facsimile, or 

overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  

"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules 

of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," 

or wording to that effect. Protests of the District’s ranking decisions under 

this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11. 

 

 (5) Competitive Negotiation. 

 

  (a) After the Board has authorized the beginning of competitive negotiations, 

the District may begin such negotiations with the firm listed as most 

qualified to perform the required Professional Services at a rate or amount 

of compensation which the Board determines is fair, competitive, and 

reasonable. 

 

  (b) In negotiating a lump-sum or cost-plus-a-fixed-fee professional contract for 

more than the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida 

Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, the firm receiving the award shall be 

required to execute a truth-in-negotiation certificate stating that "wage rates 

and other factual unit costs supporting the compensation are accurate, 

complete and current at the time of contracting."  In addition, any 

professional service contract under which such a certificate is required, shall 

contain a provision that "the original contract price and any additions 

thereto, shall be adjusted to exclude any significant sums by which the 

Board determines the contract price was increased due to inaccurate, 

incomplete, or noncurrent wage rates and other factual unit costs."  

 

  (c) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with the 

firm determined to be the most qualified at a price deemed by the District 

to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then negotiations with that firm shall 

be terminated and the District shall immediately begin negotiations with the 

second most qualified firm.  If a satisfactory agreement with the second firm 

cannot be reached, those negotiations shall be terminated and negotiations 

with the third most qualified firm shall be undertaken. 

 

  (d) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with one 

of the top three (3) ranked consultants, additional firms shall be selected by 

the District, in order of their competence and qualifications.  Negotiations 

shall continue, beginning with the first-named firm on the list, until an 

agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted. 

 

 (6) Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 

into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 

contractor to comply with public records laws.  

 



 

30 

 

 (7)  Continuing Contract.  Nothing in this Rule shall prohibit a Continuing Contract 

between a consultant and the District. 

 

 (8) Emergency Purchase.  The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 

complying with these Rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 

is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 

 

 



 

31 

 

Rule 3.2 Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection. 

 

 In order to comply with the requirements of Section 218.391 of the Florida Statutes, the 

following procedures are outlined for selection of firms or individuals to provide Auditing 

Services and for the negotiation of such contracts.  For audits required under Chapter 190 

of the Florida Statutes but not meeting the thresholds of Chapter 218 of the Florida Statutes, 

the District need not follow these procedures but may proceed with the selection of a firm 

or individual to provide Auditing Services and for the negotiation of such contracts in the 

manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District. 

 

 (1) Definitions. 

 

  (a) "Auditing Services" means those services within the scope of the practice 

of a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of the 

Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with 

government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of 

Accountancy.   

 

  (b) "Committee" means the auditor selection committee appointed by the Board 

as described in section (2) of this Rule. 

 

(2) Establishment of Auditor Selection Committee.  Prior to a public announcement 

under section (4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are required, the Board shall 

establish an auditor selection committee (“Committee”), the primary purpose of 

which is to assist the Board in selecting an auditor to conduct the annual financial 

audit required by Section 218.39 of the Florida Statutes. The Committee shall 

include at least three individuals, at least one of which must also be a member of 

the Board.  The establishment and selection of the Committee must be conducted 

at a publicly noticed and held meeting of the Board.  The Chairperson of the 

Committee must be a member of the Board.  An employee, a chief executive officer, 

or a chief financial officer of the District may not serve as a member of the 

Committee; provided however such individual may serve the Committee in an 

advisory capacity. 

 

(3) Establishment of Minimum Qualifications and Evaluation Criteria.  Prior to a 

public announcement under section (4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are 

required, the Committee shall meet at a publicly noticed meeting to establish 

minimum qualifications and factors to use for the evaluation of Auditing Services 

to be provided by a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of 

the Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with government 

auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of Accountancy. 

 

(a)  Minimum Qualifications. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a firm 

must, at all relevant times including the time of receipt of the proposal by 

the District: 

 



 

32 

 

(i)  Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 

standing; 

 

(ii)  Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 

any; 

 

(iii)  Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 

to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 

of the Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a corporation; and 

 

(iv)  Meet any pre-qualification requirements established by the 

Committee and set forth in the RFP or other specifications.   

 

If requested in the RFP or other specifications, evidence of compliance with 

the minimum qualifications as established by the Committee must be 

submitted with the proposal. 

 

(b)  Evaluation Criteria.  The factors established for the evaluation of Auditing 

Services by the Committee shall include, but are not limited to: 

 

(i)  Ability of personnel; 

 

(ii)  Experience; 

 

(iii)  Ability to furnish the required services; and  

 

(iv)  Such other factors as may be determined by the Committee to be 

applicable to its particular requirements. 

The Committee may also choose to consider compensation as a factor.  If the 

Committee establishes compensation as one of the factors, compensation shall not 

be the sole or predominant factor used to evaluate proposals. 

(4) Public Announcement.  After identifying the factors to be used in evaluating the 

proposals for Auditing Services as set forth in section (3) of this Rule, the 

Committee shall publicly announce the opportunity to provide Auditing Services.  

Such public announcement shall include a brief description of the audit and how 

interested firms can apply for consideration and obtain the RFP.  The notice shall 

appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the District and the 

county in which the District is located.  The public announcement shall allow for 

at least seven (7) days for the submission of proposals.  

 

(5) Request for Proposals.  The Committee shall provide interested firms with a 

Request for Proposals (“RFP”).  The RFP shall provide information on how 

proposals are to be evaluated and such other information the Committee determines 

is necessary for the firm to prepare a proposal.  The RFP shall state the time and 



 

33 

 

place for submitting proposals.   

 

(6) Committee’s Evaluation of Proposals and Recommendation.  The Committee shall 

meet at a publicly held meeting that is publicly noticed at least seven (7) daysfor a 

reasonable time in advance of the meeting to evaluate all qualified proposals and 

may, as part of the evaluation, require that each interested firm provide a public 

presentation where the Committee may conduct discussions with the firm, and 

where the firm may present information, regarding the firm’s qualifications.  At the 

public meeting, the Committee shall rank and recommend in order of preference no 

fewer than three firms deemed to be the most highly qualified to perform the 

required services after considering the factors established pursuant to subsection 

(3)(b) of this Rule.  If fewer than three firms respond to the RFP or if no firms 

respond to the RFP, the Committee shall recommend such firm as it deems to be 

the most highly qualified.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may 

recommend that any and all proposals be rejected. 

 

(7) Board Selection of Auditor. 

 

(a)  Where compensation was not selected as a factor used in evaluating the 

proposals, the Board shall negotiate with the firm ranked first and inquire 

of that firm as to the basis of compensation.  If the Board is unable to 

negotiate a satisfactory agreement with the first ranked firm at a price 

deemed by the Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then 

negotiations with that firm shall be terminated and the Board shall 

immediately begin negotiations with the second ranked firm.  If a 

satisfactory agreement with the second ranked firm cannot be reached, those 

negotiations shall be terminated and negotiations with the third ranked firm 

shall be undertaken.  The Board may reopen formal negotiations with any 

one of the three top-ranked firms, but it may not negotiate with more than 

one firm at a time.  If the Board is unable to negotiate a satisfactory 

agreement with any of the selected firms, the Committee shall recommend 

additional firms in order of the firms’ respective competence and 

qualifications.  Negotiations shall continue, beginning with the first-named 

firm on the list, until an agreement is reached or the list of firms is 

exhausted. 

 

(b)  Where compensation was selected as a factor used in evaluating the 

proposals, the Board shall select the highest-ranked qualified firm or 

document in its public records the reason for not selecting the highest-

ranked qualified firm.   

 

(c)  In negotiations with firms under this Rule, the Board may allow the District 

Manager, District Counsel, or other designee to conduct negotiations on its 

behalf. 

 



 

34 

 

(d)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may reject any or all proposals.  

The Board shall not consider any proposal, or enter into any contract for 

Auditing Services, unless the proposed agreed-upon compensation is 

reasonable to satisfy the requirements of Section 218.39 of the Florida 

Statutes, and the needs of the District. 

 

(8) Contract.  Any agreement reached under this Rule shall be evidenced by a written 

contract, which may take the form of an engagement letter signed and executed by 

both parties.  The written contract shall include all provisions and conditions of the 

procurement of such services and shall include, at a minimum, the following: 

 

(a)  A provision specifying the services to be provided and fees or other 

compensation for such services; 

 

(b)  A provision requiring that invoices for fees or other compensation be 

submitted in sufficient detail to demonstrate compliance with the terms of 

the contract; 

 

(c)  A provision setting forth deadlines for the auditor to submit a preliminary 

draft audit report to the District for review and to submit a final audit report 

no later than June 30 of the fiscal year that follows the fiscal year for which 

the audit is being conducted; 

 

(d)  A provision specifying the contract period, including renewals, and 

conditions under which the contract may be terminated or renewed.  The 

maximum contract period including renewals shall be five (5) years. A 

renewal may be done without the use of the auditor selection procedures 

provided in this Rule but must be in writing.   

 

(e)  Provisions required by law that require the auditor to comply with public 

records laws. 

 

(9) Notice of Award.  Once a negotiated agreement with a firm or individual is reached, 

or the Board authorizes the execution of an agreement with a firm where 

compensation was a factor in the evaluation of proposals, notice of the intent to 

award, including the rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in writing 

to all proposers by United States Mail, hand delivery, electronic mail, facsimile, or 

overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  

"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the 

District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to 

that effect.  Protests regarding the award of contracts under this Rule shall be as 

provided for in Rule 3.11.  No proposer shall be entitled to recover any costs of 

proposal preparation or submittal from the District. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 218.33, 218.391, Fla. Stat. 

 



 

35 

 

Rule 3.3 Purchase of Insurance. 

 

(1) Scope.  The purchases of life, health, accident, hospitalization, legal expense, or 

annuity insurance, or all of any kinds of such insurance for the officers and 

employees of the District, and for health, accident, hospitalization, and legal 

expenses upon a group insurance plan by the District, shall be governed by this 

Rule. This Rule does not apply to the purchase of any other type of insurance by 

the District, including but not limited to liability insurance, property insurance, and 

directors and officers insurance. Nothing in this Rule shall require the District to 

purchase insurance.   

 

 (2) Procedure.  For a purchase of insurance within the scope of these Rules, the 

following procedure shall be followed: 

 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Notice of Invitation to Bid. 

 

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid shall be advertised at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation within the District. The notice shall allow 

at least fourteen (14) days for submittal of bids. 

 

(c) The District may maintain a list of persons interested in receiving notices of 

Invitations to Bid.  The District shall make reasonable efforts to provide 

copies of any notices to such persons, but the failure to do so shall not give 

such consultants any bid protest or other rights or otherwise disqualify any 

otherwise valid procurement process.   

 

(d) Bids shall be opened at the time and place noted in the Invitation to Bid. 

 

(e) If only one (1) response to an Invitation is received, the District may 

proceed with the purchase.  If no response to an Invitation to Bid is received, 

the District may take whatever steps are reasonably necessary in order to 

proceed with the purchase. 

 

(f) The Board has the right to reject any and all bids and such reservations shall 

be included in all solicitations and advertisements. 

 

(g) Simultaneously with the review of the submitted bids, the District may 

undertake negotiations with those companies that have submitted 

reasonable and timely bids and, in the opinion of the District, are fully 

qualified and capable of meeting all services and requirements.  Bid 

responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the specifications and 

criteria contained in the Invitation to Bid; in addition, the total cost to the 

District, the cost, if any, to the District officers, employees, or their 

dependents, relevant business presence and capability to servicethe 

geographic location of the company’s headquarters and offices in relation 

to the District's needs, and the ability of the company to guarantee premium 



 

36 

 

stability may be considered.  A contract to purchase insurance shall be 

awarded to that company whose response to the Invitation to Bid best meets 

the overall needs of the District, its officers, employees, and/or dependents. 

 

(h) Notice of the intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, shall 

be provided in writing to all bidders by United States Mail, by hand 

delivery, or by overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the 

following statement:  "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in 

Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 

proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  Protests of the 

District’s procurement of insurance under this Rule shall be in accordance 

with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  § 112.08, Fla. Stat. 

 



 

37 

 

Rule 3.4 Pre-qualification 

 

  (1) Scope.  In its discretion, the District may undertake a pre-qualification process in 

accordance with this Rule for vendors to provide construction services, goods, 

supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and maintenance services.    

 

(2) Procedure.  When the District seeks to pre-qualify vendors, the following 

procedures shall apply: 

 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Request for Qualifications. 

 

(b) For construction services exceeding the thresholds described in Section 

255.20 of the Florida Statutes, the Board must advertise the proposed 

prequalification criteria and procedures and allow at least seven (7) days’ 

notice of the public hearing for comments on such pre-qualification criteria 

and procedures.  At such public hearing, potential vendors may object to 

such pre-qualification criteria and procedures.  Following such public 

hearing, the Board shall formally adopt pre-qualification criteria and 

procedures prior to the advertisement of the Request for Qualifications for 

construction services. 

 

(c) The Request for Qualifications shall be advertised at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 

in which the District is located.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 

days for submittal of qualifications for goods, supplies and materials, 

Contractual Services, maintenance services, and construction services 

under two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000).  The notice shall allow 

at least twenty-one (21) days for submittal of qualifications for construction 

services estimated to cost over two hundred fifty thousand dollars 

($250,000) and thirty (30) days for construction services estimated to cost 

over five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000).   

 

(d) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of 

Requests for Qualifications.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 

provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand 

delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the 

District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a person to 

receive the notice shall not invalidate any pre-qualification determination 

or contract awarded in accordance with these Rules and shall not be a basis 

for a protest of any pre-qualification determination or contract award. 

 

(e) If the District has pre-qualified vendors for a particular category of 

purchase, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been 

pre-qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies or responses 

in response to the applicable Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, 

Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 



 

38 

 

 

(f) In order to be eligible to submit qualifications, a firm or individual must, at 

the time of receipt of the qualifications: 

 

(i)  Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 

standing; 

 

(ii)  Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 

any; 

 

(iii)  Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 

to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 

of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and 

 

(iv)  Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 

Request for Qualifications. 

 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the 

qualifications if required by the District.  Failure to submit evidence of 

compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 

qualifications. 

 

(g) Qualifications shall be presented to the Board, or a committee appointed by 

the Board, for evaluation in accordance with the Request for Qualifications 

and this Rule.  Minor variations in the qualifications may be waived by the 

Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does not create a 

competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature.   

 

(h) All vendors determined by the District to meet the pre-qualification 

requirements shall be pre-qualified.  To assure full understanding of the 

responsiveness to the requirements contained in a Request for 

Qualifications, discussions may be conducted with qualified vendors.  

Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment prior to the submittal date with 

respect to any opportunity for discussion and revision of qualifications.  For 

construction services, any contractor pre-qualified and considered eligible 

by the Department of Transportation to bid to perform the type of work the 

project entails shall be presumed to be qualified to perform the project. 

 

(i) The Board shall have the right to reject all qualifications if there are not 

enough to be competitive or if rejection is determined to be in the best 

interest of the District.  No vendor shall be entitled to recover any costs of 

qualification preparation or submittal from the District. 

 

(j) Notice of intent to pre-qualify, including rejection of some or all 

qualifications, shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United States Mail, 

electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service.  The notice 



 

39 

 

shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file a protest within the time 

prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 

proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  Protests of the District’s 

pre-qualification decisions under this Rule shall be in accordance with the 

procedures set forth in Rule 3.11; provided however, protests related to the pre-

qualification criteria and procedures for construction services shall be resolved in 

accordance with section (2)(b) of this Rule and Section 255.20(1)(b) of the Florida 

Statutes. 

 

(3) Suspension, Revocation, or Denial of Qualification 

(a) The District, for good cause, may deny, suspend, or revoke a prequalified 

vendor’s pre-qualified status. A suspension, revocation, or denial for good 

cause shall prohibit the vendor from bidding on any District construction 

contract for which qualification is required, shall constitute a determination of 

non-responsibility to bid on any other District construction or maintenance 

contract, and shall prohibit the vendor from acting as a material supplier or 

subcontractor on any District contract or project during the period of 

suspension, revocation, or denial. Good cause shall include the following: 

i. One of the circumstances specified under Section 337.16(2), Florida 

StatutesFla. Stat., has occurred. 

ii. Affiliated contractors submitted more than one proposal for the same 

work. In this event the pre-qualified status of all of the affiliated bidders 

will be revoked, suspended, or denied. All bids of affiliated bidders will 

be rejected. 

iii. The vendor made or submitted false, deceptive, or fraudulent 

statements, certifications, or materials in any claim for payment or any 

information required by any District contract. 

iv. The vendor or its affiliate defaulted on any contract or a contract surety 

assumed control of financial responsibility for any contract of the 

vendor. 

v. The vendor’s qualification to bid is suspended, revoked, or denied by 

any other public or semi-public entity, or the vendor has been the subject 

of a civil enforcement proceeding or settlement involving a public or 

semi-public entity. 

vi. The vendor failed to comply with contract or warranty requirements or 

failed to follow District direction in the performance of a contract. 

vii. The vendor failed to timely furnish all contract documents required by 

the contract specifications, special provisions, or by any state or federal 

statutes or regulations. If the vendor fails to furnish any of the subject 

contract documents by the expiration of the period of suspension, 



 

40 

 

revocation, or denial set forth above, the vendor’s pre-qualified status 

shall remain suspended, revoked, or denied until the documents are 

furnished. 

viii. The vendor failed to notify the District within 10 days of the vendor, or 

any of its affiliates, being declared in default or otherwise not 

completing work on a contract or being suspended from qualification to 

bid or denied qualification to bid by any other public or semi-public 

agency. 

ix. The vendor did not pay its subcontractors or suppliers in a timely 

manner or in compliance with contract documents. 

x. The vendor has demonstrated instances of poor or unsatisfactory 

performance, deficient management resulting in project delay, poor 

quality workmanship, a history of payment of liquidated damages, 

untimely completion of projects, uncooperative attitude, contract 

litigation, inflated claims or defaults. 

xi. An affiliate of the vendor has previously been determined by the District 

to be non-responsible, and the specified period of suspension, 

revocation, denial, or non-responsibility remains in effect. 

xii. The vendor or affiliate(s) has been convicted of a contract crime. 

1. The term “contract crime” means any violation of state or federal 

antitrust laws with respect to a public contract or any violation 

of any state or federal law involving fraud, bribery, collusion, 

conspiracy, or material misrepresentation with respect to a 

public contract. 

2. The term “convicted” or “conviction” means a finding of guilt 

or a conviction of a contract crime, with or without an 

adjudication of guilt, in any federal or state trial court of record 

as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of 

guilty or nolo contendere. 

xiii. Any other circumstance constituting “good cause” under Section 

337.16(2), Florida Statutes, exists. 

(b) The pre-qualified status of a contractor found delinquent under Section 

337.16(1), Florida Statutes, shall be denied, suspended, or revoked.  A denial, 

suspension, or revocation shall prohibit the vendor from being a subcontractor 

on District work during the period of denial, suspension, or revocation, except 

when a prime contractor’s bid has used prices of a subcontractor who becomes 

disqualified after the bid, but before the request for authorization to sublet is 

presented. 



 

41 

 

(c) The District shall inform the vendor in writing of its intent to deny, suspend, or 

revoke its pre-qualified status and inform the vendor of its right to a hearing, 

the procedure which must be followed, and the applicable time limits. If a 

hearing is requested within ten (10) days after the receipt of the notice of intent, 

the hearing shall be held within thirty (30) days after receipt by the District of 

the request for the hearing. The decision shall be issued in writing within fifteen 

(15) business days after the hearing.  

(d) Such suspension or revocation shall not affect the vendor’s obligations under 

any preexisting contract. 

(d)(e) If a contractor’s pre-qualified status is revoked, suspended, or denied and 

the contractor receives an additional period of revocation, suspension, or denial 

of its pre-qualified status, the time periods will run consecutively. 

(e)(f) In the case of contract crimes, the vendor’s pre-qualified status under this 

Rule shall be revoked indefinitely. For all violations of Rule 3.4(3)(a) other than 

for the vendor’s conviction for contract crimes, the revocation, denial, or 

suspension of a vendor’s pre-qualified status under this Rule shall be for a 

specific period of time based on the seriousness of the deficiency. 

Examples of factors affecting the seriousness of a deficiency are: 

i. Impacts on project schedule, cost, or quality of work; 

ii. Unsafe conditions allowed to exist; 

iii. Complaints from the public; 

iv. Delay or interference with the bidding process; 

v. The potential for repetition; 

vi. Integrity of the public contracting process; 

vii. Effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the public. 

(f)(g) The District shall deny or revoke the pre-qualified status of any contractor 

and its affiliates for a period of 36 months when it is determined by the District 

that the contractor has, subsequent to January 1, 1978, been convicted of a 

contract crime within the jurisdiction of any state or federal court. Any such 

contractor shall not act as a prime contractor, material supplier, subcontractor, 

or consultant on any District contract or project during the period of denial or 

revocation. 

(4) Reapplication and Reinstatement 

(a) A contractor whose qualification to bid has been revoked or denied because of 



 

42 

 

contract crime may, at any time after revocation or denial, file a petition for 

reapplication or reinstatement. However, a contractor may not petition for 

reapplication or reinstatement for a period of 24 months after revocation or 

denial for a subsequent conviction occurring within 10 years of a previous 

denial or revocation for contract crime.  

 

(b) If the petition for reapplication or reinstatement is denied, the contractor cannot 

petition for a subsequent hearing for a period of nine months following the date 

of the final order of revocation or denial.  

 

(c) If the petition for reapplication or reinstatement is granted, the contractor must 

file a current Application for Qualification with the Contracts Administration 

Office. Reinstatement shall not be effective until issuance of a Certificate of 

Qualification.   

 

(5) Emergency Suspension and Revocation 

 

(a) The District may summarily issue an emergency suspension of a contractor’s 

qualification to bid if it finds that imminent danger exists to the public health, 

safety, or welfare.  

 

(b) The written notice of emergency suspension shall state the specific facts and 

reasons for finding an imminent danger to the public health, safety, or welfare 

exists.  

 

(c) The District, within 10 days of the emergency suspension, shall initiate formal 

suspension or revocation proceedings in compliance with Rule 3.4(3), except 

the 10-day notice requirement shall not be construed to prevent a hearing at the 

earliest time practicable upon request of the aggrieved party.  

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 190.033, 255.0525, 255.20, Fla. Stat.; §§ 14-22.012, 14-22.0121, 14-22.014, Fla. Admin. Code. 



 

43 

 

Rule 3.5 Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build. 

 

(1)  Scope.  All contracts for the construction or improvement of any building, structure, 

or other public construction works authorized by Chapter 190 of the Florida 

Statutes, the costs of which are estimated by the District in accordance with 

generally accepted cost accounting principles to be in excess of the threshold 

amount for applicability of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as that amount 

may be indexed or amended from time to time, shall be let under the terms of these 

Rules and the procedures of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as the same may 

be amended from time to time.  A project shall not be divided solely to avoid the 

threshold bidding requirements. 

 

(2) Procedure.  When a purchase of construction services is within the scope of this 

Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 

 

 (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 

Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

 

 (b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 

Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation in the District and in the county in which 

the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount of the bid 

bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least twenty-one (21) days 

for submittal of sealed bids, proposals, replies, or responses, unless the 

Board, for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is appropriate. 

Any project projected to cost more than five hundred thousand dollars 

($500,000) must be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior to the date for 

submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses.  If the Board has 

previously pre-qualified contractors pursuant to Rule 3.4 and determined 

that only the contractors that have been pre-qualified will be permitted to 

submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses, the Notice of Invitation to 

Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 

Solicitation need not be published.  Instead, the Notice of Invitation to Bid, 

Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation 

shall be sent to the pre-qualified contractors by United States Mail, 

electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service. 

 

 (c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of 

Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 

Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 

provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand 

delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the 

District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a person to 

receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in accordance 

with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award.   

 



 

44 

 

(d) If the District has pre-qualified providers of construction services, then, at 

the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified 

will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, or responses to Invitations 

to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and Competitive 

Solicitations. 

 

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 

or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses: 

 

(i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 

standing; 

 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 

any; 

 

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 

to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 

of the Florida Statutes, if the bidder is a corporation; and 

 

     (iv)  Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 

Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 

Competitive Solicitation. 

 

Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of competent 

jurisdiction of any violation of federal labor or employment tax laws 

regarding subjects including but not limited to, reemployment assistance, 

safety, tax withholding, worker’s compensation, unemployment tax, social 

security and Medicare tax, wage or hour, or prevailing rate laws within the 

past five (5) years shall be deemmay be considered ineligible by the District 

to submit a bid, response, or proposal for a District project. 

 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 

proposal, reply, or response, if required by the District.  Failure to submit 

evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 

bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

 

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses, or the portions of which that include 

the price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in accordance with 

Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district representative is present.  The 

name of each bidder and the price submitted in the bid shall be announced 

at such meeting and shall be made available upon request. Minutes should 

be taken at the meeting and maintained by the District. Bids, proposals, 

replies, and responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective 

Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 

Competitive Solicitation and these Rules.  Minor variations in the bids, 



 

45 

 

proposals, replies, or responses may be waived by the Board.  A variation 

is minor if waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage 

or disadvantage of a material nature.  Mistakes in arithmetic extension of 

pricing may be corrected by the Board, provided such corrections do not 

result in a material change to the bid amount or create an unfair advantage.  

Bids and proposals may not be modified or supplemented after opening; 

provided however, additional information may be requested and/or 

provided to evidence compliance, make non-material modifications, 

clarifications, or supplementations, and as otherwise permitted by Florida 

law. 

 

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted by a Responsive and Responsible 

Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid shall be accepted.  In relation to 

a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 

Solicitation, the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or 

Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is 

most advantageous to the District. To assure full understanding of the 

responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for 

Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions 

may be conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair 

treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 

discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and 

responses.   

 

 (h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 

purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 

determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No contractor shall be 

entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, response, or reply preparation 

or submittal from the District. 

 

 (i) The Board may require potential contractors to furnish bid bonds, 

performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 

approved by the Board. 

 

(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, proposals, 

replies, or responses, shall be provided in writing to all contractors by 

United States Mail, electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight 

delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure 

to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the 

District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or 

wording to that effect.  Protests of the District’s purchase of construction 

services under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth 

in Rule 3.11. 

 



 

46 

 

(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses are 

received, the District may purchase construction services or may reject the 

bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If no 

Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District may 

proceed with the procurement of construction services, in the manner the 

Board determines is in the best interests of the District, which may include 

but is not limited to a direct purchase of the construction services without 

further competitive selection processes.  

 

 (3) Sole Source; Government.  Construction services that are only available from a 

single source are exempt from this Rule.  Construction services provided by 

governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule.  This Rule shall not apply to the 

purchase of construction services, which may include goods, supplies, or materials, 

that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government contract that has been 

competitively procured by such federal, state, or local government in a manner 

consistent with the material procurement requirements of these Rules.  A contract 

for construction services is exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes 

with whom the District must contract or if the rate of payment is established during 

the appropriation process.    

 

(4) Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 

into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 

contractor to comply with public records laws. 

 

(5)  Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 

complying with these rules. only when there exists an immediate and serious need 

for construction services that cannot be met through normal procurement methods 

and the lack of such services would seriously threaten: (i) the District’s ability to 

perform essential services; (ii) the preservation or protection of property or 

improvements; or (iii) the health, safety, or welfare of any person. The fact that an 

Emergency Purchase has occurred or is necessary, along with a detailed description 

of the basis for the emergency determination, shall be noted in the minutes of the 

next Board Meeting.   

 

 (6) Exceptions.  This Rule is inapplicable when: 

 

(a)  The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public 

facility; 

 

(b)  The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the 

time required to competitively award the project after the funds become 

available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent; 

 

(c)  The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has 

abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contract; or 

 



 

47 

 

(d)  The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 

286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board 

that it is in the public’s best interest to perform the project using its own 

services, employees, and equipment. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 

 

 

 

  



 

48 

 

Rule 3.6 Construction Contracts, Design-Build. 

 

 (1) Scope.  The District may utilize Design-Build Contracts for any public construction 

project for which the Board determines that use of such contract is in the best 

interest of the District. When letting a Design-Build Contract, the District shall use 

the following procedure: 

 

(2) Procedure. 

 

(a)    The District shall utilize a Design Criteria Professional meeting the 

requirements of Section 287.055(2)(k) of the Florida Statutes, when 

developing a Design Criteria Package, evaluating the proposals and 

qualifications submitted by Design-Build Firms, and determining 

compliance of the project construction with the Design Criteria Package.  

The Design Criteria Professional may be an employee of the District, may 

be the District Engineer selected by the District pursuant to Section 287.055 

of the Florida Statutes, or may be retained pursuant to Rule 3.1.  The Design 

Criteria Professional is not eligible to render services under a Design-Build 

Contract executed pursuant to the Design Criteria Package. 

 

  (b) A Design Criteria Package for the construction project shall be prepared and 

sealed by the Design Criteria Professional.  If the project utilizes existing 

plans, the Design Criteria Professional shall create a Design Criteria 

Package by supplementing the plans with project specific requirements, if 

any.     

 

  (c)  The Board may either choose to award the Design-Build Contract pursuant 

to the competitive proposal selection process set forth in Section 287.055(9) 

of the Florida Statutes, or pursuant to the qualifications-based selection 

process pursuant to Rule 3.1.  

 

   (i) Qualifications-Based Selection.  If the process set forth in Rule 3.1 

is utilized, subsequent to competitive negotiations, a guaranteed 

maximum price and guaranteed completion date shall be 

established.  

 

(ii)   Competitive Proposal-Based Selection. If the competitive proposal 

selection process is utilized, the Board, in consultation with the 

Design Criteria Professional, shall establish the criteria, standards 

and procedures for the evaluation of Design-Build Proposals based 

on price, technical, and design aspects of the project, weighted for 

the project.  After a Design Criteria Package and the standards and 

procedures for evaluation of proposals have been developed, 

competitive proposals from qualified firms shall be solicited 

pursuant to the design criteria by the following procedure: 

 



 

49 

 

    1. A Request for Proposals shall be advertised at least once in 

a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the 

District is located.  The notice shall allow at least twenty-one 

(21) days for submittal of sealed proposals, unless the Board, 

for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is 

appropriate.  Any project projected to cost more than five 

hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) must be noticed at least 

thirty (30) days prior to the date for submittal of proposals.   

   

    2. The District may maintain lists of persons interested in 

receiving notices of Requests for Proposals.  The District 

shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by 

electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand delivery, or 

facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 

the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, 

failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate 

any contract awarded in accordance with this Rule and shall 

not be a basis for a protest of any contract award. 

 

    3. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a firm must, at 

the time of receipt of the proposals: 

    

     a. Hold the required applicable state professional 

licenses in good standing, as defined by Section 

287.055(2)(h) of the Florida Statutes; 

 

     b.  Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good 

standing, if any; 

 

     c. Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or 

be authorized to do business in the State of Florida in 

accordance with Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, 

if the proposer is a corporation; 

 

     d. Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set 

forth in the Request for Proposals and Design 

Criteria Package. 

 

Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of any 

violation of federal labor or employment tax laws regarding 

subjects including but not limited to reemployment 

assistance, safety, tax withholding, worker’s compensation, 

unemployment tax, social security and Medicare tax, wage 

or hour, or prevailing rate laws within the past five (5) years 

may be considered ineligible by the District to submit a bid, 

response, or proposal for a District project. 



 

50 

 

 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted 

with the proposal if required by the District.  Failure to 

submit evidence of compliance when required may be 

grounds for rejection of the proposal. 

 

    4.  The proposals, or the portions of which that include the 

price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in 

accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district 

representative is present.  The name of each bidder and the 

price submitted in the bid shall be announced at such 

meeting and shall be made available upon request.  Minutes 

should be taken at the meeting and maintained by the 

District.  In consultation with the Design Criteria 

Professional, the Board shall evaluate the proposals received 

based on evaluation criteria and procedures established prior 

to the solicitation of proposals, including but not limited to 

qualifications, availability, and past work of the firms and 

the partners and members thereof.  The Board shall then 

select no fewer than three (3) Design-Build Firms as the 

most qualified. 

 

    5. The Board shall have the right to reject all proposals if the 

proposals are too high, or rejection is determined to be in the 

best interest of the District. No vendor shall be entitled to 

recover any costs of proposal preparation or submittal from 

the District. 

 

    6. If less than three (3) Responsive Proposals are received, the 

District may purchase design-build services or may reject the 

proposals for lack of competitiveness. If no Responsive 

Proposals are received, the District may proceed with the 

procurement of design-build services in the manner the 

Board determines is in the best interests of the District, 

which may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of 

the design-build services without further competitive 

selection processes. 

 

    7. Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the 

rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in 

writing to all consultants by United States Mail, hand 

delivery, facsimile, electronic mail, or overnight delivery 

service.  The notice shall include the following statement:  

"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 

3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 

proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  



 

51 

 

Protests of the District’s rankings under this Rule shall be in 

accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11. 

 

    8. The Board shall negotiate a contract with the firm ranking 

the highest based on the evaluation standards and shall 

establish a price which the Board determines is fair, 

competitive and reasonable.  Should the Board be unable to 

negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to 

be the most qualified at a price considered by the Board to 

be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that 

firm must be terminated. The Board shall then undertake 

negotiations with the second most qualified firm, based on 

the ranking by the evaluation standards.  Should the Board 

be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm 

considered to be the second most qualified at a price 

considered by the Board to be fair, competitive, and 

reasonable, negotiations with that firm must be terminated. 

The Board shall then undertake negotiations with the third 

most qualified firm. Should the Board be unable to negotiate 

a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to be the 

third most qualified at a price considered by the Board to be 

fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that firm 

must be terminated.   Should the Board be unable to 

negotiate a satisfactory contract with any of the selected 

firms, the Board shall select additional firms in order of their 

rankings based on the evaluation standards and continue 

negotiations until an agreement is reached or the list of firms 

is exhausted. 

 

    9.  After the Board contracts with a firm, the firm shall bring to 

the Board for approval, detailed working drawings of the 

project.   

 

    10.  The Design Criteria Professional shall evaluate the 

compliance of the detailed working drawings and project 

construction with the Design Criteria Package and shall 

provide the Board with a report of the same.   

 

(3) Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 

into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 

contractor to comply with public records laws. 

 

(4) Emergency Purchase.  The Board may, in case of public emergency, declare an 

emergency and immediately proceed with negotiations with the best qualified 

Design-Build Firm available at the time.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has 

occurred shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 



 

52 

 

 

 (5) Exceptions.  This Rule is inapplicable when: 

 

(a)  The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public 

facility; 

 

(b)  The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the 

time required to competitively award the project after the funds become 

available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent; 

 

(c)  The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has 

abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contractor; or 

 

(d)  The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 

286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board 

that it is in the public’s best interest to perform the project using its own 

services, employees, and equipment. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 

 



 

53 

 

Rule 3.7  Payment and Performance Bonds. 

 

(1)  Scope.  This Rule shall apply to contracts for the construction of a public building, 

for the prosecution and completion of a public work, or for repairs upon a public 

building or public work and shall be construed in addition to terms prescribed by 

any other Rule that may also apply to such contracts. 

 

(2)  Required Bond.  Upon entering into a contract for any of the services described in 

section (1) of this Rule in excess of $200,000, the Board should require that the 

contractor, before commencing the work, execute and record a payment and 

performance bond in an amount equal to the contract price.  Notwithstanding the 

terms of the contract or any other law, the District may not make payment to the 

contractor until the contractor has provided to the District a certified copy of the 

recorded bond. 

 

(3)  Discretionary Bond.  At the discretion of the Board, upon entering into a contract 

for any of the services described in section (1) of this Rule for an amount not 

exceeding $200,000, the contractor may be exempted from executing a payment 

and performance bond. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  § 255.05, Fla. Stat. 

 



 

54 

 

Rule 3.8 Goods, Supplies, and Materials. 

 

  (1) Purpose and Scope.  All purchases of goods, supplies, or materials exceeding the 

amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY 

FOUR, shall be purchased under the terms of this Rule.  Contracts for purchases of 

“goods, supplies, and materials” do not include printing, insurance, advertising, or 

legal notices.  A contract involving goods, supplies, or materials plus maintenance 

services may, in the discretion of the Board, be treated as a contract for maintenance 

services.  However, a purchase shall not be divided solely in order to avoid the 

threshold bidding requirements. 

 

(2) Procedure.  When a purchase of goods, supplies, or materials is within the scope of 

this Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 

 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 

Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

 

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 

Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 

in which the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount of 

the bid bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 

days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses. 

 

(c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of 

Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or 

Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 

provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand 

delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the 

District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a person to 

receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in accordance 

with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award. 

 

(d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of goods, supplies, and materials, 

then, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-

qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, or responses. 

 

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 

or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses: 

 

(i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 

standing; 

 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any; 

 



 

55 

 

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to 

do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of 

the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and 

 

     (iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 

Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 

Competitive Solicitation. 

 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 

proposal, reply or response if required by the District.  Failure to submit 

evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 

bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

 

Any firm or individual whose principal place of business is outside the State 

of Florida must also submit a written opinion of an attorney at law licensed 

to practice law in that foreign state, as to the preferences, if any or none, 

granted by the law of that foreign state to business entities whose principal 

places of business are in that foreign state, in the letting of any or all public 

contracts.  Failure to submit such a written opinion or submission of a false 

or misleading written opinion may be grounds for rejection of the bid, 

proposal, reply, or response. 

 

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time 

and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 

to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. Bids, proposals, replies, and 

responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation to 

Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 

Solicitation, and this Rule.  Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, 

or responses may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of 

the variation does not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a 

material nature. Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be 

corrected by the Board.  Bids and proposals may not be modified or 

supplemented after opening; provided however, additional information may 

be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, make non-material 

modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and as otherwise 

permitted by Florida law. 

 

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid, after taking into account the preferences 

provided for in this subsection, submitted by a Responsive and Responsible 

Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 

to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be accepted.  If the lowest 

Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder 

whose principal place of business is located in a foreign state which does 

not grant a preference in competitive purchase to businesses whose 

principal place of business are in that foreign state, the lowest Responsible 

and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of business is in the State of 



 

56 

 

Florida shall be awarded a preference of five percent (5%).  If the lowest 

Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder 

whose principal place of business is located in a foreign state which grants 

a preference in competitive purchase to businesses whose principal place of 

business are in that foreign state, the lowest Responsible and Responsive 

Bidder whose principal place of business is in the State of Florida shall be 

awarded a preference equal to the preference granted by such foreign state. 

 

 To assure full understanding of the responsiveness to the solicitation 

requirements contained in an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, 

Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions may be 

conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment 

prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for discussion, 

preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and responses.   

 

(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 

purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 

determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No vendor shall be 

entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response preparation 

or submittal from the District. 

 

 (i) The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, 

performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 

approved by the Board. 

 

(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, proposals, 

replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United 

States Mail, electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery 

service.  The notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file a 

protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District 

shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to 

that effect.  Protests of the District’s purchase of goods, supplies, and 

materials under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set 

forth in Rule 3.11. 

 

(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses are 

received, the District may purchase goods, supplies, or materials, or may 

reject the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. 

If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District 

may proceed with the procurement of goods, supplies, and materials, in the 

manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District, which 

may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of the goods, supplies, 

and materials without further competitive selection processes.  

 



 

57 

 

 (3) Goods, Supplies, and Materials included in a Construction Contract Awarded 

Pursuant to Rule 3.5 or 3.6.  There may be occasions where the District has 

undergone the competitive purchase of construction services which contract may 

include the provision of goods, supplies, or materials.  In that instance, the District 

may approve a change order to the contract and directly purchase the goods, 

supplies, and materials.  Such purchase of goods, supplies, and materials deducted 

from a competitively purchased construction contract shall be exempt from this 

Rule. 

  

 (4) Exemption.  Goods, supplies, and materials that are only available from a single 

source are exempt from this Rule.  Goods, supplies, and materials provided by 

governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule.  A contract for goods, supplies, 

or materials is exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom 

the District must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the 

appropriation process.  This Rule shall not apply to the purchase of goods, supplies 

or materials that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government contract 

that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local government in 

a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of these Rules. 

 

 (5) Renewal.  Contracts for the purchase of goods, supplies, and/or materials subject to 

this Rule may be renewed for a maximum period of five (5) years.   

 

 (6) Emergency Purchases.  The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 

complying with these rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 

is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 189.053, 190.033, 287.017, 287.084, Fla. Stat. 



 

58 

 

Rule 3.9 Maintenance Services. 

 

(1)      Scope.  All contracts for maintenance of any District facility or project shall be set 

under the terms of this Rule if the cost exceeds the amount provided in Section 

287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR.  A contract involving 

goods, supplies, and materials plus maintenance services may, in the discretion of 

the Board, be treated as a contract for maintenance services.  However, a purchase 

shall not be divided solely in order to avoid the threshold bidding requirements. 

 

(2) Procedure.  When a purchase of maintenance services is within the scope of this 

Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 

 

 (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 

Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

 

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 

Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 

in which the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount of 

the bid bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 

days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses. 

 

 (c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of 

Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 

Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 

provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand 

delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the 

District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a person to 

receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in accordance 

with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award. 

 

(d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of maintenance services, then, at 

the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified 

will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses. 

 

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 

or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses: 

 

(i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 

standing; 

 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any; 

 



 

59 

 

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to 

do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of 

the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and 

 

     (iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 

Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 

Competitive Solicitation. 

 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 

proposal, reply, or response if required by the District.  Failure to submit 

evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 

bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

 

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time 

and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 

to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.  Bids, proposals, replies, and 

responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation to 

Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 

Solicitation, and these Rules. Minor variations in the bids, proposals, 

replies, and responses may be waived by the Board.  A variation is minor if 

waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or 

disadvantage of a material nature.  Mistakes in arithmetic extension of 

pricing may be corrected by the Board.  Bids and proposals may not be 

modified or supplemented after opening; provided however, additional 

information may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, 

make non-material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and 

as otherwise permitted by Florida law. 

 

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted in response to an Invitation to Bid by 

a Responsive and Responsible Bidder shall be accepted.  In relation to a 

Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate or Competitive Solicitation 

the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or Response 

submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is most 

advantageous to the District.  To assure full understanding of the 

responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for 

Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions 

may be conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair 

treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 

discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses.   

 

(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 

purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 

determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No Vendor shall be 



 

60 

 

entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response preparation 

or submittal from the District. 

 

(i) The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, 

performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 

approved by the Board. 

 

(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, proposals, 

replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United 

States Mail, electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery 

service. The notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file a 

protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District 

shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to 

that effect.  Protests of the District’s procurement of maintenance services 

under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 

3.11. 

 

(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses are 

received, the District may purchase the maintenance services or may reject 

the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If no 

Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District may 

proceed with the procurement of maintenance services, in the manner the 

Board determines is in the best interests of the District, which may include 

but is not limited to a direct purchase of the maintenance services without 

further competitive selection processes.  

 

 (3) Exemptions.  Maintenance services that are only available from a single source are 

exempt from this Rule.  Maintenance services provided by governmental agencies 

are exempt from this Rule.  A contract for maintenance services is exempt from this 

Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom the District must contract or if 

the rate of payment is established during the appropriation process.    

 

 (4) Renewal.  Contracts for the purchase of maintenance services subject to this Rule 

may be renewed for a maximum period of five (5) years. 

 

(5) Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 

into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 

contractor to comply with public records laws. 

 

 (6) Emergency Purchases.  The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 

complying with these rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 

is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.033, Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.033, 287.017, Fla. Stat. 



 

61 

 

Rule 3.10 Contractual Services. 

 

(1)  Exemption from Competitive Purchase.  Pursuant to Section 190.033(3) of the 

Florida Statutes, Contractual Services shall not be subject to competitive 

purchasing requirements.  If an agreement is predominantly for Contractual 

Services, but also includes maintenance services or the purchase of goods and 

services, the contract shall not be subject to competitive purchasing requirements.  

Regardless of whether an advertisement or solicitation for Contractual Services is 

identified as an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 

Competitive Solicitation, no rights or remedies under these Rules, including but not 

limited to protest rights, are conferred on persons, firms, or vendors proposing to 

provide Contractual Services to the District.   

 

(2)  Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract for 

Contractual Services shall include provisions required by law that require the 

contractor to comply with public records laws. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, Fla. Stat. 



 

62 

 

Rule 3.11 Protests with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, 

and 3.9. 

 

The resolution of any protests with respect to proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 

3.8, and 3.9 shall be in accordance with this Rule. 

 

 (1) Filing. 

 

  (a)  With respect to a protest regarding qualifications, specifications, 

documentation, or other requirements contained in a Request for 

Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive 

Solicitation issued by the District, the notice of protest shall be filed in 

writing within seventy-two (72) calendar hours (excluding Saturdays, 

Sundays, and state holidays) after the first advertisement of the Request for 

Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive 

Solicitation.  A formal protest setting forth with particularity the facts and 

law upon which the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar 

days (including Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after the initial 

notice of protest was filed. For purposes of this Rule, wherever applicable, 

filing will be perfected and deemed to have occurred upon receipt by the 

District. Failure to file a notice of protest shall constitute a waiver of all 

rights to protest the District’s intended decision.  Failure to file a formal 

written protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest proceedings 

and shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings. 

 

  (b) Except for those situations covered by subsection (1)(a) of this Rule, any 

firm or person who is affected adversely by a District’s ranking or intended 

award under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9 and desires to 

contest the District’s ranking or intended award, shall file with the District 

a written notice of protest within seventy-two (72) calendar hours 

(excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after receipt of the 

notice of the District’s ranking or intended award.  A formal protest setting 

forth with particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is based 

shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days (including Saturdays, Sundays, 

and state holidays) after the initial notice of protest was filed. For purposes 

of this Rule, wherever applicable, filing will be perfected and deemed to 

have occurred upon receipt by the District. Failure to file a notice of protest 

shall constitute a waiver of all rights to protest the District’s ranking or 

intended award.  Failure to file a formal written protest shall constitute an 

abandonment of the protest proceedings and shall automatically terminate 

the protest proceedings.   

 

  (c)  If the requirement for the posting of a protest bond and the amount of the 

protest bond, which may be expressed by a percentage of the contract to be 

awarded or a set amount, is disclosed in the District’s competitive 

solicitation documents for a particular purchase under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 



 

63 

 

3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9, any person who files a notice of protest must post 

the protest bond. The amount of the protest bond shall be determined by 

District staff after consultation with the Board and within the limits, if any, 

imposed by Florida law.  In the event the protest is successful, the protest 

bond shall be refunded to the protestor.  In the event the protest is 

unsuccessful, the protest bond shall be applied towards the District’s costs, 

expenses, and attorney’s fees associated with hearing and defending the 

protest.  In the event the protest is settled by mutual agreement of the parties, 

the protest bond shall be distributed as agreed to by the District and 

protestor. 

 

  (d) The District does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or facsimile 

transmission.  Filings are only accepted during normal business hours, 

which are 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding 

holidays. 

 

 (2) Contract Execution.  Upon receipt of a notice of protest which has been timely filed, 

the District shall not execute the contract under protest until the subject of the 

protest is resolved.  However, if the District sets forth in writing particular facts and 

circumstances showing that delay incident to protest proceedings will jeopardize 

the funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the project, or will 

create an immediate and serious danger to the public health, safety, or welfare, the 

contract may be executed.   

 

 (3) Informal Proceeding. If the Board determines a protest does not involve a disputed 

issue of material fact, the Board may, but is not obligated to, schedule an informal 

proceeding to consider the protest.  Such informal proceeding shall be at a time and 

place determined by the Board.  Notice of such proceeding shall be sent via certified 

mafacsimile, hand delivery, or email with delivery confirmationUnited States Mail, 

or hand delivery to the protestor and any substantially affected persons or parties 

not less than three (3) calendar days prior to such informal proceeding.  Within 

thirty (30) calendar days following the informal proceeding, the Board shall issue 

a written decision setting forth the factual, legal, and policy grounds for its decision. 

 

(4) Formal Proceeding. If the Board determines a protest involves disputed issues of 

material fact or if the Board elects not to use the informal proceeding process 

provided for in section (3) of this Rule, the District shall schedule a formal hearing 

to resolve the protest.  The Chairperson shall designate any member of the Board 

(including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, or other qualified 

person as a hearing officer to conduct the hearing.  The hearing officer may: 

 

  (a) Administer oaths and affirmations; 

 

  (b) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence; 

 

  (c) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing matters; 



 

64 

 

 

  (d) Enter orders; and 

 

  (e) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment. 

 

The hearing officer shall, within thirty (30) days after the hearing or receipt of the 

hearing transcript, whichever is later, file a recommended order which shall include 

a caption, time and place of hearing, appearances entered at the hearing, statement 

of the issues, findings of fact and conclusions of law, separately stated, and a 

recommendation for final District action.  The District shall allow each party fifteen 

(15) calendar days from receipt of the recommended orderdays in which to submit 

written exceptions to the recommended order.  The District shall issue a final order 

within sixty (60) days after the filing of the recommended order. 

 

 (5)  Intervenors. Other substantially affected persons may join the proceedings as 

intervenors by filing a motion to intervene within 10 calendar days of the initial 

protest filing, onon appropriate terms thatwhich shall not unduly delay the 

proceedings.  

 

 (6) Rejection of all Qualifications, Bids, Proposals, Replies and Responses after 

Receipt of Notice of Protest.  If the Board determines there was a violation of law, 

defect, or an irregularity in the competitive solicitation process, the Bids, Proposals, 

Replies, and Responses are too high, or if the Board determines it is otherwise in 

the District’s best interest, the Board may reject all qualifications, bids, proposals, 

replies, and responses and start the competitive solicitation process anew.  If the 

Board decides to reject all qualifications, bids, proposals, replies, and responses and 

start the competitive solicitation process anew, any pending protests shall 

automatically terminate. 

 

 (7) Settlement.  Nothing herein shall preclude the settlement of any protest under this 

Rule at any time. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  § 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
 



 

65 

 

Rule 4.0 Effective Date. 

 

 These Rules shall be effective_______________________, 2025, except that no election 

of officers required by these Rules shall be required until after the next regular election for the 

Board. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

Law Implemented:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tab 8 



RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CHANNING 

PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPOINTING AN 

ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF THE DISTRICT, AND PROVIDING FOR 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 WHEREAS, Channing Park Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 

190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Hillsborough County, Florida; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District now desires to appoint an Assistant 

Secretary. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 

 Section 1. Sam Stevens and Matthew Huber are appointed as Assistant Secretaries 

and Ruben Durand is removed as an Assistant Secretary. 

 

Section 2.   This Resolution shall not supersede any appointments made by the Board 

other than specified in Section 1. 

 

 Section 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS ____ DAY OF _______, 2026. 

 

CHANNING PARK COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

 

             

      CHAIRMAN/VICE CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

SECRETARY/ASSISTANT SECRETARY 


	01 Channing Park CDD - 01-15
	02 Channing Park CDD - Agenda Instruction
	2026-01-15 - Channing Park CDD- Agenda 
	Tab 1 - 2026-01-15 Channing Park - Ranking Sheet
	Audit Proposal 01 - GRAU - Auditing Services - Channing Park CDD
	Firm Qualifications
	Firm & Staff Experience
	References
	Specific Audit
	Approach
	Grau’s Understanding of Work Product / Scope of Services:
	Cost of Services
	Supplemental Information

	Audit Proposal 02 - DIB. - Auditing Services - Channing Park CDD
	Certified Public Accountants
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	Audit Phase and Tasks

	Audit Proposal 03 - Berger Tomb - Channing Park CDD 2025
	Tab 2 - 2025 - 08-21  Channing Park CDD - Audit Committee Minutes
	2025 - 08-21  Channing Park CDD - Regular Minutes
	Tab 3 - 2025-08 Channing Park CDD Board Package
	1
	2
	Gary 2025-08-21 Channing Park CDD BOS Pay Request
	Kilinski Van Wyk 12729 06-25 $90.00
	Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC
	INVOICE
	Statement of Account
	CPACDD-01
	Channing Park CDD - General



	Kilinski Van Wyk 12812 07-25 $540.00
	Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC
	INVOICE
	Statement of Account
	CPACDD-01
	Channing Park CDD - General



	Rizzetta INV0000101245 08-25 $2,939.16
	School Now INV-SN-864 07-25 $384.38

	2025-09 Channing Park CDD Board Package
	1
	2
	Atwell, LLC 0000422821 08-25 $720.00
	Kilinski Van Wyk 13102 08-25 $1,678.25
	Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC
	INVOICE
	Statement of Account
	CPACDD-01
	Channing Park CDD - General



	LLS Tax Solutions 003866 04-25 $500.00
	Rizzetta INV0000102290 09-25 $2,939.16
	The Observer 25-02834H 09-25 $83.13

	2025-10 Channing Park CDD Board Package
	1
	2
	Channing Park Property Owners POA Maintenance Agreement FY24-25 $12,000.00
	Egis Insurance 29362 10-01-25_10-01-26 $6,126.00
	Kilinski Van Wyk 13373 09-25 $708.50
	Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC
	INVOICE
	Statement of Account
	CPACDD-01
	Channing Park CDD - General



	Rizzetta INV0000103610 10-25 $2,939.16
	Rizzetta INV0000103721 FY25-26 $5,460.00

	2025-11 Channing Park CDD Board Package
	1
	2
	Florida Dept of Commerce 93063 FY25-26 $175.00
	Kilinski 13520
	Rizzetta INV0000104522 11-25 $2,939.16

	Tab 4 - 250826 - FINAL - External Memo on ROP Updates (002)
	Tab 5 - Channing Park - October 2025 - 3rd Quarter - Website Audit
	 
	 
	 
	Compliance Audit Overview 
	Compliance Criteria 
	 
	ADA Website Accessibility 
	Florida Statute Compliance 

	Audit Process 
	ADA Website Accessibility 
	Florida F.S. 189.069 Requirements 
	Accessibility overview 
	 
	 
	ADA Compliance Categories 
	Web Accessibility Glossary 


	Tab 6 - 2025-10-01 - Channing Park CDD - First Addendum - Contract for District Management Services - Rizzetta signed
	FIRST ADDENDUM TO THE CONTRACT FOR
	RECITALS
	ACCEPTED BY:
	Rizzetta & Company, Inc.
	BY:
	DATE:

	Channing Park Community Development District
	BY:
	DATE:

	Exhibit B Schedule of Fees

	LITIGATION SUPPORT SERVICES:
	JOB TITLE: HOURLY RATE:

	Tab 7 - 2026-01 - Channing Park CDD - Setting Public Hearing on Amended Rules of Procedure - Channing Park CDD
	251231 - Redline Revisions of Rules of Procedure - 2025 Legislative Updates - Channing Park CDD
	Tab 8 - 2026-02- Channing Park CDD- Redesginating an Assistant Secretary
	Audit Proposal 04 - McIntosh CPA - Channing Park Proposal for Annual Audit Services.pdf
	Transmittal Letter
	Statement of Understanding and Scope of Work
	INDEPENDENCE
	FIRM QUALIFICATIONS
	REFERENCES

	Schedule of Fees
	Appendix




